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Organized

Currently, the Group’s IT development

has been initially established and full
computerization is realized in our principal
businesses. Our operating systems

include the OA system, financial system,
procurement portal, customer service
payment system, enterprise operation
reporting system and budgeting system.
The above IT management platform allows
comprehensive management covering all the
related business modules and represents

a sound IT management platform for the
Group. In addition, as of the first half of the
financial year of 2010, the human resources
administration system has activated the
computerization of the remuneration and
performance evaluation system, and

the networking operation has further

been improved whereas the engineering
management system has completed the
research on demand, simulated training

and trial run of pilot companies. The Group
has also completed the preparation of the
development proposal for the production
and operational IT system and commenced
trial run on project companies. The Group is
investing in the establishment of a nationwide
customer service call center system to form
a unified connection and centrally managed
customer service platform within China so
as to provide professional and efficient piped
gas services and LPG services to 60 million
households in 200 cities nationwide. The IT
management system of the Group has far
reaching strategic importance on pushing
ahead the full scale computerization and
enhancing the overall management standard.
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About China Gas

China Gas Holdings Limited ( "China Gas" , stock code: 384) is a natural gas services operator,
principally engaged in the investment, construction and management of city gas pipeline
infrastructure, distribution of natural gas and LPG to residential, industrial and commercial users,
construction and operation of oil stations and gas stations, and development and application of ail,
natural gas and LPG related technologies.



Financial
Highlights

Financial Performance 2010 2009 Change
for the year ended 31 March HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 10,211,959 6,323,823 61.5%
Gross profit 2,116,292 1,429,349 48.1%
Profit after taxation 1,015,501 133,959 658.1%
Profit attributable to shareholders 875,636 103,679 744.6%
Basic EPS (in HK cents) 26.19 3.11 742.1%
Total assets 22,997,594 18,086,766 27.2%
Cash and bank balance 4,361,419 2,896,657 50.6%
Shareholders’ equity 4,123,022 3,223,270 27.9%
Final dividend per share (in HK cents) 1.7 1.4 21.4%
EBIT 1,338,507 856,216 56.3%
EBITDA 1,833,194 1,202,815 52.4%

Key Financial Indicators

for the year ended 31 March 2010 2009
Average finance costs 4.3% 4.9%
Current ratio (times) 1.10 1.39
Gross profit margin (%) 20.7% 22.6%
Net gearing ratio 1.32 1.37
Net profit margin (%) 9.9% 2.1%
Payout ratio (%) 6.5% 45.0%
Return on average equity 23.8% 3.3%
Turnover breakdown Debt Maturity Profile
14.0% 509 23.0% 50%

38.0%
® Connection fee Less than one year
® Sale of Piped gas From first year to second year
® Sale of LPG From second year to fifth year
® Sales of Others More than five years
45.0%

Measurements:

* Average finance costs Interest expenses/Average borrowing for the year

e Current ratio Current assets/Current liabilities

e Gross profit margin Gross profit/Turnover

* Net gearing ratio Net borrowing/Shareholders' funds

* Net profit margin Net profit for the year/Turnover

e Payout ratio Dividend per share/Earnings per share

e Return on average equity Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company/Average equity attributable to

equity holders of the Company
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Operational

Highlights

Operational Performance

for the year ended 31 March 2010 2009 Change
million m3 million m®
Gas sales volume
Natural gas 3,380.0 2,130.3 58.7%
Coal gas & LPG 2124 195.6 8.6%
Sales of piped natural gas
Residential 3921 276.7 41.7%
Industrial 2,403.2 1,463.3 64.2%
Commerical 338.0 221.9 52.3%
CNG stations 246.7 168.4 46.5%
New Connections
for the year ended 31 March 2010 2009 Change
Residential 657,907 418,695 57.1%
Industrial 323 186 73.7%
Commerical 3,825 2,616 46.2%
CNG stations 31 15 106.7%
Customers (No. of users)
for the year ended 31 March 2010 2009 Change
Residential 4,837,436 3,745,370 29.2%
Industrial 810 420 92.9%
Commerical 33,476 28,511 17.4%
CNG stations 91 60 51.7%
Urban population covered 55,918,375 50,550,000 10.6%
Penetration rate (%) 30.30% 24.70% 30.8%
Average connection fees (RMB) 2,368 2,437 —2.8%
Average tariffs (ex-tax)
for the year ended 31 March 2010 2009 Change
RMB/m?3 RMB/m?
Residential 1.88 1.85 1.6%
Industrial 2.09 1.97 6.1%
Commerical 2.13 2.06 3.4%
CNG stations 217 2.08 4.3%
Non Financial Performance
Achievements
e The Asset The Asset China's Most Promising Companies 2009
* Finance Asia Continued to be recognised for excellence in corporate management, investor relations
and Corporate governance
* sci99 Best Gas Enterprise Award and Grand Achievement Award
e Capital Magazine Outstanding Natural Gas Provider
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Operational
Statistics

Province Operational Location Total Urban | Connectable |Accumulated [Accumulated [Accumulated
Population Population Domestic Connected Connected Connected
Households Domestic Industrial | Commerical Length for
Households Customers Customers el
City Gas Anhui Wuhu 2,304,000 1,050,000 313,000 227,287 81 471 1,749 1,052
Huainan 2,065,000 1,500,000 469,000 121,774 4 159 934 547
Shouxian 1,300,000 150,000 47,000 4,784 = 3 37 14
Suzhou 5,707,000 425,000 133,000 75,027 2 17 581 257
Wuhuxian 394,000 80,000 25,000 9,241 22 59 93 20
Nanlingxian 540,000 125,000 39,000 10,011 103 30
Huoshanxian 365,000 80,000 32,000 2,030 - 4 23 4
Fengtaixian 580,000 90,000 28,000 6,072 - 8 56 21
Wuweixian 1,400,000 180,000 56,000 4,062 = = 68 12
Xiuningxian 270,000 21,000 7,000
Hubei Yichang 3,990,000 1,209,000 378,000 126,076 18 471 1,114 554
Xiaogan 883,000 230,000 72,000 56,918 15 110 460 218
Hanchuan 1,061,000 173,000 54,000 25,025 7 99 243 125
Yingcheng 669,000 175,000 55,000 28,156 4 111 217 105
Yunmeng 579,000 117,000 37,000 17,184 5 112 162 91
Suizhou 2,580,000 782,000 244,000 44,000 13 106 452 218
Tianmen 1,621,000 200,000 63,000 12,555 1 54 121 46
Dangyang 560,000 140,000 44,000 2,487 4 8 42 7
Hunan Yiyang Yuanjian 4,600,000 860,000 269,000 62,928 5] 88 650 408
Yuxian 760,000 246,000 76,875
Zhangjiajie 1,630,000 422,000 120,000
Jiangsu Pizhou 1,580,000 230,000 72,000 25,703 - 26 203 77
Yangzhong 273,000 88,000 28,000 26,698 12 224 392 80
Jiang Bei District, Nanjing 1,200,000 1,200,000 375,000 118,134 11 30 789 354
Pu Kou District, Nanjing 500,000 340,000 106,250 19,387 58
Jiawang District, Xuzhou 500,000 180,000 56,000 5,430 - 8 51 16
Xinyi, Xuzhou 990,000 160,000 50,000 11,667 1 15 117 35
Yangzhou City 4,570,000 1,220,000 381,000 139,065 5 321 1,191 436
Zhejiang Xiaoshan District, 1,157,000 1,157,000 362,000 8,469 42 8 237 25
Hangzhou
Shaoxingxian 710,000 500,000 156,000 = = = =
Taizhou 600,000 600,000 160,000 22,470 4 114 242 151
Jinhua 4,592,000 923,000 288,000 40,149 54 340 176
Hebei Cangzhou 6,670,000 470,000 147,000 1,525 11 3 27 5]
Nanpixian 760,000 52,000 16,000 3,456 3 3 66 10
Qinghexian 340,000 72,000 23,000 608 - 2 6 2
Wangdu city 230,000 32,000 10,000 3,585 10 20 54 11
Tangshan Nampo 170,000 72,000 23,000 14,392 3 25 119 43
Letingxian,
Xinle,
Gaocheng,
Pingshanxian, 4,320,000 788,000 246,000 76,204 90 130 655 231
Fengnan District of
Tangshan,
Neigiuxian
Bohai New Zone 750,000 750,000 234,000 24
Guangxi Yulin 5,990,000 677,000 188,000 22,727 1 45 194 68
iﬁ;’::gmous Qinzhou 3,260,000 400,000 125,000 16,371 - 52 146 49
Region Liuzhou 3,580,000 1,300,000 406,000 107,962 1 388 1,073 324
Fangchenggang 718,000 200,000 63,000 1,737 1 1 34 &
Nanning ASEAN 200,000 200,000 62,500
Development Zone
Laibin 2,450,000 250,000 78,125
Baise 3,730,000 330,000 103,125
Bobai 1,820,000 210,000 70,000
Nanning 6,850,000 2,600,000 740,000 232,761 1 680 1,468 698
Shaanxi Baoji 3,720,000 1,020,000 319,000 219,028 46 526 1,385 658
Qishanxian 458,000 150,000 47,000
Yulin 3,370,000 500,000 156,000
Linyouxian 87,000 25,000 8,333

Province

Connectable | Accumulated [Accumulated |Accumulated
Domestic Connected Connected Connected
Households Domestic Industrial | Commerical
Households Customers Customers

Operational Location Total Urban

Populati Populati
opulation opulation Length for

branch

Guangdong Maoming 6,700,000 1,200,000 375,000 5,339 4
Conghua 630,000 300,000 94,000 10,766 1 6 109 32
Meizhou 1,237,000 886,000 250,000 2,746 1 5 53 8
Yunfu 2,600,000 260,000 100,000 1,813 1 23 5
Shanwei 3,150,000 350,000 109,000 321 1 11 1
Xinxing 450,000 80,000 30,000
Fengshun 650,000 208,000 70,000
Pingyuan 250,000 50,000 15,000
Liaoning Fushun 2,260,000 1,415,000 442,000 225,066 1 6,115 597 326
Dailian 6,020,000 3,123,000 976,000 = = = =
Jinzhou Economic 80,000 80,000 25,000 4,897 = 5 43 15
Hi-Tech
Development Zone
Shenyang Suijiatun 430,000 430,000 112,000 26,431 13 263 79
Dailian Jinzhou 830,000 450,000 140,625 7,604 13 73 23
Development Zone
Liaoyang 1,824,000 716,000 223,750 21,806 35 252 805 345
Gaizhou 730,000 287,000 103,000 706 1 17 2
Zhuanghe City 910,000 284,375 88,867 1 2 19 2
Linghai City 620,000 210,000 65,625
Pulandian 830,000 300,000 93,750
Chongqing Yubei 920,000 877,000 274,000 81,429 24 5,726 806 569
Shandong Dezhou 5,616,000 1,598,000 475,000 114,896 15 1,007 666 372
Qingdao 7,560,000 2,790,000 940,000 546,732 1 2,033 3,095 1,590
Inner Mongolia Hohhot 2,580,000 1,700,000 531,000 328,649 74 4,431 1,684 827
Q:g?gsm“s Wuzhen Banner 95,000 30,000 9,000 9,307 - 280 27
Baotou 2,100,000 1,300,000 406,000 144,712 29 270 1,221 453
Helingeer County 187,000 90,000 30,000
Tuoketuo County 200,000 120,000 40,000
Tuzuo Banner 350,000 95,000 31,667
Wuchuan County 180,000 60,000 20,000
Otog Banner 95,000 51,000 15,938
Heilongjiang Harbin 10,000,000 5,000,000 1,562,000 1,047,330 65 7,510 5,362 3,142
Jiamusi 2,480,000 820,000 256,250 47,125 1 84 422 141
Shuangcheng 900,000 250,000 78,125
Mudanjiang 2,750,000 800,000 200,000 17,307 1 87 214 52
Jiagedagqi 550,000 160,000 50,000
Ningxia Hui Zhongwei 1,060,000 560,000 175,000 5,903 1 11 124 18
Autonomous
Region
Fujian 29 cities/regions 4,000,000 4,000,000 1,200,000 181,936 41 182 16,893 16,232

Jiangxi Nanchang Wanli 84,000

37,000 10,000

171,911,000 55,918,375 17,278,805 4,785,966

Leplel BlsiEles] - Inner Mongolia Otog Banner 1 230
Pipeline Autonomous
Region Wushen Banner 1 119
Tianjin Tianjin 2 21
Hubei Xiaogan 1 202
Dangyang 1 54
Huanggang-Daye
Hebei Huanghua 2 51

Chongqing Chongqing

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Province Operational Volume Average LPG Class Il Distribution
Location (Cities) Sold Tariff Terminals Centres
(tonnes) | (RMB/tonne)
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Operational
Location

1  Anhui

Wuhu
Huainan
Shouxian
Suzhou
Wuhuxian
Nanlingxian
Huoshanxian
Fengtaixian
Wuweixian
Xiuningxian

2 Hubei

Yichang
Xiaogan
Hanchuan
Yingcheng
Yunmeng
Suizhou
Tianmen
Dangyang
Dangyang
Long Distance Pipeline
Xiaogan
Long Distance Pipeline
Huanggang-Daye
Long Distance Pipeline

3 Hunan
Yiyang
Yuanjian
Youxian
Zhangjiajie

4 Jiangsu

Pukou

Pizhou

Yangzhong

Jiang Bei District, Nanjing
Jiawang District, Xuzhou
Xinyi, Xuzhou

Yangzhou City

5 Zhejiang
Xiaoshan district, Hangzhou
Shaoxingxian
Taizhou
Jinhua

6 Hebei

Cangzhou
Nanpixian
Qinghexian
Wangdu city
Tangshan Nampo
Letingxian
Xinle
Gaocheng
Pingshanxian
Fengnan District of Tangshan
Neigiuxian
Bohai New Zone
Huanghua
Long Distance Pipeline

7 Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region

Nanning

Bobai

Yulin

Qinzhou

Liuzhou

Fangchenggang

Nanning ASEAN Development
Zone

Laibin

Baise

8 Shaanxi

Baoji
Qishanxian
Yulin

Linyouxian

9 Guangdong

Maoming
Conghua
Meizhou
Yunfu
Shanwei
Fengxunxian
Pingyuanxian
Xinxingxian

10 Liaoning

Fushun

Dailian

Jinzhou Economic Hi-Tech
Development Zone

Shenyang Sujiatun

Dailian Jinzhou
Development Zone

Liaoyang

Gaizhou

Zhuanghe City

Linghai City

Pulandian

11 Chongqing

Yubei

Chongaing Long Distance Pipeline
12 Shandong

Dezhou

Qingdao
13 Inner Mongolia

Hohhot

Wuzhen Banner

Baotou

Helingeer County

Tuoketuo County

Tuzuo Banner

Wuchuan County

Mudanjiang

Jiagedaqi

Wuzhen Banner Long Distance Pipeline
Otog Banner Long Distance Pipeline

14 Heilongjiang
Harbin
Jiamusi
Shuangcheng
Otog Banner
15 Ningxia Hui
Autonomous Region
Zhongwei
16 Fujian
29 cities/regions
17 Tianjin
Tianjin Long Distance Pipeline
18 Beijing
Yangingxian
Zhonggnuancun Science Park
19 Jiangxi
Nanchang Wanli

Tashkent

Xinjiang

- Long Distance Pipeline Project

West Siberia

Major National Natural Gas Pipelines
==== \Nest-East Gas Pipeline
==== Shaanxi-Beijing Pipeline

==== Zhongwu Line

13. Inner Mongolia
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After eight years of development, we
continue to step up our efforts in the
expansion and restructuring of city gas
projects amid fierce competition in the PRC
gas industry, and keep on expanding the
market share of piped gas in China. We now
have a coverage of 60 million users and over
4.70 million connected customers of piped
gas in the cities and these have established
an integrated upstream, midstream to
downstream strategic network of city gas
projects, making us the most important

cross-national professional city gas operator
and a key platform for energy cooperation
in Asia. Looking into the coming years, the
Group will endeavor to engage in integrated
development and utilization of natural gas as
a green energy and will be actively involved
in the construction and development of city
gas pipe network in China with a view to
developing itself into the most marketable
and influential gas corporation with
customers’ trust and social respect.

Maturity
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FY 2010 was another year of significant
growth of China Gas both operationally and
financially.

3.4 Billion .

GAS VOLUME REACHED

1 23 cities

EXCLUSIVE CONCESSIONS AT

4,800,000 ues
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We see our CNG automobile refilling station
business as the new and key growth driver
of the Group in the future and therefore
have commenced specific planning and
deployment for the development of CNG
automobile refilling stations. In particular,
we focus on market planning to identify
our competitive strengths in our model of
refilling station and site selection. We have
established an all-round organizational
structure with defined objectives and
responsibilities. Coupled with effective
measures and our first-mover advantage

in public vehicle refilling, we are able to
firmly capture the public vehicle market
and capitalize on the public vehicle parking
space to set up refilling stations. This has
gained much support from the government.

Potential

In recent years, the Group has set up

and operated 91 CNG automobile refilling
stations in over 32 cities nationwide,

and formulated its own set of technical
specifications and management standards
for CNG automobile refilling stations in
accordance with the national standards.



800 Million .:

We see our CNG automobile refilling station
business as the new and key growth driver

of the Group in the future and therefore have
commenced specific planning and deployment
for development. In just four years, we have
set up and operated 91 CNG automobile
refilling stations nationwide, and formulated
our own set of technical specifications

and management standards for our CNG
automobile refilling stations in accordance with
the national’s standards.

We have formulated the development plan for
our CNG automobile refilling station business
for the three years ahead. In the coming three
years, we will construct at least 120 CNG
automobile refilling stations. Upon completion,
our daily sales volume of CNG will exceed
2.20 million cubic meters and our annual sales
volume of CNG will reach 800 million cubic
meters.
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Since our entry to the PRC LPG market in
2008, the Group’s LPG business has been
growing rapidly. Presently, it has become the
largest LPG distributor in China and owns

the largest LPG distribution network in China.

Such network owns 11 LPG designated
terminals, four large-scale petrochemical
products storage and logistics bases

and three production units of alternative
energy with an annual production capacity
of 130,000 tonnes dimethyl ether in five
provinces along southeastern coast of China,
and the largest LPG storage tank facilities in
Asia. It has 37 subsidiaries as distributors in
five provinces. Such network has formed a
comprehensive system for the sales, logistics

and distribution of petrochemical products
in the southeastern coast of China. At the
same time, the Group also acquired the
entire equity interests in Shanghai Huachen
Shipping Company (/&% 2/ A 7)), the
second largest coastal LPG transportation
company in China to establish a firm
foundation for its LPG shipping business.
Currently, it has established a strategic
position that covers five provinces along
the southeastern coast of China, reaching
Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta and the
West Coast Economic Zone.

Prospect



LPG Market

Currently, we are the largest and the only
vertically integrated LPG provider in China,
linking the procurement and import in the
upstream, storage and distribution in the
midstream and the retail and sales system

in the downstream. We will continue to
strengthen our uniqueness of vertically
integrated LPG industry chain. In our upstream
resource integration, we have entered into
direct procurement contracts with a number of
refineries to reduce the cost of procurement. In
our downstream market, we will accelerate the
pace of asset acquisitions in LPG market and
invest more to build up our class 3 stations
network with brand reputation and economies
of scale.




Safety
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In adherence to sustaining the economic
development of the PRC cities, the Group
endeavors to enhance the standard of
living of the general public. Our mission

is to allow the general public to enjoy the
safety, convenience and effective working
and living environment of natural gas. Our
management principle of “Safety First and
Safety Priority” is deeply rooted in people’s
heart. In the financial year of 2010, the
overall safety of the Group’s operation
remained stable. In order to improve and
enhance the management standard of the
Group’s safety operation and to establish a
sound corporate image, the Group will, in
the coming year, continue to push ahead
the refined management and procedural
control of safety; improve the rules of

&

production and operation, rules of safety
management, rules of customer safety
management and operational records;
formulate the safety and operational skill
training programs for frontline staff, including
CNG equipment maintenance, gas pipe
facilities maintenance, operational rules,
common knowledge and safety rules to
effectively enhance the operational skills and
safety operational standard of frontline staff
through comprehensive training. Through

a diversified range of publicity, the Group
delivers the message of gas safety to the
general public with a view to minimizing and
eliminating customers’ accidents as well as
strengthening the social responsibility image
of the Group.



Environmental Protection
and Sustainable Development

As a cross-national large-scale gas corporation providing clean energy in China, the Group endeavors
to create a better living environment for the community at present and in the future in adherence to the
principles of green environment and sustainable development. In planning our business development,
we strive to balance the needs of everyone in terms of the economy, community and the environment.
In commencing our projects and providing services, we undertake our environmental and social
responsibilities as an enterprise through our design, project quality, operating efficiency, quality of
service and emission reduction efficiency; and realize our undertaking to achieve social and self
sustainable development by constantly improving our operating efficiency, upgrading our quality of
service and enhancing our standard of operational safety. We make use of various media and home
visits to promote the use of clean energy and facilitate the concept of environmental protection and
emission reduction. We actively undertake our corporate social responsibilities, business ethics, health,
safety and environmental commitments and implement a comprehensive set of management rules to
create a better community and environment for our customers, shareholders, related parties and the
general public.



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Turnover was HK$10,211,959,000, an increase of
approximately 61.5% over the same period last year.

Accumulated connected domestic households,
accumulated connected industrial users and accumulated
connected commercial users were 4,837,436 users,

810 users and 33,476 users respectively, an increase of
approximately 29.2%, 92.9% and 17.4% over the same
period last year.

Natural gas sales volume amounted to 3,380,025,000 m3,
an increase of approximately 58.7% over the same period
last year.

LPG sales volume amounted to 944,000 tonnes.

Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2010, turnover of the Group was HK$10,211,959,000

as compared to HK$6,323,823,000 in 2009, representing a substantial growth of 61.5%. Profit
attributable to shareholders amounted to HK$1,015,501,000; whilst earnings per share was HK26.19
cents, representing a substantial growth of 658.1% and 742.1% compared with the last reporting
period respectively.

Final Dividend and Closure of Registrar of Members

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.7 cents (2009: HK1.4 cents) per
share for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The registrar of members of the Company will be closed from 13 August 2010 to 19 August 2010,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor,
Hopwell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 pm on 12
August 2010. The dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 19 August 2010, is expected to be paid to qualified persons on or before
30 September 2010.

12 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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New Projects Development

For new projects development, the Group had secured 50 new city gas projects in 10 provinces/
autonomous regions/directly-administered cities over the past year.

The Group invested five in Liaoning Province; two in Heilongjiang Province; one in Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region; one in Jiangsu Province, two in Hunan Province, one in Jiangxi Province; five in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region; one in Anhui Province and three were in Guangdong Province.

The Group completed 49% equity interest in Fujian Anran Gas Investment Company, Ltd. during the
financial year of 2010 and hence the operation and management over its 29 city piped gas projects.
This transaction has significantly expanded our natural gas user base and sales volume, and also
underpinned our position in Fujilan Province’s gas market.

Financing

As the impacts of the global financial crisis dissipate, commercial credit activities have again become
active. The Group continued to receive strong funding support from China Development Bank, four
major commercial banks and a number of international banks in the past financial year, providing
syndicated loans of various purposes for the Group’s business development, and this demonstrates
the Group’s credibility in the banking community, and the recognition of the Group’s business
prospects. Domestically, China Development Bank, the state’s policy bank continues to provide
strong RMB funding support for the Group.

Our Board

Over the past year, the Board operated smoothly and all the Board members actively participated
in board meetings and discussed and exchanged views from time to time on matters relating to
the business development direction and financing of the Group as well as industry trend and global
economy. | strongly believe that such composition of our Board will, for sure, drive the business
momentum of the Group.

In April 2010, Mr. William Rackets, representing Oman Oil Company, S.A.O.C. and Mr. Kim Joong
Ho, representing SK E&S, resigned from their positions as non-executive directors of the Company.
On behalf of all the members of the Board, | would like to extend our gratitude for the services
provided and contribution made by Mr. Rackets and Mr. Kim during their directorships with the
Company. In their stead, Oman Oil Company, S.A.O.C. nominated its deputy CEO Mr. Mulham Al
Jarf as non-executive director whilst SK E&S also nominated its representative director Mr. Moon
Duk Kyu as non-executive director. |, on behalf of the board, hereby welcome both of them to join
the Company in strong belief that their extensive industry experience will avail the Group of much
more valuable ideas.

| will continue to ensure the Board to maintain high standards of governance and leverage on its
expertise and experience to lead the Group to become a highly influential gas enterprise in China.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Prospects

After years of development, the Group has already established a nationwide network of project
companies. Over the past financial year, the Group actively developed gas business in the
surrounding cities and counties through the network of such project companies to achieve mega-
regional operation and management. As to CNG vehicle gas business, the Group strengthened its
cooperation at various levels with a Canadian-based professional CNG compressors manufacturer
over the past year, resulting in a comprehensive enhancement in the technology and equipment for
vehicle refilling stations. The Group has also established a vehicle gas development department to
lay a foundation for its vehicle gas business. Accordingly, leverage on our existing gas network and
vehicle gas sales, the Group is gaining competitiveness in the overall gas supply market in China.
As to liquefied petroleum gas distribution business, its revenue has generated positive economic
efficiency to the Group over the past financial year.

| am optimistic about the core business of the Group. Looking into the next financial year, as to city
gas distribution area, the Group will target at projects with reasonable investment returns; continue
to seek various domestic city gas project investment opportunities; expand the gas business in the
surrounding regions of our existing project companies; enhance customer’s services; commence
value-added business for existing users; and increase the sales volume of CNG vehicle gas. As to
liquefied petroleum gas business, the Group will continue to operate the LPG wholesaling, retail
and logistics related businesses with safety being the highest priority. It is expected that the LPG
business will generate ongoing revenue and profit growth to the Group.

The Group will continue to establish and maintain long-term working relationships with domestic
and overseas banks so as to cope with the future business development plan of the Group. The
Group will also exercise full-scale supervision on the operation and financial management of each
project company, improve the internal assessment system, strengthen the joint venture reform of
state-owned enterprises, and strive for harmonious development between our staff, the enterprise,
community and the environment. Moreover, the Group will endeavor to provide higher quality social
public services and to become a well-managed gas corporation earning trust from the customers
and respect from the community and creating value for its shareholders.

Lastly, | would like to express my thanks to the fellow board members for their contribution and
support; and to all our staff and management team for their endeavors and hard work to enhance
the operating conditions of the Group on an ongoing basis. On behalf of the Board, | would also
like to extend my gratitude to our shareholders for their full support of our value-added strategies,
as well as to the banking community and investors for their confidence, encouragement and
recognition.

Li Xiao Yun
Chairman

7 July 2010
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is a gas operator and service provider primarily
engaged in the investment, construction and operation

of city gas pipeline infrastructure facilities, gas terminals,
storage and transportation facilities, gas logistics systems,
transmission of natural gas and LPG to residential,
industrial and commercial users, construction and
operation of gasoline and CNG refilling stations as well as
the development and application of technologies relating to
petroleum, natural gas and LPG in China.

Business Review

For the year ended 31 March 2010, turnover of the Group amounted to HK$10,211,959,000 (year
ended 31 March 2009: HK$6,323,823,000), increased by 61.5% over the same period last year.
Gross profit amounted to HK$2,116,292,000 (year ended 31 March 2009: HK$1,429,349,000),
increased by 48.1%. Overall gross profit margin was 20.7% (2009: 22.6%). Profit for the year was
HK$1,015,501,000 (2009: HK$133,959,000), increased by 658.1%. Overall net profit margin was
9.9% (2009: 2.1%). Earnings per share amounted to HK26.19 cents (year ended 31 March 2009:
earnings per share amounted to HK3.11 cents).

New Projects Expansion

As of 30 June 2010, the Group had secured 123 city piped gas projects (with exclusive concession
rights) in 19 provinces, autonomous regions and directly-administered cities, eight long distance
natural gas pipeline projects, 91 CNG vehicle refilling stations, one natural gas development project,
as well as 37 LPG distribution projects.

Set out below is the additional 50 city piped gas projects secured by the Group from 1 April 2009 to
30 June 2010:

Province/Autonomous
Region/Directly-Administered City City/District
Fujian Province 29 cities and regions
Liaoning Province Liaoyang City, Gaizhou City, Zhuanghe City,
Linghai City, Pulandian City
Heilongjiang Province Mudanijiang city, Jiagedaqi
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region Otog Banner
Jiangsu Province Pukou district of Nanjing
Hunan Province Youxian, Zhangjiajie
Jiangxi Province Wanli of Nanchang City
Guangxi Zhuang Nanning City,
Autonomous Region Dongmeng Economic Development
Area in Nanning City,
Laibin City,
Baise City, Bobai City
Anhui Province Xiuningxian
Guangdong Province Xinxingxian, Fengshunxian, Pingyuanxian
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The above new projects cover a connectable city population of approximately 11,852,375
(approximately 3,704,000 households). The connectable city population covered by the Group’s gas
projects has increased to approximately 55,918,375 (approximately 17,278,805 households) as of
June 2010, representing an increase of 10.6% as compared to that in 2009.

The Group completed the acquisition of 49% equity interests in Fujian Anran Gas Investment
Company Ltd. (“Anran”) during the period under review. This acquisition has significantly expanded
the Group’s natural gas user base and sales volume, while also provided an exposure to the Fujian
market, one of the largest LPG consumers. The successful acquisition of Anran represents a strong
backing for its subsidiary, Zhejiang Zhongyou Hua Dian Group to integrate the downstream LPG
distribution market in Fujian and also establishes a solid foundation for the Group to further expand
the Fujian gas market as a part of the Group’s strategic plan. Currently, natural gas resources in
Fujian Province come from the Fujian LNG terminal, which is owned by China National Offshore

Oil Corporation (“CNOOC”). Upon the acquisition of Anran, the Group will be able to enhance the
business cooperation with CNOOC which is providing strong backing for natural gas supply to

its project companies in Fujian Province, and to capitalize on its well-established expertise and
experience in the construction of CNG refilling stations and its capital strength to expand the Group’s
CNG refilling projects in Fujian Province.

Moreover, to align with the development of the Group’s LPG business, during the financial year, the
Group underwent an internal restructuring where Shanghai Zhongyou Energy became the holding
company with its headquarters located in Shanghai. We believe that such internal restructuring can
enhance the corporate image of Zhejiang Zhongyou Hua Dian Group and facilitate its debt financing
and equity financing in the future.

Gas Business Review

The Group’s gas business is managed under 2 segments, namely natural gas and LPG, the
customer bases and market strategies of which are different from each other. The performance of
each segment for the year ended 31 March 2010 is discussed as follows.

Natural Gas Business

As a gas supplier and service provider specializing in natural gas, the Group has already established
a unique and well-fit operation management system in domestic gas industry after seven years of
development with a view to improving the management efficiency and operating results.

Construction of Piped Gas Networks

Construction of city gas pipeline networks is one of the Group’s principal businesses. Through the
construction of city main pipeline networks and branch pipeline networks, the Group connects
natural gas to residential, industrial and commercial users, and charges them for such connection
and gas usage.

During the financial year, the Group had completed 10 processing stations, high-pressure gas
pipelines of 184 km, city medium and low-pressure gas pipeline of approximately 1,397 km and
branch and customer pipeline network of 3,045 km.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group accomplished piped gas supply in 90 cities, and had 87
processing stations, high-pressure gas pipelines of approximately 1,429 km, medium to low-pressure
gas pipelines of approximately 15,865 km and branch and customer pipeline network of 31,513 km
constructed. Designed gas supply capacity of the processing stations reached 19,264,000 m® per
day.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Piped Gas Users
Natural gas users of the Group mainly include residential users, industrial and commercial users and
CNG vehicle refilling stations.

Residential Customers

During the financial year, the Group completed natural gas connections for 657,907 domestic
households, an increase of approximately 57.1% over the same period last year. The average piped
gas connection fee for residential users was RMB2,368.

During the financial year, the Group also acquired 434,159 residential users who were primarily
from Nanning, Pukou, Liaoyang, Mudanjiang and Fujian Anran projects. As at 31 March 2010, the
accumulated connected residential users of the Group grew by approximately 29.2% over the same
period last year to 4,837,436, representing 30.3% of the total connectable domestic households.

Industrial and Commercial Customers

Compared to residential users, industrial and commercial users have higher demand for gas and
are the focus of the Group’s business direction. During the financial year, the Group completed
connections for 323 industrial customers and 3,825 commercial customers and acquired 67
industrial customers and 1,140 commercial customers. Industrial users are primarily engaged in
the petrochemical, porcelain making, building material productions, metallurgy and glass making
industries.

As at 31 March 2010, the accumulated acquired and connected industrial customers and
commercial customers of the Group were 810 and 33,476, representing an increase of
approximately 92.9% and 17.4% respectively as compared with that in the same period last year.
During the financial year, connection fee for industrial users was calculated on the basis of the
contracted daily gas volume at the average rate of RMB40 per m® and the average connection fee
paid by commercial customers was RMB36,045 per customer.

During the financial year, the Group’s gas connection income grew by approximately 29.6% over the
same period last year to HK$1,461,573,000, representing approximately 14.3% of the Group’s total
revenue for the year.

CNG refilling stations for vehicles

During the financial year, to cope with the fast growing vehicle refilling market, the Group has
specially established a vehicle gas development department to further improve the relevant
management systems and work procedures, and to set up a comprehensive supervision and
assessment mechanism for project construction and market development. At the same time, it

has also strengthened the cooperation with IMW, a Canadian-based professional refilling station
equipment manufacturer, resulting in a comprehensive enhancement in the overall design, provision
of equipment, technology training and repairs & maintenance for the vehicle refilling business of the
Group. This has laid a solid foundation for the Group to further expand the vehicle refilling market.
The Group owned 91 CNG refilling stations for vehicles, with a daily capacity in excess of 1,350,000
m?. Sales volume of CNG for vehicles took up 7.3% of the Group’s total sales volume of natural gas
during the financial year, representing an increase of approximately 47.9% as compared to the same
period last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Sale of Natural Gas
The operating income of natural gas includes connection fee and sales of gas. Connection fee is a
one-off income; whereas the Group’s ultimate profit comes from the sales income of gas.

During the year, the Group sold a total of 3,380,025,000 m® of natural gas, an increase of 58.7%

as compared to the same period last year, of which 392,083,000 m® was sold to residential users,
2,403,198,000 m?® to industrial users and 338,002,000 m® to commercial users and 246,742,000 m?
to CNG vehicle drivers.

During the financial year, gas sold to industrial users accounted for approximately 71.1% of the total
natural gas volume sold, commercial users approximately 10.0%, residential users approximately
11.6% and CNG vehicle drivers approximately 7.3%. With a large proportion of industrial users in
its customer mix, the Group enjoys huge potential in its future gas sales. In addition, as the local
government implements more relaxed tariff control for industrial users, it is much easier for the
Group to transfer the risk of upstream natural gas price fluctuation to them.

During the financial year, the Group’s natural gas sales income grew by approximately 43.1% over
the same period last year to HK$3,831,627,000, representing approximately 37.5% of the Group’s
total revenue for the year.

As at 31 March 2010, the daily natural gas supply capacity of the Group reached

10,410,000 m?, increased by approximately 51.9% over the same period last year, of which the
actual domestic usage was approximately 1,262,857 m®/day, actual industrial usage approximately
7,245,360 mé/day, actual commercial usage approximately 1,105,567 m®/day, and actual CNG
vehicles usage approximately 802,750 m®/day. As of 30 June 2010, the total natural gas supply of
the Group had exceeded 11,013,000 m® per day.

In the past financial year, the average selling price (pre tax) was RMB1.88 per m® for residential
users, RMB2.09 per m® for industrial users, RMB2.13 per m® for commercial users, and RMB2.17
per m® for CNG vehicle drivers.

The core business of the Group is piped natural gas supply. However, some of the projects where
piped natural gas is not accessible are still selling piped coal gas as a transitional gas. During the
period, sales income of piped coal gas from Fushun, Liuzhou, Yangzhou, Qingdao and Harbin was
recorded. A total of 212,354,000 m?® piped coal gas was sold during the financial year, of which
132,944,000 m® was sold to residential customers, 54,786,000 m® to industrial customers and
24,624,000 m® to commercial customers.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Liquefied Petroleum Gas Business

As a result of the PRC government’s recent upward adjustment of a number of energy products,
the price difference between LPG and other energy products including refined oil, natural gas and
coal is narrowing, which further drives the demand for LPG consumption. Meanwhile, as the pace
of urbanization in the PRC accelerates, urban and rural places and some small and medium cities
and towns that are not covered with piped gas will definitely turn to LPG as their major fuel for
domestic use. In addition, the rising living standard in rural areas due to the “new policy on rural
villages” implemented by the PRC government has also further increased the ability of rural areas
to afford clean and convenient energy such as LPG. 70% of LPG consumption in China are for
domestic use; while the industrial users and drivers only account for a small proportion, not to
mention its application on value-added areas as a chemical feedstock. Compared to the percentage
of consumption in developed countries, the growth potentials for LPG market in China is enormous
in the future.

For LPG market supply, as the new refineries and existing refineries in the PRC expand their
production capacity, the supply of liquefied petroleum gas by domestic manufacturers will
continue to increase and the global LPG supply will remain sufficient. On the other hand, RMB
appreciation will further stimulate demand due to the corresponding reduction in the LPG import
costs. Accordingly, we believe that LPG as a clean, efficient and convenient energy product will
complement with natural gas and the LPG market demand in China will follow a long-term steady
growth trend in the future.

LPG Business Review

During the past financial year, the Group actively tackled with the volatile movements of the
international and domestic market prices and fierce domestic competition and recorded a set of
improving results compared with that of last financial year. The Group sold a total of 944,000 tonnes
LPG. Total revenue was HK$4,637,924,000, operating profit was HK$74,471,000 and profit after tax
amounted to HK$10,051,000.

In terms of regulation of operation and enhancement of operational efficiency, over the past

year, the Group continued to implement and improve the standardized management mechanism
and procedural system; implemented the breakdown, implementation of procedural control and
assessment of operating indicators; established the operating budget suitable for the needs of
business development; launched the professional and computerized management; set up and
implemented the domestic and overseas LPG price tracking, analysis and forecast system that
utilizes EAS and EHR IT operational and management platform to strengthen the management and
control level.

Looking into the coming financial year, the Group will continue to strengthen its unique advantage
of vertically-integrated LGP supply chain. As for the upstream resource integration, the Group will
enter into direct procurement contracts with many refineries including CNPC Kunlun and Sinopec to
lower the cost of procurement. As for the downstream market, the Group will accelerate the pace
of assets acquisition in the LPG market and invest more to set up and form terminal category 3
stations with brand reputation and economies of scale.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Human Resources

A team of excellent employees is vital to the success of a corporation. The Group adheres to

the management concept of “people come first”. It has established and improved the system of
recruitment and internal training. The system provides mechanism for upgrading the professionalism
and competence of its staff at all levels on an ongoing basis and also creates a platform for
knowledge exchange and experience sharing among its staff. The Group recruits and retains quality
staff through enhancing job satisfaction and attractive remuneration package.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group has approximately 17,382 employees, an increase of approximately
7.9% over last year. More than 99.9% of the Group’s employees are located in China. Remuneration
is determined with reference to the qualifications and experience of the staff and according to the
prevailing industry practice in the respective regions where the project companies operate. Apart
from the basic salaries and pension fund contribution, some employees may be given discretionary
bonuses, merit payment and share options depending on the financial results of the Group and
performance of these individual employees. During the financial year, the Group allocated share
options to some of its employees to recognize their contribution to the Group. The Group also
provides extensive training including training programs for new employees and different levels of
technical and management courses for the Group’s management and employees.

Corporate Management

In adherence to the regulated, standardized, institutionalized and computerized management
principles, the Group continues to enhance the level of management and operation. Over the past
financial year, the management of the Group further formulated and improved many management
systems and mechanisms in the headquarters and the project companies leverage on its practical
experience accumulated over the past years and actual needs; and refined the assessment and
administrative measures of project companies of different sizes and at different development
stages. In establishing a set of sound management standards and system, the Group also
actively participated in different forms of internal and external inspection extensively to ensure the
implementation and continuation of the management system.

In addition, the launch and application of the Group’s IT system has achieved stage breakthrough
and the IT development has attained its initial success. The Group has also realized complete
computerization in all modules of its principal business, including the establishment of an operating
database, management of performance assessment and electronic management of budget
procurement and internet operations; and the trial run of the project management system as well
as the computerized production and operation system. The comprehensive management of each
business module has helped build up an IT system administration platform for the Group and the
project companies, providing advanced tools and technology assurance in the enhancement of the
Group’s management and operational standards.
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Excellent Management

The Group’s management team is committed to upgrading its corporate governance and
transparency. In recognition of the effort of the Group’s management, the Group was ranked No. 1

in the “The Asset 2009 Highest Potential PRC Enterprise” (The Asset 2009 & £ /& 1 B {>2) under
the category of petroleum and natural gas industry by The Asset Magazine. The Asset Magazine is
an authoritative regional financial magazine with a variety of readers ranging from decision-makers

of Asian large-scale corporations and financial institutions. In this poll, professional investors and
research analysts were invited by The Asset Mazagine to elect, together with the Editors Committee
of the Asset Magazine, the highest potential company from 300 PRC-based companies mainly listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Meanwhile, in the 2010 Asia’s top companies poll organized by FinanceAsia, a leading financial
magazine in Asia Pacific, the Group was granted the “The Best Management”, “The Best Corporate
Governance” and “The Best Investor Relations” awards four years in a row in the Mainland China
section. This fully demonstrates that the Group’s efforts in corporate management, investor relations
and corporate governance are well endorsed by the investing community.

The Group has been granted the “Best Gas Enterprise Award” (FfEAR D) and “Grand
Achievement Award” (F = B g1 48) in the Gas Enterprise of the Year 2009 Campaign (2009 #Af {2
Bl E a2 EE) jointly organized by a PRC renowned consulting and media body “sci99” and
finance.sina.com, hexun.com, finance.ifeng.com, finance.people.com.cn and business.sohu.com.
Voting of the campaign was conducted by phone, text messages and online poll and was based on
criteria such as the motivation of the enterprise on industry development, contribution made by the
enterprise to drive social progress, technology product innovation and management innovation.

In addition, the Group has been named “Capital’s Outstanding PRC Natural Gas Supplier” five years
in a row by Capital Magazine. Capital Magazine is one of the best-selling and authoritative Chinese
financial magazines in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Review

Liquidity

In face of the prevailing economic conditions, it is essential for any company to maintain sufficient
liquidity. Due to its business nature, the Group has an inherently robust cashflow. Coupled with
the effective and well-established capital management system, the Group is able to maintain its
competitive edge under the pressure of credit crunch.

As at 31 March 2010, the total assets of the Group was HK$22,997,594,000, increased by
approximately 27.6% as compared to that as at 31 March 2009. The Group’s cash on hand

was HK$4,361,419,000 (31 March 2009: HK$2,896,457,000). The Group had a current ratio of
approximately 0.80 (31 March 2009: 0.89). After deducting the LPG trade finances related facilities
of Zhongyou Hua Dian amounting to HK$2,450,349,000, the Group’s current ratio was 1.10. The net
gearing ratio was 1.32 (31 March 2009: 1.37). The calculation of net gearing ratio was based on the
net borrowings of HK$6,884,796,000 (total borrowings of HK$13,696,564,000 less the LPG trade
finances related facilities of Zhongyou Hua Dian amounting to HK$2,450,349,000 and bank balances
and cash of HK$4,361,419,000) and the net assets of HK$5,230,237,000 as at 31 March 2010.

The Group has always been pursuing a prudent financial management policy. The majority of the
cash available were deposited with credible banks as demand and time deposits.

Financial Resources

Owing to its continuous efforts in seeking a long-standing relationship with local, Chinese and foreign
banks, the Group is able to obtain additional available credit facilities from new banks apart from

the ongoing project finance provided by China Development Bank. As of June 2010, over 20 banks
extended syndicate loans and credit facilities to the Group and most syndicate loans have a term
longer than five years with an average maturity of nine years. The bank loan will be used as general
working capital and the majority of which will accrue interest at US$ LIBOR+1.25%.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s portfolio of bank loans and other loans is as follows:

2010 2009

HK$°000 HK$’000

Less than one year 5,294,761 3,103,855
After one year but not more than two years 662,620 556,758
After two years but not more than five years 3,063,156 2,430,918
After five years 4,295,569 4,407,396
13,316,106 10,297,922

* of these, the acceptance bills and trust receipts of Zhongyou Hua Dian amounted to HK$2,255,659,000.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had bank loans and other loans amounting to HK$13,316,105,000,
representing an increase of 29.3% over that of 2009, of which HK$2,450,349,000 belonged to the
trade finances related facilities.
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The Company issued convertible bonds with 1% per annum coupon with an aggregate principal
amount of US$40,000,000 (the “Bonds”) in June 2005. The Bonds expired on 29 June 2010.

The initial conversion price of the Bonds was HK$1.731 but the conversion will be adjusted in
accordance to the initial agreement if any shareholding dilution events arise. The Bonds have been
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since 1 June 2006.

As at 31 March 2010, upon the conversion of the remaining bonds in the amount of US$2,000,000
into 9,012,131 ordinary shares of the Company, the Company had no outstanding bonds. The
Company has also applied to the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the delisting of the
Bonds.

The operating and capital expenditures of the Group are financed by operating cash income,
subscription moneys from strategic investors, bank loans, bonds, revolving credit facilities and
development financial loans. The Group has sufficient funding to satisfy its future capital expenditures
and working capital requirements.

Foreign Exchange and Interest Rates
No significant foreign exchange risk is expected as the Group’s cash, borrowings, income and
expenses are settled in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 March 2010, the Group pledged certain property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments having a net carrying value of approximately HK$298,075,000 and HK$39,043,000 (2009:
HK$457,164,000 and HK$37,047,000) respectively, investment properties having a net carrying
value of HK$27,220,000 (2009: HK$19,200,000), trade receivables having a net carrying value

of HK$86,817,000 (2009: HK$45,878,000), inventories having carrying value of HK$138,729,000
(2009: HK$87,651,000), pledged bank deposits of HK$489,103,000 (2009: HK$847,759,000) and
certain subsidiaries pledged their equity investments in other subsidiaries to banks to secure loan
facilities granted to the Group.

Capital Commitments

The Group has a capital commitment in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
and construction materials for property, plant and equipment contracted for but not provided

in the financial statements as at 31 March 2010 was HK$146,754,000 (as at 31 March 2009:
HK$208,150,000) and HK$140,194,000 (as at 31 March 2009: HK$93,312,000) respectively, and
such commitments would require a substantial part of the Group’s present cash and external
borrowings. The Group has undertaken to acquire shares of some Chinese enterprises and set up
Sino-foreign joint venture companies in China.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (as at 31 March
2009: Nil).

Liu Ming Hui
Managing Director

7 July 2010
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Our strategic vision is to be a responsible energy supplier
in China delivering superior performance and growth while
making consistent contributions to the society. We take
our corporate social responsibilities (CSR) seriously and
are committed to implementing our policies and systems
across the Group.

e During the business operation, we are committed to
maintaining a high standard of business ethics.

e Inrespect of employee relations, we are seeking to ensure
that our employees have a safe, secure and fulfilling work
environment.

e We are fully aware of the significance of environmental
protection.

e We have always been giving high regard to health and
safety.

e We have been actively involved in providing services to
local community in the areas that we operate.

e We have been endeavoring to establish a long-term
relationship with our suppliers and customers.

Business ethics

As an energy supplier engaged in the utility sector, the Group has always focused on the observance
of business ethics in our operation and requiring each employee to adhere to the code of conduct
and integrity in providing services to government authorities, civil servants, clients, colleagues, the
Group and the public while seeking to build good personal and corporate reputation.

We are committed to providing efficient, safe and clean energy supply to our clients with a strong
awareness of service in every business aspect. We insist on observance of integrity in our interaction
within the Group and with our business partners, suppliers and clients while keeping our confidential
information and trade secrets in strict confidence. We treat our employees, shareholders, business
partners, clients and suppliers with fairness and always welcome and value any opinions and
feedback from them. As a responsible utility, we remain in compliance with all prevailing laws,
regulation and policies and maintain a high standard of code of conduct. We observe the laws

and regulations of the countries and regions where our business is located and advocate for
environmental protection, and seek to improve and enrich the public life through our high quality and
efficient services.
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Employee relations

Our responsibility as an employer is to ensure that our employees have a safe, secure and

fulfilling work environment that allows them to reach their full potential. We have approximately
18,000 employees in 19 provinces all around China. We are committed to helping our employees
understand their strengths and weakness and providing the resources to allow them to grow as
individuals, both at work and at home through on-job training programs provided by Gas Technology
Research Institute of China Gas and Management Institute of China Gas. Over the past period of
time, these two institutes provide over 100 training programs covering areas in general management,
production safety, market development strategy, customers service needs, financial management and
application of information technology. Through a series of training programs, the Company hopes

to ensure that our employees are skillful and fully equipped for the Group’s future development and
challenges in a fast-changing market and environment.

To sustain a committed and progressive workforce, the Group makes available to its employees a
vast array of jobs and a wide range of attractive paths to career advancement, and they are also
encouraged to express their career aspirations during their annual performance review. The Group
recognizes the importance to treat employees equally, and we are committed to operate fairly at all
times and not to permit discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment on the
basis of race, religion, color, gender or age. In the meantime, the Group also conducts research
and review of the career planning and working environment for our employees to ensure their widely
diversified needs in respect of working conditions, working style, cultural background, position
requirement and personal life are satisfied.

Furthermore, we believe that keeping employees fully informed of the business activities of the
Group is an important means to let them feel being cared for. We organize face-to-face review
meetings, annual conferences, democratic appraisal system, regular tea gatherings and seminar to
improve our integration, develop leadership, encourage our employees to pursue career development
opportunities and make them better understand corporate strategies and objectives. Also, we
continue to extend the use of our intranet system as an effective channel for communication,
despatch of industry policies and news, as well as e-learning and our monthly in-house magazine.

Caring for the Environment

In addition to being a clean energy provider that contributes to the reduction of pollution of the
environment, the Group also wants to set examples for its employees and others to care about
environmental protection.

Over the past financial year, the Group sold approximately 3.4 billion cubic meters of natural gas in
aggregate, equivalent to approximately 5.78 million tonnes of raw coal in terms of calorific value with
a corresponding reduction of carbon dioxide emission of approximately 3.84 million tonnes.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In respect of energy saving, we seek to reduce electricity consumption through maintaining an
optimal indoor temperature in offices, thereby reducing the emission of carbon dioxide to the
environment. Besides, we have replaced all incandescent light bulbs by compact fluorescent lights
as this can help reduce energy usage. In respect of waste management, we strive to minimize the
generation of waste from daily operation and encourage our employees to reuse unwanted paper,
and have established special arrangements with recycled-paper producers for them to make use
of our overdue in-house magazines and packaging waste for conversion into recycled fibres. In the
meantime, the Group imposes our environmental criteria on our product and material suppliers,
requiring them to meet the statutory and our specific requirements for environmental protection and
minimize the negative impact of their products on the society and environment in their materials
selection, production and design.

We have also actively promoted paper-free delivery of information as well as video or audio
conferences instead of physical meetings in order to reduce carbon-fuel travelling.

Health and Safety

We are committed to protecting the health of our people at the workplace and to this end,

we organize regular medical examination annually and provide health and disease prevention
consultancy to allow each employee to have proper knowledge and concern about personal health.
Activities such as mountain-climbing competition and badminton contest are organized from time
to time to increase the awareness for sports. During the year, the Group also developed an online
library with view to improving the professionalism and enriching the leisure and culture life of our
employees.

To ensure safe production is always the Group’s primary commitment to all employees. We strictly
implement and follow the guiding principles of “Safety First, Take Caution”. We develop effective
safety procedures, identify areas of responsibility and assign these responsibilities to appropriate
individuals in each business location. We encourage our employees to be aware of safe systems
of work and operating procedures as well as potential hazards on all sites in order to avoid
unnecessary risks, and assist all employees to understand their responsibilities and statutory
obligations, in particular to take reasonable care of themselves, those around them and those
affected by their actions. Some of our operating units have received accolades for excellence in
safety practices in their respective operating areas.

In terms of safety awareness in local communities, our operating units from time to time educate
our customers on the correct use of gas appliances and basic safety knowledge by holding talks,
communicating through radio, television and newspapers, and distribution of promotional materials.
We also provide free gas appliances inspection and maintenance services to our customers and
perform fire drills in collaboration with local fire departments.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010



Connecting with the Communities

Whether it is through providing employment or purchasing local goods and services, we believe it is
our responsibility to support those communities and we encourage all our business units to support
their local communities, make donation to local charities and community work projects and also
make long-term commitments of support.

Our staff actively participate in charity activities in Hong Kong and China, such activities include

the fund raising activities of The Community Chest such as the Casual Dress Day and for domestic
earthquake victims, and providing funding for the local service hotlines in the areas that we operate.
We also participate in the support of the under-priviledged individuals in the society.

Relationship with our Suppliers and Customers

As a reliable gas supplier, the Group understands that the quality and safety of products provided
by our suppliers are both highly important. We select suppliers not only in terms of pricing, but
also their credibility, reliability, quality of supplies as well as after-sale services to ensure they can
meet our qualitative and quantitative criteria. We have established our own procurement website
on which suppliers from different parts of the country can post their products and services and the
terms thereof. The Group treats its suppliers with trust, respect, equality and integrity with view to
establishing a long-term relationship.

Customer’s satisfaction is key to the future development of a utility operator. Although we are

the monopolistic gas suppliers in a city, we never abuse on such status or take our customers’
opinions and requested for granted. We monitor our standard of services through regular customers’
satisfaction surveys and personal visits by our customers’ ambassadors so that their feedback on us
can be collected and properly dealt with in a timely manner.
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China Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) regards
corporate governance to international standards as
an integral part of its corporate culture and believes
that good corporate governance not only fosters the
confidence of investors but also further achieves our
corporate values on a sustained basis.

Compliance with the Code

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) continues to be committed to ensuring that
the highest standards of corporate governance are maintained. The Board confirmed that China Gas
has complied with the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”)
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the financial year ended 31
March 31 2010 other than the term of the appointment of non-executive directors.

The Board of Directors

The primary role of the Board is to create, protect and enhance long-term shareholders’ value. The
Board is responsible for setting overall strategy for the Group, overseeing the businesses and affairs
of the Group, monitoring the performance of the management and ensuring that a sound system of
internal control and risk management is in place.

Board Composition, Balance and Independence
The Board consists of 13 members, five of whom are executive directors and eight are non-
executive directors (including three independent non-executive directors).

On 13 April 2010, Mr. Mulham Al Jarf was nominated by Oman Oil Company to replace Mr. William
Rackets to be appointed as a non-executive Director. On the same date, Mr. Moon Duk Kyu was
nominated by SK E&S Limited to replace Mr. Kim Joong Ho to be appointed as a non-executive
Director.

The table below sets out for each Director his/her Board committee memberships, if any. Details of
the Directors are set out in the section of “Biographies of Board Members” of this Annual Report and
can also be found on our website (www.chinagasholdings.com.hk).
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Name of directors Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination

Executive Directors
Li Xiao Yun (Chairman)

Xu Ying (Vice-Chairman) Member Member
Liu Ming Hui (Managing Director) Member Member Member
Zhu Wei Wei Member

Ma Jin Long

Non-Executive Directors
Feng Zhuo Zhi

R.K. Goel

Joe Yamagata

Mulham Al Jarf (Note 1)
Moon Duk Kyu (Note 1)
Kim Joong Ho (Note 2)
William Rackets (Note 2)

Independent non-executive

Directors

Zhao Yu Hua Chairman Member Member
Mao Er Wan Member Member Chairman
Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia Member Chairman Member

Table 1 Board committee membership

Note 1:  Appointed as director on 13 April 2010
Note 2:  Resigned as director on 13 April 2010

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the
Board has a balanced composition of skills and expertise appropriate for the requirements of the
business. All appointments are first considered by the Nomination Committee and are then put to
Board for decision.

With over half of the Board being non-executive and two-third not participating in the management
of the Company, the Board is able to exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and
provide the management with a diverse and objective perspective on issues.

Members of the Board are competent and have a complimentary range of energy, financial,
operational and entrepreneurial experiences that ensure a balance of viewpoints in the Board. All the
non-executive Directors on the Board are highly reputed persons from their respective fields and they
take part at the Board and committee meetings, which add value in the decision making process of
the Board. There is no financial, business, family and other relevant relationship among members of
the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are independent from the shareholders and are not
employees or under any contracts of service with them or holding any material shareholding in
them. During the period, each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided an annual
confirmation of his/her independence to the Company pursuant to the requirement of the Listing
Rules. By taking into account the above factors, the Board considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.
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Chairman and Managing Director
The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company are separated
and clearly defined.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Li Xiao Yun and he does not participate in the daily operations of
the Group though he is an executive Director. Mr. Li is only responsible for the Company’s overall
strategic planning and for ensuring the effectiveness of the Board.

The Managing Director of the Company is Mr. Liu Ming Hui and he is charged with the executive
responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.

Induction and Professional Development

On joining the Board, a newly appointed Director will receive a comprehensive induction package
that contains all the materials and documents about the Group so as to ensure that he/she
understands the business and operations of the Group, relevant rules (including Listing Rules) and
other regulations to ensure proper understanding of his/her duties as a director of a Hong Kong
listed company, and relevant publications relating to the responsibilities of a non-executive directors
and compliance matters.

Continuing professional development is a vital part for Directors in this fast changing and competitive
business environment. Directors are regularly updated with the regulatory development and the
Group’s business activities through email notification or discussions in board meetings or committee
meetings from to time where appropriate.

Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the Model Code is sent to each Director of the Company. A reminder is also sent to all Directors 30
days and 60 days respectively before the date of the Board meetings to approve the Group’s half-
yearly and annual results reminding them that they cannot deal in the securities of the Company until
such results have been published.

The Board confirmed that for the financial year ended 31 March 2010, all of the Directors of the
Company have complied with the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ interests as at 31 March 2010 in the shares of the Company during the financial year are
shown as follows:

Nature of Percentage of
Name of Director Interest No. of Shares held Shareholdings (%)
Liu Ming Hui Personal 391,624,000 (L) 11.65
Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia Personal 1,000,000 (L) 0.03

Table 2 Directors’ interests as at 31 March 2010

L: Long position
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Directors and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against the
Company’s directors and officers when they discharge their duties. The insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.

Operation of the Board

All the Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major development of the Group’s business.
Directors meet with other senior management and staff of the Group occasionally, have access

to advice and services from the Company Secretary and may take independent legal or other
professional advice at the Company’s expense as and when it is considered necessary for the
proper discharge of their duties as Directors.

Regular Board meetings in a particular year are usually scheduled towards the end of the
immediately preceding year to give all Directors adequate time to plan their schedules to attend.
Meeting agenda of board meetings or committee meetings is generally distributed at least seven
days before the meeting date. All directors are consulted as to whether they may want to include
any matter in the agenda before the agenda for each regular board meeting is issued. The relevant
board papers are generally distributed in writing to the Directors at least seven days in advance of
the meetings for review by the Directors. Sensitive subject matters may be discussed at the meeting
without written materials being distributed in advance or at the meeting. Minutes are taken for each
meeting of the Board and its committees and any significant concerns raised by any Director are
recorded in the minutes. Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft Board minutes and
final version of Board minutes is placed on record within a reasonable time after the Board meeting.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with in accordance
with applicable rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent Board Committee will be
set up to deal with the matter.

The Board, the Management and the Board Committees

The Board

The Board is responsible for setting overall strategy for the Group, overseeing the businesses and
affairs of the Group and monitoring the performance of the management. Major issues which are
brought before the Board include the strategy of the Group, major acquisitions and disposals,
major capital investment, review and approval of financial performance and results of the Group and
recommendation of dividends. The Board also ensures that an effective internal control system is
maintained.

The Management

The Board delegates the operational management of the Group to the Managing Director and
executive Directors (except the Chairman of the Board who is not involved in the daily operations of
the Group). The executive Directors maintain day-to-day contact and meet regularly face-to-face or
via video conferences with non-board senior management both in the head office and our operating
units. The Group currently has over 150 operating units located in 19 provinces/autonomous
regions/directly-administrated cities in China and each operating unit is headed by a General
Manager who is responsible for the day-to-day performance of the operating unit.
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The Board Committees

The Board delegates authority to four principal committees to carry out certain tasks as defined in
each committee’s respective terms of reference. The terms of reference for all committees are set by
the Board and are reviewed regularly.

The four principal committees of the Board are Executive Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee. Company Secretary is the secretary of all the
committees. Other ad-hoc committees may be formed from time to time to look into specific areas
as and when the need arises.

1. Executive Committee
The Executive Committee provides overall strategic direction to the Management, monitors
the operations of all operating units and ensures that funding is adequate for the Group’s
investment projects. As set out in the terms of reference, the duties and authorities of the
Committee mainly include:

(i) to review the financial information of the Company;

(if) to discuss and make decisions on matters relating to the management and operations
of the Company;

(ifi) to assess whether the proposed transaction to be entered into is a notifiable
transaction in accordance to the Listing Rules and make recommendations to the
Board thereof; and

(iv) to review and discuss any other matters, as may from time to time be delegated by
the Board.

During the financial year, the Executive Committee met as and when required to discuss

the daily operations and affairs of the Group. It reviewed and approved major investments
recommended by the Management. Besides, a committee comprising any two of the
executive directors was set up to approve the issue and allotment of shares (i) under the
share option scheme of the Company when exercise of share options arose and a total of
18,410,000 shares were issued under the share options scheme; and (ii) upon exercise of the
convertible bonds and a total of 9,012,131 shares were issued.

In order to further assist the Executive Committee, sub-committees may be formed for the
purpose of performing detailed due diligence reviews on proposed investment projects.
Members of sub-committees include Executive Directors and senior management members
in different key operational and functional areas and they report to the Managing Director
regularly.
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Nomination Committee

As set out in the terms of reference, the primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are, inter alia, to (i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes that are deemed necessary;

(i) identify and nominate candidates to fill Board vacancies for the Board’s approval; and

(iii) review and recommend to the Board those directors who are retired but eligible and
presenting themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting (“AGM”).

At present, none of the executive and non-executive Directors are appointed for a fixed term.
The Board believes that no fixed term of appointment for Directors could provide flexibility to
serve the needs of the Company. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at AGM following their appointment and subject to rotation at least once every three
years in accordance to the bye-laws of the Company.

In accordance with the existing bye-laws of the Company, at each AGM, one-third of the
Board is required to retire by rotation and each Director who has stepped down may offer
himself for re-election. Newly appointed director are not taken into account in determining
the number of Directors required to retire by rotation at that AGM. In addition, any Director
appointed during the year will stand for election at the next following AGM, ensuring that
each Board member faces re-election at regular intervals.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2010, the Directors who are retiring and who, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM, are named below:

Name of Director Date of first Appointment Date of last-re-election
Li Xiao Yun 22 August 2001 29 August 2007

Xu Ying 22 August 2001 29 August 2007

Feng Zhuo Zhi 30 May 2005 26 August 2008

Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia 21 October 2003 29 August 2007

Mulham Al Jarf 13 April 2010 -

Moon Duk Kyu 13 April 2010 -

Table 3 Directors to be retired and re-elected at 2010 AGM

Details of the Directors standing for re-election in the forthcoming AGM are set out in the
accompanying circular to shareholders.

The Committee met once during the financial year to review and recommend to the Board
those directors who are presenting themselves for election at the 2009 AGM.

33



34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Remuneration Committee
As set out in the terms of references, the primary and principal responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are:

(i) to recommend to the Board on policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors
and senior management and to establish a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

(if) to determine specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management;

(ifi) to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive
Directors;

(iv) to ensure appropriate disclosure in relation to remuneration issues in accordance to
the Listing Rules for inclusion in annual report, financial statements and other relevant
documents; and

(v) to approve all services agreements made between the Company and executive
Directors. Directors are abstained from discussing and voting in relation to their own
remuneration packages.

The Committee would seek support from external and internal services so as to ensure
that overall packages of executive Directors, other Directors and senior management are
competitive and appropriate for the requirement of the business of the Group.

Remuneration packages for executive Directors (excluding the Chairman) consist of (i) fixed
part (basic salary and benefits); and/or (ii) performance related bonus.

For non-executive Directors’ fee structure, their remuneration packages consist of director’s
fee of HK$120,000 per annum and committee membership fee for whether he/she is the
member(s) of the board committees. At present, the chairman of the board committee

would receive HK$60,000 per annum and members of the board committee would receive
HK$30,000 per annum. The non-executive Directors received no other compensation from the
Group except for the fees disclosed above and they do not receive any other benefits from
the Company nor do they participate in any bonus. Non-executive director’s fee is determined
with reference to his/her duties and responsibilities of the Company and the prevailing market
conditions and payable quarterly.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010



Total emoluments of the Directors for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 are
summarized in below table:

Performance Contribution to
related retirement

Name Fee/Salary bonus benefits scheme Total

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000
Li Xiao Yun (Note 1) 3,000 3,000 - - - - 3,000 3,000
Xu Ying 7,188 7,188 2,680 2,395 12 12 9,880 9,595
Liu Ming Hui 7,188 7,188 5,358 4,791 12 12 12,558 11,991
Zhu Wei Wei 468 468 160 160 12 12 640 640
Ma Jin Long 300 165 - - - - 300 165
Feng Zhuo Zhi 120 120 - - - - 120 120
R.K. Goel - 30 - - - - - 30
Jo Yamagata 120 120 - - - — 120 120
William Rackets (Note 2) 124 120 - - - - 124 120
Kim Joong Ho (Note 2) 120 83 - - - - 120 83
Zhao Yu Hua 240 240 - - - - 240 240
Mao Er Wan 240 240 - - - - 240 240
Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia 240 240 - - - - 240 240

Table 4 Remuneration of each member of the Board for the financial year ended 31 March
2010 (All figures are in HK$)

Note 1:  For the two financial years ended 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010, the Company incurred
share-based payment expenses of HK$138,000 for each financial year in respect of fair value
of 5,000,000 share options granted to Mr. Li Xiao Yun by the Company on 20 October 2005
at an exercise price of HK$1.50 with an exercise period from 20 October 2010 to 19 October
2015.

Note 2:  Resigned on 13 April 2010.
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The Committee believes that remuneration packages should reward the efforts of all staff
and Directors since a motivated workforce is a key element of the Group’s performance and
it recognizes that executive Directors bear the greatest responsibility for delivering corporate
strategy that underpins long-term sustainable performance. As part of the remuneration
package for all staff and Directors, the Company also grants share option to staff and
Directors under the share option scheme of the Company to ensure that an appropriate
balance of reward for responsibilities, motivation, retention and share participation. A total
of 163,394,000 and 237,000,000 share options were granted to employees and Directors
respectively during the financial year ended 31 March 2010.

The interests of Directors who have options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company,
together with movements during the financial year are shown below:

Batch Exercise Price (HK$) Exercise Period

1 0.80 1 September 2004 to 8 January 2014

2a 0.71 20 March 2005 to 5 October 2014

2b 0.71 22 November 2004 to 5 October 2014#

2c 0.71 1 January 2005 to 5 October 2014

3 1.50 20 October 2010 to 19 October 2015

4a 2.10 3 August 2009 to 2 August 2019%

4b 2.10 3 August 2011 to 2 August 2014

# The exercise of options will be subject to the condition that the consolidated net asset value of

the Group which shall be certified by the auditors appointed by the Company as at the date of
exercise of the options being not less than HK$1 billion.

2 The exercise of options will be subject to the condition that profit after taxation of the Group as
stated in the latest audited report of the Company shall not less than HK$1.5 billion.
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Batch As at Granted Exercised As at

1 April 2009 during year during year 31 March 2010

Li Xiao Yun 1 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
3 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000

4b - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000

Xu Ying 1 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
2b 90,000,000 - - 90,000,000

4a - 100,000,000 - 100,000,000

Liu Ming Hui 1 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
2b 130,000,000 - - 130,000,000

4a - 100,000,000 - 100,000,000

Zhu Wei Wei 1 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
2a 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000

4b - 4,000,000 - 4,000,000

Ma Jin Long 1 9,240,711 = 3,300,000 5,940,711
4b - 4,000,000 - 4,000,000

Zhao Yu Hua 1 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
2c 700,000 - - 700,000

4b - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000

Mao Er Wan 1 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
4b - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000

Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia 1 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 -
26 700,000 - 700,000 -

4b - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000

Feng Zhuo Zhi 4b - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
Joe Yamagata 4b - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
R.K. Goel 4b - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
William Rackets (Note 1) 4b - 3,000,000 = 3,000,000
Kim Joong Ho (Note 1) 4b - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000

Table 5 Interest of each member of the Board in share options for the financial year ended 31
March 2010

Note 1:  Resigned on 13 April 2010

The Committee met once during the financial year to review and approve the remuneration
issues as disclosed in the 2009 annual report and the remuneration policy for the Board.

Audit Committee

As set out in the terms of reference, the main responsibility of the Audit Committee is to
review, with the external auditors and the management, the Company’s general policies

and internal financial control procedures. It also reviews half-yearly and annual results
announcements as well as the financial statements of the Group before they are submitted
to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee also reviews and monitors external auditors
independence and effectiveness of audit process and recommends the appointment and
re-appointment of the external auditors. All the members of the Committee have significant
relevant financial expertise and are appropriately qualified to undertake their duties as Audit
Committee members.

)
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The work performed by the Audit Committee in the past financial year included:

review of the Company’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2009, and recommendation thereof to the Board for approval,

i. recommendation to the Board to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external
auditors of the Company for the financial year 2010 pending shareholders approval at
the 2009 AGM;

il review of the Company’s interim financial statements for the six months ended 30
September 2009, and recommendation thereof to the Board for approval;

iV. review of the report and the management letter submitted by the external auditors for
the matters arising from their audit on the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009;

V. evaluate the work of the external auditors and approval of the annual audit fee;

vi. consider the annual and interim reports of the internal audit and the 2010 internal audit
plan;

vii. review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s

accounting and financial reporting functions and related issues; and
viii. review of the internal control proposal conducted by the external consultant.
The Committee met three times during the financial year 2009.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the amount of remuneration paid and payable in
connection with the audit services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the fiscal year

2009.
Audit Services Amount (HK$)
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2010 (to be agreed) 5,500,000
Final results for the year ended 31 March 2009 5,000,000

Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings

Non-attendance at Board and Committee meetings is rare, although it may arise due to unforeseen
circumstances or prior commitments which could not be rearranged. Where a Director is unable

to attend a meeting he or she provides comments and feedback to the Company Secretary, who
ensures that the comments received are raised at the meeting.

The Board is scheduled to hold four meetings in each financial year, as well as update
teleconference calls from time to time. For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board reviewed,
discussed and approved materials matters including:

1. annual and interim financial statements;

2. transaction on acquisition of the equity interest in a group of natural gas projects in Fujian
province;

3. grant of options to directors and employees; and

4. transaction on acquisition of a GEM listed company.
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The following table details the attendance of Directors at meetings of the Board and Board
Committees for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Name of directors Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

Executive Directors

Li Xiao Yun (Chairman) 6/7
Xu Ying (Vice-Chairman) 7/7 1/1
Liu Ming Hui (Managing Director) 77 11 11
Zhu Wei Wei 77
Ma Jin Long 6/7

Non-Executive Directors

Feng Zhuo Zhi 6/7
R.K. Goel 4/7
Joe Yamagata 6/7
Mulham Al Jarf (Note 1) N/A
Moon Duk Kyu (Note 1) N/A
Kim Joong Ho (Note 2) 6/7
William Rackets (Note 2) 6/7

Independent non-executive

Directors

Zhao Yu Hua 7/7 3/3 11 1/
Mao Er Wan 7/7 3/3 1/1 1/1
Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia 6/7 3/3 1/1 1/1

Table 6 Attendances at the Board Meeting and Committee Meetings

Notes:
1. Appointed as non-executive director on 13 April 2010.
2. Resigned as non-executive director on 13 April 2010.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the overall responsibility for ensuring that the Group maintains a sound system of
internal control to provide them with reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives
in relation to the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting, and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. However, there are limitations in any system of
internal control and even the most effective system can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance.

Under our existing internal control system, necessary policies, guidelines, procedures have been
formulated, and corresponding monitoring mechanisms have been established. Our management is
primarily responsible for overall design of the system whereas the head of department is responsible
for overseeing or monitoring the internal control activities. The Internal Audit Department is an
independent unit established within the Group, which provides the Board an appraisal of the Group’s
systems of internal controls to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the controls established
to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.
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Risk Management
The Company has recognized the importance of risk management and has a process in place
to identify, assess, and monitor the risks that may impact the achievement of the Company’s

objectives. The Company performed risk assessment to evaluate the nature and extent of the risks
to which it is exposed. During the risk assessment process, the Group is able to identify the key
risks facing the Group. The risks are prioritized according to the likelihood of their occurrence and
the significance of their impact to the Group and risk management measures are in place to manage

the risks to an acceptance level. The risk assessment results were utilised by the Internal Audit

Department when carrying out the internal audit work so as to ensure they focus on the high risk

areas and the effectiveness of the internal control system is monitored effectively.

During the year, some of the major risks were identified as follows:

Human Resource and Organisational Risks

Our ability to retain highly skilled and committed technical staff as well as talents specializing
in finance, legal, general management and human resources is crucial to the future success
of the Group. The Group understands that if they are unable to attract and retain employees
with the right capabilities and experience, the Group’s business and operations may be
adversely affected.

With a view to minimizing these risks, management maintain effective and regular
communications with the employees with regard to the Group’s vision, core values and
business policies. The Company establishes clear expectations for employee performance
and provides ongoing training and education. We also evaluate employee performance and
provide meaningful feedback. For new employees, we provide a comprehensive orientation
session about their job responsibilities as well as on-the-job training and regular feedback on
their work performance.

Corporate Reputation Risk

Any failure by our business units to meet production safety and social environmental
standards could damage our corporate reputation and thereby impact on our business and
financial results. We regularly organize seminars for the staff of the respective business units
to explain and stress the importance of production safety and social environmental standards,
as well as the internal guidelines and/or other relevant laws and regulations to raise staff’s
awareness of operational safety.
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Internal Control

Policies and Procedures

The following policies and procedures were established to facilitate an effective internal
control system for the Group:

1.

Our organization structure is designed to facilitate an efficient decision-making process
Generally speaking, subsidiaries’ management are responsible for the daily operations
whereas the Board and senior management at Group level are responsible for the
critical decisions or matters in relation to Group strategies, acquisitions and finance.
Our decision-making procedures, authorities and responsibilities have been clearly
established, documented and communicated.

The Group has established its accounting procedures and manual which sets out the
Group’s accounting practices and authorities established by the management. Each
business unit has a financial controller responsible for the financial control as well as
to ensure the accuracy, completeness and timeliness of financial reports. The Group’s
Finance Department cooperates with the financial controllers of the subsidiaries to
ensure that the financial reporting process and financial statements are in line with the
established policies.

The Group’s human resources policy has been formulated to ensure that our
employees have the required expertise for their respective positions. Procedures and
templates for recruitment, training, performance assessment and promotion as well
as remuneration and job descriptions are defined and documented. Performance
assessment is conducted at both the subsidiary and the Group level.

Our communication channels can help our employees to carry out their duties
effectively. The Group’s employees have access to the prevailing policies, instructions
and guidelines. Our information system improves the management and monitoring of
our business operations.

Internal Audit

The Company has set up its Internal Audit Department to carry out independent evaluations

of our business units. The department has unrestricted access to the Group’s business units
as well as its records, properties and personnel. Our internal audit team conducts reviews on
the Group’s operations through the following key types of audit work:

i. Operational Audit
This main objective of operational audit is to examine whether the business unit’s
resources are being used in the most effective and efficient manner, and to review the
internal control activities of the major activities/business procedures of the business
units.

ii. Financial Audit
The purpose of financial audit is to assess whether there is sufficient control over cash
and cash-equivalent assets, and whether there are adequate and effective internal
control measures over the use of such asset. Unlike external financial audits, internal
audits do not express professional opinions on the fairness of the financial statements.
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ii. Compliance Audit
This type of audit is to review compliance to laws, regulations, policies and
procedures. In general, recommendations in relation to procedures and control
activities are proposed to ensure compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as
well as the requirements of internal policies and procedures.

iv. Information Systems (IS) Audit
This type of audit relates to assessing the effectiveness of the internal control
environment of information processing systems and how these systems are being
utilised. IS audits generally evaluate system input controls, output controls, processing
controls, backup and recovery plan, system security, and IT environment reviews.

In addition, our internal audit team uses computer-assisted audit tools and techniques to
enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of internal audit engagements. Reports issued by
the Internal Audit Department include recommendations to improve the existing systems and
procedures so as to enhance internal controls of the Group.

The Head of Internal Audit Department reports the results of the internal audit work to the
Audit Committee as a standing item on the agenda of the Audit Committee’s meetings. With
the help from external consultancy firm, internal controls related training were provided to the
general managers and department heads of our operating subsidiaries during the year.

Under our existing internal control system, necessary policies, guidelines, procedures,
authority limits and monitoring mechanism have been established to facilitate the effective
functioning of the control system. During the year, via the internal control evaluation
conducted by the Internal Audit Department, the Board has thoroughly reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system for the year ended 31 March 2010

Way Forward
As part of the ongoing process to improve the Group’s system of internal control, several initiatives
are currently under consideration:

1. Continue the risk assessment of our business units;

2. Strengthen the skills of our internal audit team in information technology area as well as
utilising computer-assisted audit tools and techniques in the audit work;

3. Strengthen the integration between the Internal Audit Department of large operating
subsidiaries and the Group’s Internal Audit Department;

4. Further promote the importance of ethics and code of conduct within the Group; and

5. Further enhance the knowledge of internal control within the Group at all levels of employees.
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Communication

The Board and the senior management recognize the importance of maintaining good relations and
communications with all its shareholders.

Shareholders and Investors

The Board believes that our shareholders must be given a fair and accurate view on the affairs of our
company on an ongoing basis. We communicate with shareholders in an open, regular and timely
manner so that the market has sufficient information to make informed investment decisions on the
operations and results of the Company. Mechanisms employed included:

regular non-deal road show meetings with our shareholders and institutional investors in
different part of the world;

i. attending investors conference and forums organized by brokers throughout the year;

iif. regular disclosure to our shareholders via half-yearly and annual reports; and

V. the Company’s website (www.chinagasholdings.com.hk) where industry news, media
releases, presentations to analysts, webcasting of important events and all the Company’s
announcements and circulars are accessible.

The Board encourages and seeks to build up a mutual understanding of objectives between the
Group and institutional shareholders, fund managers and analysts. It believes that this is fundamental
to ensuring that the Group’s strategy is understood and that any questions or issues are dealt with
in a constructive way. The Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Investor Relation Department
follow an ongoing programme of dialogue, meetings, presentations and site visits with analysts,
institutional investors and media representatives. Following any release of annual or interim results

or other price sensitive developments, our Investor Relations personnel are available by emalil

or telephone to answer questions from shareholders and the media as long as the information
requested does not conflict with the HKEX’s rules of fair disclosure. All investors and members of the
public are welcome to give their comments and make their enquiries through the Company’s website
(www.chinagasholdings.com.hk) or by email at investor@chinagasholdings.com.hk.

Annual General Meeting

The Company’s AGM gives an opportunity for the Board to communicate with shareholders and
provides an update on the performance of the Group. Shareholders are invited to ask questions and
to meet with the Directors both before the meeting and following the conclusion of the formal part of
the meeting.

Notice of the meeting and the related circular are dispatched to the shareholders of the Company at
least 20 business days before the meeting. Separate resolution for each substantial issue, including
the election of director, is proposed at the AGM and details of the poll voting procedures and rights
of shareholders to demand a poll are included in the related circular. Poll results in respect of each
resolution proposed at the AGM would be published by way of an announcement after the closure of
the meeting.
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Two shareholders’ meetings were held in 2009. Details of them are summarized as follows:

Meeting Date

Resolutions

SGM 28 August 2009

AGM 28 August 2009

1.

To approve the grant of share options to the Directors and
refreshment of share option scheme mandate limit

To receive the report of the Directors and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009

To declare final dividends

To re-elect Directors and to authorize the Directors to fix the
Directors’ remuneration

To re-appoint the auditors and to authorize the Directors to
fix their remuneration

To grant general mandates to repurchase shares and issue
shares

To amend the bye-laws of the Company

Our 2010 AGM will be held in August this year and the notice of the meeting and the related circular
will be dispatched to the shareholders of the Company in mid-July.

Share Capital

The Company provides a regular update on information relating to the Company’s share capital and
other movements in its securities to the Stock Exchange (in both Chinese and English versions)
within five business days next following the end of each calendar month and the same can be found
in the Company’s website (www.chinagasholdings.com.hk).

As at 31 March 2010, the issued share capital of the Company was 3,361,036,151 shares.
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Shareholders Information
The following table details the location of our shareholders as of 31 March 2010.

Location of Number of % of the issued

Shareholders (Note 1) shares held share capital

Hong Kong 2,545,269,091 75.73

(Note 2)

China 218,200,000 6.49

India 210,000,000 6.25

Oman 237,567,060 7.07

Philippines 150,000,000 4.46

Total 3,361,036,151 100.00

Notes:

1. The location of shareholders is prepared according to the addresses of shareholders registered in the
register of members of the Company.

2. These shares include 2,362,820,480 Shares registered in the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited which

may hold these shares on behalf of its clients in or outside of Hong Kong.

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in preparing the financial statements and ensure that
the financial statements are in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The statement of the Auditors, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of the
Financial Report 2010.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group recognizes the importance of corporate social responsibility and has made considerable
efforts to participate in different forms of community activities. Details of these activities are set out in
our Corporate Social Responsibility Report of the 2010 Annual Report.

Continuous Improvement

We believe that enhancement of our governance practices is necessary to suit the changing
needs and we are committed to reviewing these governance practices on an ongoing basis and
incorporating necessary improvements from time to time.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF BOARD MEMBERS

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiao Yun, aged 54, is a Director of the Company since August 2001 and appointed as
Chairman of the Company since April 2002. Mr. Li graduated from Beijing University in 1979 and
has substantial years experience in economic management. Mr. Li is currently the President of Haixia
Economy and Technology Cooperation Centre under Taiwan Affairs Office of the State Council of
China.

Mr. Xu Ying, aged 48, is a Director of the Company and appointed as Vice-Chairman of the
Company since August 2001. Mr. Xu graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University of Agriculture
and Biology. Mr. Xu is the President of China Review News Agency.

Mr. Liu Ming Hui, aged 47, is a Director of the Company since April 2002 and appointed as
Managing Director of the Company since July 2002. Mr. Liu received his Doctor of Business
Administration degree from Preston University, USA and is currently a Guest Professor of School
of Pubic Administration, Renmin University of China. He has substantial working experiences in
government authorities and Chinese enterprises.

Mr. Ma Jin Long, aged 43, is a Director of the Company since September 2002. Mr. Ma received
his Degree in Economics from Hebei University and EMBA from University of International Business
and Economics. He has substantial experiences in financial management. Mr. Ma is the President of
Beijing Zhongran Xiangke Oil Gas Technology Company Limited.

Mr. Zhu Wei Wei, aged 37, is a Director of the Company since September 2002. Mr. Zhu received
his Master degree in Finance from Zhong-nan University of Finance & Economic. Mr. Zhu has
substantial experiences in financing and project management.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Feng Zhuo Zhi, aged 54, appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company in May 2005.
Mr. Feng graduated from 71 A R B IR E /8 3818 BT (Artillery College of the People’s Liberation
Army) and is currently the General Manager of a subordinate company of Haixia Economy and
Technology Cooperation Centre under Taiwan Affairs Office of the State Council of China.

Mr. Joe Yamagata, aged 55, appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in October
2006. He received a master degree in Management from Massachusetts Institute of Technology and
is specialized in international management and finance and is currently a Deputy Director General of
Private Sector Operations Department of Asian Development Bank. Prior joining Asian Development
Bank in 1994, Mr. Yamagata has been working in Toshiba Corporation, Tokyo, Japan for 15 years.

Mr. R.K. Goel, aged 59, appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in December 2006.
Mr. Goel possesses over 30 years of experiences in financial management in major oil and gas
companies in India. He has obtained his Bachelor of Honours Degree in Commerce with merit from
Punjab University, India and is a fellow member of the Indian Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India. He joined GAIL (India) Limited in 1988 and is currently the Director (Finance) of GAIL (India)
Limited. Mr. Goel has had a rich experience in the area of project evaluation, financial appraisal of
projects and international experience of oil & gas companies world wide specially relating to tariff
fixation and regulatory issues.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010



Mr. Moon Duk Kyu, aged 58, appointed as a non-executive director fo the Company in April
2010. He graduated from Korea University and is currently the representative director of SK E&S,
a subsidiary of SK Group which is specializing in city gas distribution, power generation and
energy-related business and services. Mr. Moon joined SK Group since 1975 and has substantial
experiences in international financial management.

Mr. Mulham Al Jarf, aged 40, appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in April 2010.

He was a graduate of International Business & Finance from Marymount University and a registered
Barrister at the Bar of England & Wales. He is currently the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of OOC.
He has substantial experience in the energy sector. Mr. Al Jarf was previously Head of Project &
Structured Finance at OOC, Legal Counsel at OOC, Legal Officer at Oman Gas Company SAOC,
and Legal Researcher at the Ministry of Oil & Gas. Prior to that he was a Business Planning Officer

and then Legal Researcher at GTO (now Omantel), and also worked at INTESLAT in Washington DC.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Yu Hua, aged 43, appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in November 2002. Mr. Zhao graduated from Institute of International Economy, Nankai University
and holds a master degree in economics. He joined J&A Securities Company in 1993, engaging in
corporate financing and advisory business.

Dr. Mao Er Wan, aged 47, appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in January 2003. Dr. Mao graduated from Mathematics and System Sciences, Chinese Academy of
Sciences and holds a Doctor Degree. He was the Chief Economist of Da Cheng Fund Management
Co. Ltd. He is currently a deputy professor of School of International Business, Beijing Foreign
Studies University, a committee member of China Institute of Finance, Financial Engineering, deputy
director of Financial and Securities Institute of BFSU and deputy director of Financial Quantity
Analysis & Computation Committee.

Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia, aged 58, appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company in October 2003. Ms. Wong is currently a Deputy General Manager of China Merchants
Holdings (International) Company Limited and is responsible for finance. Ms. Wong holds a MBA
degree. She held various senior positions at reputable international investment banks including
Societe Generale, Deutsche Morgan Grenfell, Samuel Montague and Bear Stearns Asia for over 15
years during which period she had advised more than 50 companies in Greater China and Asia in
their equity, equity finance or equity-related activities.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2010.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its associates, jointly
controlled entities and principal subsidiaries are set out in notes 20, 21 and 53, respectively, to the
consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2010.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income of the Financial Report 2010.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$1.7 cents per share for the year
ended 31 March 2010 to the holders of ordinary shares of the Company whose names appear on
the Registrar of Members of the Company on 19 August 2010 subject to shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The final dividend, if approved by the shareholders, is expected to be payable on or about 30
September 2010.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out in the Financial Report 2010.

Investment Properties and Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at the year end date. The net increase in fair
value of investment properties, which has been credited to statement of comprehensive income,
amounting to HK$44,645,000.

Details of these and other movements during the year in investment properties and property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Financial Report 2010 respectively.

Major Properties

Details of the major properties of the Group at 31 March 2010 are set out in the Financial Report
2010.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2010.
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Distributable Reserves of the Company

The Company’s reserve available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2010 comprised the
accumulated profits of HK$267,806,000.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors
Mr. Li Xiao Yun

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Liu Ming Hui

Mr. Ma Jin Long

Mr. Zhu Wei Wei

Non-executive directors

Mr. Feng Zhuo Zhi

Mr. Jo Yamagata

Mr. R. K. Goel

Mr. Kim Joong Ho (resigned on 13 April 2010)
Mr. William Rackets (resigned on 13 April 2010)
Mr. Moon Duk Kyu (appointed on 13 April 2010)
Mr. Mulham Al Jarf (appointed on 13 April 2010)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Zhao Yu Hua

Dr. Mao Er Wan

Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Li Xiao Yun, Mr. Xu Ying, Mr. Feng
Zhuo Zhi, Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia, Mr. Mulham Al Jarf and Mr. Moon Duk Kyu shall retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive or independent non-executive director is the period up to
his/her retirement by rotation in accordance with the above clause of the Company’s Bye-laws.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

Each of Mr. Xu Ying and Mr. Liu Ming Hui had entered into a service agreement with the Company
commencing from 1 Apri 2008 for a period of three years.
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Retirement Benefits Scheme

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements set out in the Financial Report 2010.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests In Shares

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executives of

the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) which
(a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”), were as follows:

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Shares”)

Approximate

percentage or

Number of attributable

Nature attributable number percentage of

Name of director of interest of Shares held shareholdings (%)

(Note)

Mr. Liu Ming Hui Personal 391,624,000(L) 11.65
(“Mr. Liu”)

Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Personal 1,000,000(L) 0.03%

Cynthia

L: Long position

Note: On 9 July 2010, the Company was notified by Mr. Liu and Hai Xia Finance Holdings Limited
(“Hai Xia”) that the sale and purchase agreement dated 8 March 2005 entered into between Hai
Xia and Mr. Liu was lapsed.
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(b) Share Options

Approximate
percentage
No. of to issued
Name No. of options Nature of Interest underlying shares  share capital (%)
Li Xiao Yun 15,000,000 Beneficial Owner 15,000,000 0.45%
Xu Ying 195,000,000 Beneficial Owner 195,000,000 5.80%
Liu Ming Hui 235,000,000 Beneficial Owner 235,000,000 7.00%
Zhu Wei Wei 14,000,000 Beneficial Owner 14,000,000 0.42%
Ma Jin Long 13,940,711 Beneficial Owner 13,940,711 0.41%
Zhao Yu Hua 4,700,000 Beneficial Owner 4,700,000 0.14%
Mao Er Wan 4,000,000 Beneficial Owner 4,000,000 0.12%
Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia 3,000,000 Beneficial Owner 3,000,000 0.09%
Feng Zhuo Zhi 3,000,000 Beneficial Owner 3,000,000 0.09%
R.K. Goel 3,000,000 Beneficial Owner 3,000,000 0.09%
William Rackets (Note 2) 3,000,000 Beneficial Owner 3,000,000 0.09%
Joe Yamagata 3,000,000 Beneficial Owner 3,000,000 0.09%
Kim Joong Ho (Note 2) 3,000,000 Beneficial Owner 3,000,000 0.09%
Sub-total 499,640,711 499,640,711

Note 1: The share options were granted under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 6
February 2003 and the holders thereof are entitled to subscribe for Shares at an exercise price
and exercise period as disclosed in the section headed “Share Options” below.

Note 2: Resigned as director of the Company on 13 April 2010

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010 none of the directors nor the chief executives of

the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part

XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant

to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to

be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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Share Options

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme and details of movements in the share options
under the share option scheme during the year are set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Financial Report 2010.

No. of No. of No. of
options options options
granted exercised lasped No. of
No. of during during during options
Options the financial ~ the financial  the financial  outstanding
Exercise as at year ended year ended year ended as at
Name Exercise period Price 1 April 2009 31 Mar2010 31 Mar2010 31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2010
(HK9)

Directors
Li Xiao Yun 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
20 Oct 2010 to 19 Oct 2015 1.5 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
Xu Ying 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
22 Nov 2004 to 5 Oct 2014 0.71 90,000,000 - - - 90,000,000
3 Aug 2009 to 2 Aug 2019 2.1 - 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000
Liu Ming Hui 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
22 Nov 2004 to 5 Oct 2014 0.71 130,000,000 - - - 130,000,000
3 Aug 2009 to 2 Aug 2019 2.1 - 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000
Zhu Wei We 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
20 Mar 2005 to 5 Oct 2014 0.71 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Ma Jin Long 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 9,240,711 - 3,300,000 - 5,940,711
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 21 - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Zhao Yu Hua 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
1 Jan 2005 to 5 Oct 2014 0.71 700,000 - - - 700,000
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Mao Er Wan 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Wong Sin Yue, 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - -
Cynthia 1 Jan 2005 to 5 Oct 2014 071 700,000 - 700,000 - -
3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Feng Zhuo Zhi 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
RK. Goel 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Wiliam Rackets 3 Aug 2011 t0 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Joe Yamagata 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Kim Joong Ho 3 Aug 2011 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Sub-total 263,640,711 237,000,000 5,000,000 - 495,640,711
Other Employees 1 Sept 2004 to 8 Jan 2014 08 47,130,000 - 10,250,000 - 36,880,000
20 Mar 2005 to 5 Oct 2014 0.71 88,160,000 - 3,160,000 - 86,000,000
20 Oct 2010 to 19 Oct 2015 15 151,800,000 - - - 151,800,000
27 Jan 2011 to 26 Jan 2016 1.52 6,500,000 - - - 6,500,000
19 Sept 2008 to 22 Aug 2017 2.32 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
3 Sept 2009 to 6 Aug 2018 1.77 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
3 Sept 2010 to 6 Aug 2018 1.77 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
3 Aug 2009 to 2 Aug 2019 2.1 - 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000
3 Aug 2012 to 2 Aug 2014 2.1 - 583,394,000 - - 53,394,000
14 Qct 2009 to 16 Sept 2014 2.6 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
17 Sept 2012 to 16 Sept 2014 2.0 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
Sub-total 299,590,000 163,394,000 13,410,000 - 449,574,000
Total 563,230,711 400,394,000 18,410,000 - 945214711
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 31 2010 so far as was known to the directors and the chief executives of the
Company, the following persons (not being directors or chief executive of the Company), had or was
deemed to have, an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value

of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
other member of the Group:

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of
Name of shareholder Notes Nature of interest Total shareholdings (%)
Ms. Xu Xau Lan 1 Deemed interest 626,624,000 (L) 18.64
Hai Xia 2 Beneficial owner 227,500,008 (L) 6.77
China Petroleum & Chemical Beneficial owner 210,000,000 (L) 6.24
Corporation
GAIL (India) Limited Beneficial owner 210,000,000 (L) 6.24
Oman Qil Company, S.A.0.C. Beneficial owner 237,567,060 (L) 7.07
L: Long position
Notes:
(1) Ms. Xu Xau Lan is deemed to be interested in the shares held by her spouse, Mr. Liu, the managing

director of the Company.
2) On 9 July 2010, the Company was notified by Mr. Liu and Hai Xia that the sale and purchase
agreement dated 8 March 2005 entered into between Hai Xia and Mr. Liu was lapsed.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2010 the directors and the chief executives of the
Company were not aware of any person (other than the directors and the chief executive of the
Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interest or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who are, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

Other than those set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significances, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue. The
five largest supplies of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchase.

At no time during the year did any director, any associate of a director, or any shareholder, which
to the knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have any
beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the senior management of the Group is set up by the Remuneration
Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible
employees, details of the scheme is set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements of
the Financial Report 2010.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
shareholders.

Appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive director, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.
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Sufficiency of Public Float
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2010

Post Balance Sheet Events

Details of the significant events occurring after the balance sheet date are set out in note 52 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Financial Report 2010.

Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint, Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Ming Hui
Managing Director

7 July 2010
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Deloitte.
=E)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 3 to
138, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2010
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
7 July 2010

02 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

ERPERTRFARREEEAMBRRMESD
BEREENNEZER - IR TENREFBURRZ
ZEDR HE - ERFFEENRFRERMERGE
BBBRFAERERBANER - £ EZER
BRE ZEEZEEEZARGRELEEN AT
Wir e M MREBOREES - ARFEENE
PR BYIEAH AR A EBEHINREERE
R BRNEEFEEEMRANSHAHRENAE
MR PIEL B & AT NS B - AR ELES Y
BHMRNWBEIIH TR o

RITHE  RNTAEFSHNERBERR B
RATHERE RREER -

(e
JillS
=

ARBEMTRRGEAVBRROEBBEET B R
SRANEERAFHRREEEAR _T-TF=H
=T RZMBAREEREBEZRA LFE 24
MBS RE  WERRESL R RIERD 2 55 &
REMZZMmEL -

mE e BERST AT

HEFETRD
BB
—E—EZF+HLH



For the year ended 31 March 2010 &#{Z — T —ZF =-A=+—HI&FE

2009
—ZTTNF
Notes HK$’'000
B = FHIT
Revenue WA 7 10,211,959 6,323,823
Cost of sales HEK A (8,095,667) (4,894,474)
Gross profit EH| 2,116,292 1,429,349
Other income E A A 8 273,885 225,756
Other gains and losses H bl & B 18 9 295,805 (490,131)
Selling and distribution costs HE R D HEAR (445,012) (330,414)
Administrative expenses TERAX (606,658) (468,475)
Finance costs M E R 10 (522,677) (409,800)
Discounts on acquisition of an  WEEB & N F] - XEZEH ZEE
associate, a jointly controlled N ER 2Tk
entity and businesses 11 176,387 236,262
Share of results of associates FE(REE & DR 2 4 20 (114,402) 12,884
Profit before taxation B 253 B Al 1,173,620 205,431
Taxation T8 12 (158,119) (71,472)
Profit for the year NSl 13 1,015,501 133,959
Other comprehensive income HEfb2mEmlA
Increase in fair value on A E ZIRE R FEE M
available-for-sale investments 7,958 8,452
Exchange difference arising REEACZENEZRS
on translation 1,240 12,993
Other comprehensive income RNEZEMEEBA
for the year 9,198 21,445
Total comprehensive income REEREP AL
for the year 1,024,699 155,404
Profit for the year attributable to: FE & FI5FE -
Owners of the Company ZN/NCIEZ RN 875,636 103,679
Minority interests DR R 139,865 30,280
1,015,501 133,959
Total comprehensive income 2HRABERS :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZN/NCIEZ RN 884,834 113,994
Minority interests DEUIR R 139,865 41,410
1,024,699 155,404
Earnings per share BRRZE A 16
Basic 2R HK26.19 centsi&fl HK3.11 cents/&{ll
Diluted s HK19.82 centsi 1l HK2.93 cents/& Ll

SRR B RA A

2010 B ¥R S 03



At 31 March 2010 R=F—ZFF=A=+—H

2009
—EENF
Notes HK$'000
B 7 FHE T
(restated)
(E751)
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment properties "EME 17 343,158 295,127
Property, plant and equipment ¥% - BiE K& E 18 11,064,337 9,132,277
Prepaid lease payments A HERIE 19 957,655 869,075
Interests in associates REE AR 2 E= 20 957,709 1,000,966
Available-for-sale investments AEHEZRE 22 82,838 41,995
Derivative financial instrument $744&® T A 29 9,759 =
Goodwill [EES 23 900,577 684,467
Other intangible assets Hi\EPEE 24 1,254,675 320,297
Deposits for acquisition of WEMZE BERSEZES
property, plant and
equipment 254,751 276,197
Prepayment for acquisition of WHENB AR REE QR Z
a subsidiary and TET IR
an associate - 63,218
Amounts due from associates JE W Bt i A B FRIB 30 - 68,966
Deferred tax assets REFIBEE 39 88,155 56,890
15,913,614 12,809,475
Current assets MEEE
Inventories FE 26 564,163 540,898
Amounts due from customers BREFZAEHTERIEA
for contract work 27 103,265 219,993
Trade and other receivables B 5 & W AR 3k K H At g U AR 18 28 1,871,061 1,285,698
Derivative financial instruments 744 ® T A 29 2,909 1,261
Amounts due from associates JE U Bt 5 R B 3R IB 30 138,236 243,250
Prepaid lease payments A E A 19 27,459 16,173
Held-for-trading investments FEEERA 31 15,468 11,544
Pledged bank deposits BIEFRITER 32 489,103 847,759
Bank balances and cash RITEGERAS 32 3,872,316 2,048,698
7,083,980 5,215,274
Current liabilities MEAE
Trade and other payables BZREMERREMEMNEKE 33 3,182,020 2,603,313
Derivative financial instruments 744/ T A 29 - 782
Amounts due to customers ERERPZEHATERIEA
for contract work 27 239,316 121,743
Taxation TIE 146,162 51,733
Amounts due to associates JESTBS 8 A B 3R IB 30 23,867 =
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE -
due within one year R —F A F| B 34 5,294,761 3,103,855
8,886,126 5,881,426
Net current liabilities mEBAEFE (1,802,146) (666,152)
Total assets less current liabilities #EBER T AE 14,111,468 12,143,323
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
meEMBERRE

At 31 March 2010 A=—ZE—ZTF=A=+—8

2010 2009
—E—2F —EThEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B = FHET FHT
(restated)
(&%)
Equity Eam
Share capital &N B85 33,610 33,336
Reserves G 4,089,412 3,189,934
Equity attributable to owners SEBANRE AR
of the Company 4,123,022 3,223,270
Minority interests D BR R = 1,107,215 758,858
Total equity R 5,230,237 3,982,128
Non-current liabilities EmBBE
Derivative financial instruments $T4 &/ T A 29 - 360,087
Amount due to a minority B —RMEAR—%
shareholder of a subsidiary DB R FIE 37 356,591 356,591
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMES —
due after one year R—F1& 5 5 34 8,021,345 7,194,067
Convertible bonds AR (E 5 38 - 14,823
Deferred taxation IEAEF I 39 503,295 235,627
8,881,231 8,161,195
14,111,468 12,143,323

The consolidated financial statements on pages 3 to 138 were %
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 =
®

SEEFI1BBEZRAUBBRREAESSTR =
TECACAMEREERTIA FIESA

i/

s

July 2010 and are signed on its behalf by: BZ2
XU YING LIU MING HUI
"R 218918
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF BEF

BT AR AR 05
2010 B H5 s



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HHZ=—ZT—ZTF =A==+ —HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRALAER
Employee
share-based Investment  Properties
Share Share compensation Translation revaluation revaluation ~ Special  Statutory Accumulated Minority
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  reseve  reserve funds profits Total interests Total
EaRH REER  RER HEBR
Ba  BEEE HHEE EXRE fif BE GHRE  fREE A &3 ER 3t
HK$000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TEn  TRr TR TR TR TEn TR TEn  TEr TR TR TER
(note 36)  (note 36) (note i) (note ii)
(Hise)  (Hitsp) () (W)
At 1 April 2008 RZZZ)\ERA-A 33314 1949866 49333 283690 (8452 1,601 1602 77,694 751924 3140572 545435 3,686,007
Other comprehensive income B AHRERA
for the year - - - 1863 8,452 - - - 10315 11130 21445
Proft for the year RERAT = - - - - - - 103679 103679 30,280 133,959
Total comprehensive income ~ AEE2AUALE
for the year - - - 1,863 8,452 - - 103679 113994 41410 155404
Recognition of equity-setfled ~ ERZRALR 2
share based payments iR - - 691 - - - - - 691 - 698
Exercise of share options fifkiE 2 169 - - - - - B i - 1720
Acquisitions of subsidiaries  KEHEBAR - - - - - - - - - 204899 204899
Capital contribution from HEAR BRELE
minority shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 14175 14,175
Dividends paid by subsidiaries  HEATER )4
to its minority shareholders ~ REZE - - - - - - - - - (47061)  (47,061)
Dividends paid Bfika = - = = = - - (39,997)  (39997) - (39997)
Transfer g% - - - - - - W26 (34216) - - -
At 31 March 2009, as restated  MZESAFZAZT-H (E5]) 33336 1951564 56314 285,563 - 1,601 1602 111,910 781,390 3223270 758,858 3,982,128
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z — T —ZF=-A=+—HI&FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRALERR
Employee
share-based Investment  Properties
Share Share compensation Translation revaluation revaluation  Special  Statutory Accumulated Minority
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  reseve  reserve funds profits Total interests Total
EERH REEfH  DEER YRR
RE  ROEE HHEE  EXGER B BE GHRE feEe  RitEd it B& 3t
HK$'000  HKS000  HK§'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK§'000  HK$000  HK$'000
Ter TAr TR TEr  Thr  TEr TR TEr  TEn  TEr TR TEn
(note 36) ~ (note 36) (note i) (note ii)
(ise)  (Mitsp) () (i)
At 1 April 2009, as restated  R=ZENEMA-A (7)) 33,336 1,951,564 56,314 285553 - 1,601 1,602 111910 781,390 3223270 758,858 3,982,128
Other comprehensive FERAMZEUA
income for the year - - - 1,240 7,958 - - - - 9,198 - 9,198
Profit for the year K& = = = = - - - - 875636 875636 139,865 1,015,501
Total comprehensive income  AEE2ENALE
for the year - - - 1,240 7,958 - - - 875636 884,834 139,865 1,024,699
Recognition of equity-settled BRRRAEN 2 RAFAM
share based payments - - 32810 - - - - - - 32810 - 3870
Exercise of share options  f1EERE 184 14,19 - - - - - - - 14,380 - 14380
Issue of new ordinary shares ZfTLER 90 14,254 - - - - - - - 14344 - 14344
Acquisitions of subsidiaries  AEHELH - - - - - - - - - - 332935 33293
Acquisitions of additional  KEHBA T R
interest of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (5,284)  (5,284)
Transfer fo accumulated  RMHEAREHEREER
profits upon disposal of 23
jointly controlled entities - - - (9,066) - - = = 9,066 = = =
Transfer to accumulated  REENBAARREZiHET
profits upon disposal
of a subsidiary ‘ - - - (62) - - - - 62 - - -
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HEHBAF(HiE43)
(note 43) ) - - - - - - - - - - (1313 (1.373)
Capital contribution from ~ KEARSERELE
minority shareholders
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 9,280 9,280
Commitment to acquire KB aRRER AR
minority interest (note i) ( - - - - - - - - - - (94991)  (94,991)
Dividends paid by subsidiaries HB A7 A SHR
to its minority shareholders  Zf& - - - - - - - - - - (32,015)  (32,075)
Dividends paid EfiRE = = = = = - - - (46,676)  (46,676) - (46,676)
Transfer &% - - - - - - - 106,217 (106,217) - - -
At 31 March 2010 NZE-FEA=1-A 33610 1,980,014 89,184 277,665 7,958 1,601 1602 218,127 1,513,261 4,123,022 1,107,215 5,230,237
Note: (i)  The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between Mzt : NEB2SRIRFEDIERRRMBEENEBREZ
the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries O EEERARARBRONR —ANLBEFE EHAIETT
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the SESHPHKBEMNBARMBETZROZEE
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the MEZZEZH -
listing of the Company’s shares in 1995.

(i)  In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic BEPFEAREIME([FE] - TEEES)NE
of China, other than Hong Kong (the “PRC"), subsidiaries registered FEHRTE - R BN E QR AR R SR
in the PRC are required to transfer a certain percentage of the EHFEFWAXEEOLLBEEEZEES  BEE
annual net income from accumulated profits to the statutory EESEHEHFMERNS0% AL - E—RIFN
funds, until the statutory funds are accumulated up to 50% T ZEHETEBIRTHREEARE - AEHE
of their registered capital. Under normal circumstances, the SEARAERBER BRCEHANERRNE
statutory funds are not allowed to be distributed to shareholders BAEEREE -
as dividends. The statutory funds shall only be used for making
good losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of
its productions and operations.

(iii) During the year, the Group entered a sales and purchase agreement FR - AEEEPE - RNBARNLHRES
with the minority shareholder of a subsidiary in the PRC in respect VEEm® NEBRIERREARKES2642,000
of the acquisition of 12.5% equity interest in the subsidiary of the JC(#994,991,0007 7T ) U 8 A & & M B A &l
Group, Zhejiang Zhongyou Hua Dian Energy Co. Ltd. (“Zhongyou IR METEREBRABN([HHES ) 12.5%K
Hua Dian”) for a consideration of RMB82,642,000 (approximate o RBENBERRAIS  EEBZ SRR
to HK$94,991,000). The consideration has been paid before end EREIM AR TR ©

of the reporting period. The transaction has not been completed
at the end of the reporting period.



For the year ended 31 March 2010 &%= — =

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Change in fair value of
investment properties
Impairment loss recognised on
available-for-sale investments
Impairment loss on amounts
due from customers for
contract work
Allowance for trade receivables
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease
payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
Change in fair value of
held-for-trading investments
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of jointly
controlled entities
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Loss on disposal of an associate
Interest expense
Share of results of associates
Discounts on acquisition of
an associate, a jointly
controlled entity and businesses
Share-based payments
Interest income
Change in fair value of
derivative financial instruments
Net exchange gain

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Decrease in inventories

Decrease in amounts due from
customers for contract work

(Increase) decrease in trade
and other receivables

Decrease in held-for-trading
investments

Decrease in trade and
other payables

Increase in amount due to
customers for contract work

(Decrease) increase in amount
due to minority shareholders
of subsidiaries

Increase in amount due to
shareholders of jointly
controlled entities

Cash from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

08 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes

B

1,173,620

(44,645)

51,418
75,112

474,668

27,987
20,019

(11,798)
4,253
5,814

(141)
1,190

522,677
114,402

(176,387)
32,870
(34,891)

(372,755)

1,863,413
4,630

61,941
(426,197)
7,874
(264,130)
117,573
(17,823)
3,105
1,350,386

(98,556)

1,251,830

2009
—TTNF
HK$'000
FAT
(restated)

(&7)

205,431

(5,726)
14,947
36,864
53,883
333,914

20,614
12,685

27,564

409,800
(12,884)

(236,262)
6,981
(59,290)

366,320
(63,366)

1,111,475
55,114

26,668
194,450
23,843
(454,357)
105,720

22,292

1,085,205
(62,553)

1,022,652



INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Repayment of loan receivable

Decrease (increase) in amounts
due from associates

Deposits paid for acquisition

of property, plant and equipment

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Addition of property, plant and
equipment

Addition of prepaid lease payments

Addition of available-for-sale
investments

Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Acquisition of assets through
purchase of subsidiaries,
net of cash and cash
equivalents acquired

Acquisition additional interest in
a jointly controlled entity,
net of cash and cash
equivalents acquired

Acquisition of jointly controlled
entities, net of cash and
cash equivalents acquired

Acquisition of businesses,
net of cash and cash
equivalents acquired

Disposal of jointly controlled
entities, net of cash and
cash equivalents received

Disposal of an associate

Disposal of a subsidiary

Acquisition of interests in
associates

Advance to minority shareholders
of subsidiaries

Repayment from (advance to)
shareholders of jointly
controlled entities

Settlement of deferred
consideration in respect of
prior year’s acquisition of
subsidiaries

Capital injection into a jointly
controlled entity

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2010 &% —=

Notes

B

REED

WA A

EE B &

& W gk 2 2 B SR IE0R A (300

WiEME  BERRBENRSE

BEMRITEIRD
REWE  BEERE

NEBENEEFR
REAREERE

HEME - BE RREMEHA

BRBAMBARIKERE
MR RE MR EEER

40
W REH BB IMER - MR
FIBReRBE&EEER

41(A)
U HRIEFIE RS - Mk
FiERe kRS EBEIEE
41(B)
WHERETS - MBRAIBHR S
kIRE&EEBIER
42
HEHRRIEGIEEE - MERAE
ﬁ:%&ﬁ@#{élﬁiﬁ
44
tlj'éﬂé‘%zéﬁﬂ 20(d)
HENBA 43
Hﬂlﬁ%ﬂﬁ’ﬁ%“TZTE
BN ¢S =
(M) R E S
HX%ETM(ETM)

BEEFRENBARZEME

BHEEEE

RETDRAREFR

34,891

173,980

(112,886)
358,656

(1,128,699)
(36,118)

(43,736)

6,169

(8,317)

(7,438)

(656,434)

32,519
330

(1,180)

(34,771)

(141,895)

41,667

(48,068)

(23,449)

(1,594,779)

—ZF=A=+—RLFE

2009
ZETNF
HK$’000
FHAT
(restated)
(&51)

59,290
15,000

(58,915)

(277,606)
33,530

(1,423,094)
(40,075)

1,636

(28,358)

(20,042)

(241,485)

(3,301)

(23,843)

(22,517)

(2,029,880)

T B RIER R A A) 09
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z — T —ZF=A=+—HILFE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid
Proceeds from issue of
ordinary shares
Dividends paid
New bank and other
borrowings raised
Repayments of bank and
other borrowings
(Repayment to) advance from
shareholders of
jointly controlled entities
Advance from minority
shareholders of subsidiaries
Advance from associates
Advance payment for acquisition
of additional interest
in a subsidiary
Capital contribution from minority
shareholders of subsidiaries
Dividend paid by subsidiaries to
its minority shareholders

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES
OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash
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Bt 5

(473,432)

14,380
(46,676)

6,915,685

(4,147,562)

(12,728)

2,870
23,867

(94,991)
9,280

(32,075)

2,158,618

1,815,669
2,048,698

7,949

3,872,316

3,872,316

2009
—ZTNF
HK$'000
FHET
(restated)

(E75)

(360,066)

1,720
(39,997)

3,894,133

(2,015,180)

34,255

18,640

14,175

(47,061)

1,600,619

493,391
1,610,044

45,263

2,048,698

2,048,698



The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office and
principal place of business are disclosed in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of the Group’s annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out note 53.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and the functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB”). As the Company is
a listed entity in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated
financial statements in HKS.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (“new
and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
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HKAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
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HKAS 23 Borrowing costs
(Revised 2007)
HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable financial instruments and
(Amendments) obligations arising on liquidation
HKFRS 1 & Cost of an investment in a subsidiary,
HKAS 27 jointly controlled entity or associate
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 Vesting conditions and cancellations
(Amendment)

HKFRS 7 Improving disclosures about
(Amendment) financial instruments

HKFRS 8 Operating segments

HK(IFRIC) - INT 9 &
HKAS 39
(Amendments)

Embedded derivatives
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HK(IFRIC) — INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes

HK(IFRIC) — INT 15 Agreements for the construction of
real estate

Hedges of a net investment in
a foreign operation

Transfers of assets from customers

HK(IFRIC) - INT 16

HK(IFRIC) - INT 18

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued
(Amendments) in 2008, except for the amendment
to HKFRS 5 that is effective for
annual periods beginning or
after 1 July 2009
HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
(Amendments) 2009 in relation to the amendment

to paragraph 80 of HKAS 39

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the current or prior
accounting periods.

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes
(including revised titles for the consolidated financial statements)
and changes in the format and content of the consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has not resulted in a
redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments as compared
with the primary reportable segments determined in accordance
with HKAS 14 (see note 7).

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures required
in relation to fair value measurements in respect of financial
instruments which are measured at fair value. The Group
has not provided comparative information for the expanded
disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision set
out in the amendments.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Standards, Amendments or Interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of
(Amendments) improvements to HKFRSs 2008’

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs 20092
(Amendments)

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs 20102
(Amendments)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

Related party disclosures’

Consolidated and separate financial
statements’

HKAS 32 Classification of rights issues®
(Amendment)

HKAS 39 Eligible hedged items'
(Amendment)

HKFRS 1 Additional exemptions for first-time
(Amendment) adopters*

HKFRS 1 Limited exemption from comparative
(Amendment) HKFRS 7 disclosures for

first-time adopters®

HKFRS 2 Group cash-settled share-based

(Amendment) payment transactions*

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

Business combinations'

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments®
HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding
(Amendment) requirement’
HK(IFRIC) — INT 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to
owners'
HK(IFRIC) — INT 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with

equity instrument®
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U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009.

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010,
as appropriate.

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010 and 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
February 2010.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013.

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect
the accounting treatment for changes in the Group’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 April 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The Standard requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specially, debt investments that
(i) are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost. All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 will affect
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets.
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In addition, as part of “Improvements to HKFRSs 2009”, HKAS
17 “Leases” has been amended in relation to the classification
of leasehold land. The amendments will be effective from
1 April 2010, with earlier application permitted. Before the
amendments to HKAS 17, leasees were required to classify
leasehold land as operating leases and presented as prepaid
lease payments in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The amendments have removed such a requirement.
Instead, the amendments require the classification of leasehold
land to be based on the general principles set out in HKAS
17, that are based on the extent to which risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor
or the lessee. The application of the amendments to HKAS
17 might affect the classification and measurement of the
Group’s leasehold land.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new or revised Standards, Amendments or
Interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment properties and
certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair values,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.
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All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

On acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary, goodwill
is calculated as the difference between the consideration paid
for the additional interest and the carrying amount of the net
assets of the businesses attributable to the additional interest
acquired. If the Group’s additional interest in the net assets
of the subsidiaries exceeds the consideration paid for the
additional interest, the excess is recognised as income in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are recognised at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

If the initial accounting for a business combination can be
determined provisionally by the end of the period in which
the combination is effected because either the fair values to
be assigned to the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
or contingent liabilities or the cost of the combination can
be determined provisionally, the Group accounts for the
combination using those provisional values. The Group
recognises any adjustments to those provisional values as
a result of completing the initial accounting within one year
from the acquisition date. Any such adjustments are made
retrospectively as if those adjustments had been made at
the acquisition date.
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Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of
the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1
April 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of net assets and operation
of another entity or a jointly controlled entity for which the
agreement date is before 1 April 2005 represents the excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group's interest in the fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the relevant
acquiree at the date of acquisition.

For previously capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions of
net assets and operations another entity or a jointly controlled
entity before 1 April 2005, the Group has discontinued
amortisation from 1 April 2005 onwards, and such goodwill
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the cash generating unit to which the goodwill
relates may be impaired.

Capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1
April 2005

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business or a jointly
controlled entity is carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses and is presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1
April 2005 (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a business or a jointly controlled
entity, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal.

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
interests in associates are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate,
less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and
a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that associate.
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Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included
within the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested
for impairment separately. Instead, the entire carrying amount
of the investment is tested for impairment as a single asset.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment in the associate. Any reversal of impairment
loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the relevant associate.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over
the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities
using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share of each
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly
controlled entities are combined with the Group’s similar line
items, line by line, in the consolidated financial statements.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest
in jointly controlled entities is accounted for in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on
acquisition on a business or jointly controlled entities (see
above).

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity
of the Group, profits or losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity.
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Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas
(“LPG"), coke and gas appliances are recognised when the
gas or goods are delivered and title has passed.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Property, plant and equipment, which include land and buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods and services
or for administrative purposes, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
from derecognition of the asset is calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item and is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.
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Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for the
Group’s own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

Leasehold land held for undetermined future use

Leasehold land held for undetermined future use is regarded
as held for capital appreciation purpose and classified as an
investment property, and carried at fair value. Changes in fair
value of the leasehold land are recognised directly in profit
or loss for the period in which changes take place.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss
in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill when they
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values
can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets
is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, as measured by reference to the proportion
that contract cost incurred for work performed to date bear
the estimated total contract costs, except where this would
not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations
in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included
to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and
its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus
is shown as an amount due from customers for contract work.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is shown as an amount due to customers
for contract work. Amounts received before the related work
is performed are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
under trade and other receivables.
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Inventories, including construction materials, gas appliances
and gas for sales, LPG, coke, consumables and spare parts,
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease
is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of
the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests
in land are accounted for as operating leases and amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEFE

FE BREEEDH  FHEZMREHRER
AR - LPG » &1 B m B TR A
KA B FEME B BRIEE AR - KAZ N
R ANEEE o

EHERABEEMAE RS HERRE
HEEEAAA - MZSANIRISRE
HA - A EMBOTLIMERERL -

REFERHHEA

KERNESRADRERREREBEBENZ
FHUABREER - EEBRZHLERLY
RELEZVHEREKRAE  DNABENEEZ
FREELREHOFRAEREER R °

AEEEDEMEA

EERH R RN BB G SEEE SRR
BEY - ERRETIMERN Y B KEE
WH - AEOHAESREERAE LMY
B -

T RBFZHEFO L REFED IR
HESHEKOMEE - RIFHSEEE L
HEEBFHEELATEIR  ERIER - EH
HO-—REESBREHED - LIRS E
K FfE e MBS SEMAE - Bl
ZHEREALEENIER - WRAELD BN
BAORHEEH -

T B RIER R A A) 23
2010 B ¥R S



For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

24

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income, in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollar) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which a foreign
operation is disposed of.

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in jointly controlled entities, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction on production of qualifying assets, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

° itis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

Held-for-trading investments are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables including amounts due from associates, trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy
on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as (a) loan and receivable,
(b) held to maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. Available-for-sale financial assets
are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve,
until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation is reclassified to
profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those classified as held-for-trading,
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the
reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include Group’s past experience
of collecting payments and observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When the trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally
classified into financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss and other financial liabilities.
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Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fee paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premium
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised
on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount
due to a minority shareholder of a subsidiary, bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Convertible bonds that contain liability component and
conversion/redemption option derivatives

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain liability
and conversion/redemption option derivatives components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled other
than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is a conversion option derivative. The redemption
option derivatives represent the redemption at the option of
the bond holders before the maturity date. At the date of
issue, both the liability and conversion/redemption option
components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The conversion/redemption option derivative is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds
are allocated to the liability and conversion/redemption option
components in proportion to the allocation of the proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the conversion/redemption
option derivatives are charged to profit and loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.
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Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Obligation to acquire minority interests

A forward contract which contains an obligation to acquire
minority interest of a subsidiary is initially recognised at the
present value of the contracted amount (consideration payable)
with a corresponding debit to equity (minority interests) and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair
value on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair value
at the end of the reporting dates. Changes in the fair value of
derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
separated from the relevant host contracts (the liability
component) and deemed as held-for-trading when the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not
closely related to those of the host contracts, and the combined
contracts are not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. In all other circumstances, derivatives embedded are
not separated and are accounted for together with the host
contracts in accordance with appropriate standards. Where
the Group needs to separate an embedded derivative but is
unable to measure the embedded derivative, the combined
contract is treated as held-for-trading.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in other comprehensive income is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Share options granted to employees of the Company after
7 November 2002 and vested on or after 1 April 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with
a corresponding increase in equity (employee share-based
compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss over the remaining vesting period,
with a corresponding adjustment to employee share-based
compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to retained earnings.

Share options granted to employees of the Company and
vested before 1 April 2005

The financial impact of the share options granted and fully
vested before 1 April 2005 is not recorded in the consolidated
financial statements until such time as the options are exercised,
and no charge is recognised in profit or loss in respect of
the value of options granted in the year. Upon the exercise of
the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded
by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal
value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per
share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the
Company in the share premium account. Options which lapse
or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from
the register of outstanding options.
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Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives
of the related assets. Other government grants are recognised
as other income over the periods necessary to match them
with the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on
a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets, to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
In addition, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is
on indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group acquired a
business through a subsidiary of which the fair values of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired
were determined provisionally. During the year ended 31 March
2010, the Group made certain fair value adjustments, with
reference to the valuation reports, to the carrying amounts
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the business
acquired as a result of completing the initial accounting. The
adjustments to the fair values at the acquisition date of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities were
made as if initial accounting had been completed on the
acquisition date.

The cumulative effects of the above restatements on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2009 are summarised below:

RBE_ZTTZNF=A=1t—HLFEE &
SEER-—RWBLRKBES  MEPM
WHEZAHERNEE BEUNERKABEZR
FEDEREE BE_FT-TF=A=+
—HLLFE AEESEHERS  ROH
B TREMRBXBARINEERAEBR
EBzREE FHETAFEAR - R
WEHMABMEE  BEARKARAEZ
R EOFHET MG S NS R
B EL °

EREIEHR _FTANF=ZRA=1+—HZAK
SEBMRARZZEZEHMINMT

Subsequent
fair value
adjustments
on acquisition

As at of business As at
31 March (note 42(B)(i)) 31 March
2009 RIKBEBLEN 2009
R-ZBEANE HELNTERAE R=-ZZAF
ZA=+-—8 (MFE42(B)(i)) =A=+-—-8
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FH T
(originally stated) (restated)
(FRIR%) (&751)

Property, plant and Y - BE R
equipment 9,239,775 (107,498) 9,132,277
Goodwill ma 633,620 50,847 684,467
Interests in associates REEE QAR ER 1,006,332 (5,366) 1,000,966
Deferred taxation EERIE (262,501) 26,874 (235,627)
Other assets and liabilities HEENEAE (6,599,955) - (6,599,955)
Net assets FAEE 4,017,271 (35,143) 3,982,128
Minority interests DB R 794,001 (35,143) 758,858
Other reserves items HmFE#EEE 3,223,270 = 3,223,270
4,017,271 (35,143) 3,982,128

The above restatements did not result in respect of the
depreciation on properly, plant and equipment material
financial impact and related tax effect for the current and
prior years.

The above restatements relate to an acquisition which was
effected during the year ended 31 March 2009 and hence
have no financial impact on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 April 2008. Accordingly no restated
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April 2008
is presented.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
periods, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

The management of the Group uses their judgments in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not
quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly
used by market practitioners are applied. For derivative
financial instruments and convertible bonds with embedded
derivatives, assumptions are made based on quoted market
rates adjusted for specific features of the instrument.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate present value. When the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2010 was
HK$900,577,000 (2009: HK$684,467,000) with no impairment
loss recognised. Details of the value in use calculation are
set out in note 25.

At the end of the reporting period, management reconsidered
the recoverability of its intangible assets arising from the
acquisitions of businesses/assets, in which the carrying
amount at 31 March 2010 was HK$1,254,675,000
(2009: HK$320,297,000). The business of the cash generating
unit (“CGU”) continues to progress in a satisfactory manner.
Detailed valuation analysis has been carried out and management
is confident that the carrying amount of the asset will be
recovered in full. This situation will be closely monitored.
Any change in the business environment may lead to the
change of expected future cashflows in the future. If the
future recoverable amounts fall below the carrying amounts,
additional impairment is required.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account the estimated residual value. The Group assesses
annually the residual value and the useful life of the property,
plant and equipment and if the expectation differs from the
original estimates, such differences from the original estimates
will impact the depreciation charges in the year in which the
estimates change.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

BRBRZEZHRBERHRE ARG TH
BREAMEIEZRR(EEDHEE LR TE
BREEZEERBEZREELE KNGS
BZERREBR)MHAT -

AEEEEEANERMS L EREZSH
TEERFRECHET LR SEARSEZ
HE - MEREXBEEEAZEHEEITRAET
AER@ - TES M T ARABWGEITET
A7 MEESME - DitmSREFEDR
R UM TAZFFEDEIEHFE -

B RERTHBEREAGHEEMSRER
EOBRSEMNZFERAER - FEFEAEA
B AEEAGB RSB CSEMBEHELEY
ReEmE UWREE—GBEZHREUGE
BE - EBEEAXRERELREHE - 8
CELEARBEGE R_T—ZTF=-A=
+—H B2 ZKEM®EEAN0,577,000/% T
(ZZEZT N4 : 684,467,000/8 L) Ad&E
ERMEEE - TEEABEZFBHNW
FE25 o

RBEHR BEEEEFATRBES
BEESZEREEZAREREE &%
BREEER-_ZT—ZTF=-A=+—HBZKk
M8 A1,254,675,0008 ©T( =TT N 4F :
320,297,000/7L) - BB EEEM ([
CEABNNEBEEEREZER - 4
HEINMELET MEREERELEEZ
BRAEERISAZEHKE - EEBREIH
BEYE o XBIRIBZAMES ] EHF R ZE
RIS M EE o fin A R A] U Bl © FE K R
FREE - AIZAEL ZBEINRE ©

ME - BEERRBZTEDREMGF RS
HANREREELENE - WA KA R &
BE AEESRFFIEVE  BERRE
ZHRBBERABEEY  MEBRBAEFER
REEH - AIBRE[FTZEEZEE {5
BB ZFRN 2T ERBERTE -

BRI R A A) 35
2010 B RS



For the year ended 31 March 2010

"nE—

36

E-TF=A=t+-ALEE

As at 31 March 2010, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$1,675,899,000 (2009: HK$846,411,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset in relation to these
unused tax losses approximately to HK$1,631,806,000 (2009:
HK$824,338,000) has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In cases where there are
future profits generated to utilise the tax losses, a material
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
period in which such future profits are recorded.

Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the proportion of the contract costs incurred
for the work performed to date over the estimated total
contract costs. Accordingly, any changes to the estimated
total contract cost may have material impact on the contract
revenue recognised in each accounting period over the
contract term.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of
the Group consists of debts, which include the bank and
other borrowings, amount due to a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary and convertible bonds disclosed in notes 34, 37
and 38 respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 35,
reserves and accumulated profits as disclosed in consolidated
statements of changes in equity. The management reviews the
capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.
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Financial assets SREE
Available-for-sale investments A HERE
Held-for-trading investments FIEEERE
Loans and receivables B3 & W sk IE

(including cash and (BERE2 R
cash equivalents) ReEHBEIER)
FVTPL- Derivative BAFEFABER -

financial assets MESHEE

Financial liabilities CREE
Amortised cost B SH P AR
FVTPL- Derivative BRATFEFABR -

financial liabilities MESHEE

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-
sale investments, held-for-trading investments, amount due
from/to an associate, trade and other receivables, derivative
financial instruments, trade and other payables, amounts due
from/to minority shareholders of subsidiaries, bank and other
borrowings, pledged bank deposits and bank balances. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies applied by the Group on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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FHETT

82,838 41,995
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5,667,985 4,120,309
12,668 1,261
16,063,221 12,551,946
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Market risks

Currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and most of
the expenditures as well as capital expenditures are also
denominated in RMB. However, the Group has convertible
bonds, certain bank balances, trade payables and bank
and other borrowings that are not denominated in functional
currency of the respective group entities. The appreciation
or devaluation of RMB against foreign currencies may have
positive or negative impact on the results of operations of
the Group.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the director’'s monitor foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise. As at end of the reporting period, the
carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in foreign currency are as follows:

United States Dollars (“USD”) Emx([ZET])
HK$ BT

Japanese Yen (“JPY”) HE(BE])
Euro (“EUR”) BT (TET])

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2009: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against respective
foreign currencies and all other variables were held constant.
5% (2009: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used by management
in the assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currencies denominated monetary items
and adjusts its translation at the year end for a 5% (2009: 5%)
change in foreign currencies rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax profit for the year where
RMB strengthen 5% (2009: 5%) against the respective foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2009: 5%) weakening of RMB against
respective foreign currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.
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Market risks (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
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Interest rate risks

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on
interest rate level as well as potential impact on the Group’s
financial position arising from volatility. Interest rate swap is
the hedging instrument most commonly used by the Group to
manage interest rate exposure.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amount due to a minority
shareholder of a subsidiary and the convertible bonds issued
by the Group (see notes 34, 37 and 38 for details of these
borrowings and convertible bonds respectively). In relation to
the fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, the Group entered
into interest rate swaps to manage its exposures to changes
in fair values of the borrowings. These hedging activities do
not qualify for hedge accounting. The changes in fair value of
the interest rate swaps are recognised in the profit and loss
as they arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank and other
borrowings (see notes 32 and 34 for details of bank balances
and these borrowings respectively). It is the Group’s policy to
keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise
the fair value interest rate risk.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Market risks (Continued)

Interest rate risks (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rate risk for both floating-rate bank and
other borrowings and interest rate swaps, together with the
interest capitalised to construction in progress at the end of
the reporting period. Floating-rate bank balances have not
been included in the sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the interest rate would not fluctuate significantly
in the near future and therefore the financial impact to the
group is not significant. A change of 100 basis points (2009:
100 basis points) was applied to the yield curves and interest
rate on both floating-rate bank and other borrowings and
interest rate swap, together with the interest capitalised to
construction in progress. The applied change is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. If the interest rate
of variable rate bank and other borrowings and interest rate
swaps, together with the interest capitalised to construction in
progress had been 100 basis points (2009: 100 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year, after taking amount of
interest capitalised, would increase/decrease by HK$87,870,000
(2009: HK$192,710,000).

Equity price risk

The Group’s available-for-sale investments and held-for-trading
investments are measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity
security price risk. The management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk
profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument
at the reporting date. A 10% (2009: 10%) change is used
when reporting equity price risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in equity price.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, if the market bid prices of
the listed investments had been 10% (2009: 10%) higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax
profit for the year would increase/decrease by HK$1,292,000
(2009: HK$1,404,000) and the Group’s investment revaluation
reserve will increase/decrease by HK$1,323,000 (2009: nil)
respectively. This is mainly attributable to the changes in fair
values of the listed held-for-trading investments and available-
for-sale investments respectively.
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Market risks (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counter parties
or debtors in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amounts of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at each half-reporting end date
and end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Other than concentration of credit risk on amounts due from
associates, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties
and customers. In order to minimise the credit risk on amount
due from an associate, the directors of the Company closely
monitors the subsequent settlement and does not grant long
credit period to the counterparty. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significant reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are reputatable
banks in the PRC and banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The policy of allowances for doubtful debts of the Group is
based on the evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of
accounts and on management’s estimate. In determining whether
impairment is required, the Group takes into consideration of
aging status and likelihood of collection. Specific allowance is
only made for receivables that are unlikely to be collected and
is recognised on the difference between the estimated future
cash flows expected to receive discounted using the original
effective interest rate and the carrying value. If the financial
conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowance may be required.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Market risks (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group has net current liabilities of HK$1,802,146,000
as at 31 March 2010. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis because the
directors believe that the Group has sufficient funds to finance
its current working capital requirements taking into account of
the cash flows from operations and assuming the continuing
ability to utilise of the available long-term bank loans facilities.
As at 31 March 2010, the Group had available unutilised
long-term bank loans facilities of HK$8,888,805,000 (2009:
HK$12,914,680,000). Details of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings at 31 March 2010 are set out in note 34.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In
additional to issuance of new shares and convertible bonds,
the Group also relies on bank and other borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The tables include both interest and principal gross
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undisounted amount is based on interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net cash
(inflows) and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on
a gross basis and in accordance with contractual maturities
as the management consider that the contractual maturities
are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash
flows of derivatives. When the amount payable or receivable
is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by
reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the
yield curves existing at the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Market risks (Continued) G mE (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) BB LR (E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) mMENE©5IR (&)

Carrying

Weighted amount at

average  Payable Between  Between  Between Total the end of

contractual on Less than 1to 3 months to 1to Over undiscounted  reporting

interest rate  demand 1 month 3 months Tyear  5years  5years cash flows period

nEYY  EEEX -fiAE  =fERE BRER REEER

CHIES fE JW-f7 =faA -F -EERE  EENL ReR  2BEE

% HKS000  HKSOO0  HKBOOD  HKSOOD  HKEOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKS00
% TRt TEr TR TEr TR TEnr TR TEn

At 31 March 2010 R-F-FE=f=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiEeHeR
Trade payables BHERER = - 340,065 1,011,614 333,800 - - 1685479 1,685,479
Other payables and accrued charges EfERFERESER - - 380514 102177 45576 - - 58267 528267
Amounts due to minority ERHBAR SRR

shareholders of subsidiaries P = 50,501 = = = = = 50,501 50,501
Amounts due to shareholders of ERRAREHER BT

jointly controlled entities 058 - 24,668 - - - - - 24668 24,668
Obligation on capital injection hIRR (E2 20 E42(A) i)

to Fujian Anran (as defined in note 21) RERER (R2RM:T21)

by Zhongmin Zhongran HENASR

(as defined in note 42(A)(iii)) - - - - 23,448 - - 23,448 23,448
Deferred cash consideration for FUEEROEER SRR

acquisition of businesses - - - 78,161 - = 78,161 78,161
Bank and other borrowings RTREMEE

- fixed rate -%8 6.05% - - - 2,069,799 1604565 2,182,647 5857,011 5,016,495

- floating rate -8 6.75% - 230 24,954 3,601,534 3058447 3,487,515 10,172,680 8,299,611
Amount due to a minority ENHEADD SRR

shareholder of a subsidiary LR 2% = = = 7132 377986 - 385,118 356,591

75169 720,809 1,138,745 6,159,450 5,040,998 5,670,162 18,805,333 16,063,221
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Market risks (Continued) G mE k()

Liquidity risk (Continued) HBEDE R (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) MENE © IR (&)

Carrying

Weighted amount at

average  Payable Between  Between  Between Total the end of

contractual on Less than 1to 3 months to 1to Over undiscounted ~ reporting

interest rate ~ demand 1 month 3 months Tyear  S5years  5years cash flows period

nEYY  BEEX -fiAZ  =fiRZ BREE REEEX

CHIES #E JR-ER =fEA -F -FERF  REUL RER  2BEE

% HKSO000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSODD  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSO00
% T T T T T ThRL TERL T

At 31 March 2009 3
Non-derivative financial liabilities it eRER

Trade payables B AR - - 304908 907,080 299,291 - - 1511229 1,511,229
Other payables and accrued charges A ERSARESER - - 131934 96610 43,002 - - 271636 271636
Amounts due to minority ERRBAF SRR

shareolders of subsidiaries i - 65454 - - - = - 65454 65454
Amounts due to shareholders of ERRAREHER HRE

jointly controlled entities HEE - 34,291 - - - - - 34,291 34,291
Bank and other borrowings ROREBEE

- fixed rate -T8 5.99% - - - 2942472 2,066,739 3,699,403 8,708,614 7,392,080

- floating rate -38 6.60% - 5 498 72538 582,282 3,151,564 3,806,887 2,905,842
Convertible bonds ThakESR 4.50% - - - - 16,157 - 16,157 14,823
Amount due to a minority ERHEARDERR

shareholder of a subsidiary LB 2% - - - 7,132 385,118 - 392250 356,591

99,745 436,842 1,004,138 3,364,525 3,050,296 6,850,967 14,806,518 12,551,946

The amounts included above for variable rate bank borrowings MWEBREZNESHERNRRERARAETED
and derivative financial instrument are is subject to change if fHstFIR - BIA ERFEBITEERTLE S
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of BTAGRNESESSLE -

interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

° the fair value of financial assets with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices;

° the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis; and

° the fair value of interest rate range accrual swaps as set
out in note 30, are calculated using discounted cash flow
analysis based on the application yield curve derived
from quoted interest rates and quoted spot and forward
foreign exchange rates. For an option-based derivative
embedded in convertible bonds, the fair value is estimated
using option pricing model.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair
value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to
which the fair value is observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

o Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Derivative financial assets

Interest rate range accrual
swaps

Held-for-trading investments

Available-for-sale
financial assets

Listed equity securities

Unlisted club debentures

Total

BATET AREHSHEE
PR RARE

i 3 R 21 39 2
HIEBERA
THHEEREE

ETRRAE S
FLEmEMRES

st

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 in the current

year.

Revenue mainly represents,

the net amounts received and

receivable for sales of piped gas and LPG and construction
contract revenue from gas connection contracts by the Group

for the year and is analysed

Sales of piped gas
Gas connection income
Sales of LPG
Sales of coke and

gas appliances
Others

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

as follows:

HEBEBEMRR
MR R A
$HELPG
HEMRE R REERE

H Al

REGEEH BRI REZHN A PEE(E)

2010
—E-%F
Level 1 Level 2
EF—R - Jamt 1}
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
- 12,668
15,468 -
13,230 -
- 3,494
28,698 16,162

Total
st
HK$’'000
FET

12,668

15,468

13,230
3,494

44,860

MNAFE  E—REE R RIWEEE -

WHRTEEFAAEEHEEEE

UEREMRERANZIIRANEAZE

W REUGR IR AR - DATARE

3,831,627
1,461,573
4,637,924

268,845
11,990

10,211,959

8RR M LPG

2009
—EENF
HK$’000
FHETT
2,678,377
1,127,403
2,272,173

235,369
10,501

6,323,823



The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 requires operating segments to
be identified on the basis of internal reports about components
of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment
and to assess its performance. In contrast, the predecessor
standard (HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”) required an entity
to identify two sets of segment (business and geographical),
using a risks and rewards approach. In the past, the Group’s
primary reporting format was business segments, comprising
(i) sales of piped gas; (ii) gas connection; (iii) sales of LPG;
(iv) sales of coke and gas appliances and (v) others (mainly
represents the property investment). However, for the purpose
of resources allocation and assessment of performance, the
Group’s chief operating decision makers of the Group, the
managing directors of the Group are more specifically focused
on (i), (ii) and (iii) and (iv). Property investment information
is not reported internally to the managing directors of the
Group. The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are
therefore as follows:

i) Sales of piped gas;

ii) Gas connection;

iii) Sales of LPG; and

iv) Sales of coke and gas appliance.

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.

Amounts reported for the prior period have been restated to
conform to the requirements of HKFRS 8.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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AIZE 8RR E °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBWMERMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-ZT—ZTF=A=1+—HLEFE

7. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 7. BakosBEERE)
Segment revenues and results PERBERES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AEBRZREESFE D 2 W REH DT
by operating segment. -
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE—FE-—FF=A=+—HILEFE
Sales
of coke
Sales of Gas Sales of and gas
piped gas connection LPG appliances Total
EERR BEARR REREE
HE REER HE  REHE ag
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TET TET TR TR
SEGMENT REVENUE 2B 3,831,627 1,461,573 4,637,924 268,845 10,199,969
SEGMENT PROFIT PERF 662,543 569,940 74,471 10,499 1,317,453
Revenue arising from property investment %% & & Y2k 11,990
Interest and other gains .8 R E W ax 49,279
Unallocated corporate expenses APBRARRE (154,946)
Finance costs MKER (522,677)
Change in fair value of investment REMELTEEE
properties 44,645
Change in fair value of derivative TESBMIAATAEED
financial instruments 372,755
Loss on disposal of jointly controlled HEARZEHERZEE
entities (5,815)
Loss on disposal of an associate HEBE DR ZEE (1,190)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEKR B Az et 141
Discount on acquisition of a jointly IR LR ER 2T E
controlled entity 302
Discount on acquisition of businesses UG- 37 P | 176,085
Share of results of associates EEBERRZEE (114,402)
Group’s profit before taxation AEBBRTANGF 1,173,620
I
Reconciliation of revenue W% 8 R
HK$’000
TR
Total revenue for BN RN
operating segments 10,199,969
Rental income AlA 11,990
Group’s revenue SEME 10,211,959
48 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2009

Sales of
piped gas
EEMA
HE
HK$'000
TR
SEGMENT REVENUE S ERR 2,678,377
SEGMENT PROFIT (LOSS) FERF (FB) 430,010
Revenue arising from property investment #Z#K& &I
Interest and other gains F8 R H e zx
Unallocated corporate expenses APEARFRL
Finance costs BB ER
Change in fair value of investment BREMELTEE

properties

Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments

Discount on acquisition of a jointly
controlled entity

FESBIAATEES

W AREHER 2=

Discount on acquisition of an associate G =N i
Share of results of associates i = INGI A ¥
Group’s profit before taxation AEERBADNR A
Reconciliation of revenue W E R

Total revenue for operating segments EENBRNE
Rental income L ON

Group’s revenue B

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external
customers.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by or loss
from each segment without allocation of bank interest income,
property rental income, exchange gain, central administration
cost, change in fair value of investment properties, and held-
for-trading investment, loss on disposal of an associate, jointly
controlled entities, impairment loss recognised on available-
for-sale investments, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, change
in fair value of derivative financial instruments, discount on
acquisition of an associate, a jointly controlled entity and
businesses, share of results of associates, finance cost and
taxation. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

BE_ZTTANF=A=1+—HIFE

Sales
of coke
Gas Sales of and gas
connection LPG appliances Total
BIERAR HMERRE
MRER HE  REBEHE SHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THT THEL TET
1,127,403 2,272,173 235,369 6,313,322
310,578 (3,992) 5,415 742,011
10,501
125,586
(151,419)
(409,800)
5,726
(366,320)
8,860
227,402
12,884
205,431
HK$'000
TAT
6,313,322
10,501
6,323,823

ANEMBENZHYBRABREIAR
=5

BESAN S BREANEIMENAEEE
SRR o 2R A (EE) 8 & 2 ERE
MAERERNER - WEF RRTHE K
ADE  MEHSWA EXKRE  BRT
BRA RENEAFEES  FHIEEER
g HEBEARRAREHEENER -
AAHHEREBRRNRERSR - HEHB
AAMEE  TESRTIANATEES
WHEKEEAR  HAZGHEBEREBON
EREBMERTEE  MBERARBE-
WHRHERDERXRRFEMERERFEE
REANERHGTEIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mARM T

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-TZTF=A=1+—HLEE

WERksEER(E)
PEEERERE

AT RAKERERFEERRAT BRI
DREEERDBEABED -

7. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 7.
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment assets
and segment liabilities that are regularly reviewed by the chief

operating decision maker:

At 31 March 2010

Sales of Gas
piped gas connection

BERR

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THET TER TER TER
ASSETS EE
Segment assets AREE 12,495,032 894,068 3,168,140 191,065 16,748,305
Investment Properties REME 343,158
Property, plant and equipment WE  BERRE (D7)

(for corporate) 122,812
Prepaid lease payments (for corporate) BRBEERE (RA) 54,692
Interests in associates REENRIRER 957,709
Available-for-sale investments AEHELE 82,838
Deferred tax assets BEREEE 88,155
Held-for-trading investments HIEEERE 15,468
Derivative financial instruments MESBTA 12,668
Other receivables (for corporate) Hi KRR (R7) 210,370
Pledged bank deposits BERFITER 489,103
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERSE 3,872,316
Consolidated total assets LABERE 22,997,594

I
LIABILITIES L |
Segment liabilities HEERE 407,159 1,382,981 899,068 193,792 2,883,000
Other payables (for corporate) HEMAERE (RA) 562,204
Taxation TiIa 146,162
Bank and other borrowings FITREMEE 13,316,105
Amount due to a minority shareholder ERHEAR D HBRR

of a subsidiary HE 356,591
Deferred taxation RIER A 503,295
Consolidated total liabilities SABELE 17,767,357

I
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For the year ended 31 March 2010

HE-F-FTF=A=+—ALEE

At 31 March 2009 (restated) R-BEZEAF=A=1+—H(EZ)

Sales

of coke

Sales of Gas Sales of and gas
piped gas connection LPG appliances Total

BEMR REAAR MERRE
HE  MRER HE  REHE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT AT THT THT THT

ASSETS -3

Segment assets NEEE 9,366,364 776,330 3,033,346 37,000 13,213,040

Investment properties REMS 295,127

Property, plant and equipment mE - BERRE (BF)

(for corporate) 81,048
Prepaid lease payments (for corporate) BRBEHE (A7) 57,011
Interests in associates RE S D B 1,000,966
Available-for-sale investments @HERE 41,995
Deferred tax assets EEREERE 56,890
Held-for-trading investments FEEERE 11,544
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBTA 1,261
Other receivables (for corporate) Hit YRR (RA]) 369,410
Pledged bank deposits BEEMRRITER 847,759
Bank balances and cash RIIEBRRRS 2,048,698
Consolidated total assets REEERE 18,024,749
LIABILITIES =0
Segment liabilities SEARE 279,459 1,132,019 844,799 54,949 2,311,226
Other payables (for corporate) HiEER®E (27 413,830
Derivative financial instruments MTESRIA 360,869
Taxation B 51,733
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE 10,297,922
Amount due to a minority shareholder ERHERA R SRR

of a subsidiary B 356,591
Convertible bonds R ES 14,823
Deferred taxation BRI E 235,627
Consolidated total liabilities SEREEE 14,042,621
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MERSERBALEIETFHOENERME :
allocating resources to the segment:

. All assets are allocated to segment other than interests ° FMEEELDR TREE AR -
in associates, available-for-sale investments, deferred tax AHEERE  BEEREBEE  BEE
assets, held-for-trading investments, derivative financial ERE TTELRI A  KEEHBIK
instruments, pledged bank deposits and bank balances HRTFARRTERRBEUAREE
and cash of the Group, and corporate assets of the BRRIBEERINGDLE -

Group.

e Allliabilities are allocated to segment other than derivative e FMEABAIBETIHEEZMIA - W
financial instruments, taxation, bank and other borrowing, B RITREMEE  BNWEARD
amount due to a minority shareholder of a subsidiary, SR ENIE AEER A RKES KR
convertible bonds and deferred taxation of the Group, ERBEBUAEREANEBR AR BEIRIING D
and corporate liabilities of the Group. $8 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—-HLEFE

Amounts included in the measure of
segment result or segment assets:

2010

Additions of prepaid lease payment
Additions to goodwill
Additions to intangible assets
Additions to property, plant

and equipment
Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Release of prepaid lease payment
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment
Impairment losses of amounts due

from customers for contract work
Allowance for trade receivables

2009 (restated)

Addition of prepaid lease payment
Additions to goodwill
Additions to intangible assets
Additions to property, plant
and equipment
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Release of prepaid lease payment
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Impairment losses of amounts due
from customers forcontract work
Allowance for trade receivables

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BRETRARERANBAE
HER:

“5-%%
%%

RNEEERE
AERE

B AERE

0% BERRERE

HEMR - BERRENER

B AERY
LRENEEHR
h% BRRRENE

EUEPANIRAEN
HEBE
EARNET R

“FE0F (E))

RNEEERE
AERE

B/ AERE

0% BERRERE

HEMR - FERRENER

EVAERS
LRENEEE
h% BERRENE

BYEPANTREH
REER
EARBETBR

Sales of
piped gas

BERREE
HK$'000
THL

112,087
181,548
954,397

2,245,727
3,604
20,019
12,772

319,309

48,706
53,688
14,161

1,626,649
27,499
12,685
12,358

289,133

Gas
connection

REER
HK$'000
Fhxn

51,418
75,112

36,864
53,883

Sales of
LPG
REEBR
#E
HK$'000
Thr

15,766
34,562

207,406

559

12,895

150,707

433,611
201,357

2,029,252
65

6,480

40,240

Sales
of coke
and gas

appliances
RERSE
REHE
HK$'000
Fhn

Segment
total

AREE
HK$'000
THL

127,853
216,110
954,397

2,453,133
4,253
20,019
25,667

470,016

51,418
75,112

482,317
205,045
14,161

3,665,901
27,564
12,685
18,838

329,373

36,864
53,883

Unallocated Consolidated

B &8
HKS000  HKS'000
THL THEL

- 127,853
- 216,110
= 954,397

2,465,846
- 4,253
- 20,019
21,987

474,668

= 51,418
= 75,112

= 482,317
= 255,045
= 14,161

3,668,881
- 27,564
= 12,685
20,614

333,914

= 36,864
= 53,883



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

7. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 7. WRRSEERE)

Other segment information (Continued)

2009
—TTNF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FH&Ex FHET
Amounts regularly provided M5 F L EARR AT HRME
to the chief operating BrBREEsBERTE
decision maker but not ZNHFE
included in the measure
of segment profit or loss:
Discounts on acquisition of an WisEE S N A - EEEHEE
associate, a jointly controlled REBBITE
entity and businesses 176,387 236,262
Share of results of associates il NG E (114,402) 12,884

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue
by location of external customers:

i B & R

REBENEBERMNAE o

TR EHEA KB IZINRE P A & D /O UL

ADHT

2010 2009

—E-ZfF —EENF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FH&T

Hong Kong a5 960 960
PRC A 10,210,999 6,322,863
10,211,959 6,323,823

None of the customer contributes over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group.

The following is the information about non-current assets other
than financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the
geographical area in which the assets are located:

MEZPEAEEBKAI0%IA L -

AT RIZEEMAEMIMLEE D NIERBEE

(ERMTARBELEHRBEEERINOEF :

PLR 2009
—E—2F —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(restated)
(&E31)
Hong Kong B 115,664 84,917
PRC allE 14,659,489 11,655,741
14,775,153 11,640,658
AR RIER A R A A) 53
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

54

Interest income B WA
Subsidies from PRC BTS2 BB

governmental authorities:

— compensation of loss

—RREBSIZHNER

incurred in coal gas B &5 8 (Fifsta)
operation (note a)
- subsidy for replacement —BERRANAEEES
of pipelines for natural ZEB(KtzEb)
gas supply (note b)
— tax refund (note ¢) — R (Mice)
Repair and maintenance BERRERBE
services fee
Other services income EH fth AR A UL A
Income from leasing of KB HEREZ A
equipments
Transportation income EE WA
Foreign exchange gain BE 5 A
Compensation income (note d) BEE WA (K 3Ed)
Others At
Notes:
(a) Pursuant to notice of compensation dated 28 August 2007 issued

()

(c)

by the relevant government authority in the PRC, #E JIE A 1A ik iy %%
BAERAA (“#IEF "), a subsidiary of the Company, received a
compensation from the government authority to subsidise for the
increase in cost of sales of natural gas by reference to monthly
purchase volume by ¥#EJIEF# for both years.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, #JE® # received a subsidy
of HK$26,296,000 (2009: HK$23,233,000) from #EIET B K/ for
the cost incurred for the setting up of pipeline network for the
customers in new urban areas and replacement of old pipeline
network of the natural gas users in Fushun city. All the required
work has been completed by #EJIEF A, All the costs incurred were
recognised as cost of sales in profit or loss during the year. In
addition, EEF R MR AR AR (YEmFR”), a subsidiary of the
Company, was entitled to receive subsidies of HK$10,517,000 for
the year (2009: HK$8,795,000) from g 1 8 B /& for its additional
costs incurred in certain gas connection contracts in which the
connection fee is fixed by the relevant government authority in
the PRC.

The PRC government authorities have granted a tax incentive to
certain subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund for natural
gas business operated in the PRC.

During the year, a subsidiary of the Group, /&5 ®H KM T RE
BRAERAR (BBHRM”) received an one-off compensation of
HK$22,988,000 from an independent third party, S5 L AR B R
AT (“SBFFLE”). This relates to disputes with &R 5L regarding
the operating right in a particular area in the PRC. JE&HR KA also
agreed to give up the operating right in that particular area.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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i -

(b)

2009

—TTNEF

HK$’000

FHET

34,891 59,290
14,395 11,059
36,813 32,028
2,813 3,637
9,661 9,318
44,905 14,211
22,291 12,165
52,603 -
- 63,366
22,988 -
32,525 20,682
273,885 225,756

RETFEEHEBRAEEARN_SZTLFNAZ
TNABEHOFEEBAE  ARANMNE QR
g R RAER AR ([HRIRF LR ) A
WEERFTHBAES R E - B R ARBHERA
BN(2ERBEFRRZBEFEZSARE

8)o

HE-_ZT-—ZFTE=-A=+—HLFE #&
JIE AR B A IE T B R SR B — KB Y B
26,296,000/ jt( = & T j1 F : 23,233,000
BIL) NERAEIEMFTRAFELE
BERRAARAPMETEMSHR - BIES
MEZTKFMERELRF - IBEEBHAZKA
ERAFEZERETERAREERKEL - 5
Sh - AARMBAREETRATEREGR
AR(TEEPR DR EETH KR BERE B
10,517,000 L( =T Z AL 4F : 8,795,000/
) LMBERETEBRREEHN(ETmEK
BEHPBRBRBREKEET)FTEE 25
B ©

TEBRAREERDE - BHEEBTETHE
MEBAT  HASREOERBEKERARED
ZBIE ©

RAFE  AEERBRREGTRRTHRE
EREBRAR([EGTMRDEBIE=77F
BLERRAERAR(ESRILE])ER—R
B H22,988,000/8 7T © Ut T9 BE I BB (500
FAEFR BRI ROEEE 2RO - ESS
MRINF BIREAZ IR L2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10.

REMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

Other Gains and Losses 9. Ht=m=KREE
PLR 2009
—E-=fF —ETNAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FH&T
Other gains and losses comprise: HfblUzs K EEBIE
Loss on disposal of jointly HEXREH EBMNEER
controlled entities (noted 44) (Pt5E44) (5,814) -
Loss on disposal of an HEBE N NEE
associate (note 20) (Kt=E20) (1,190) =
Gain on disposal of a B B A | & Wz
subsidiary (note 43) (B$5E43) 141 =
Change in fair value of BEMEN R TFEES
investment properties 44,645 5,726
Change in fair value of FIEEEREN
held-for-trading investments NEEEE 11,798 (23,843)
Impairment loss recognised AT SR E R
on available-for-sale EOpERI=N SR
investments - (14,947)
Impairment loss on amounts EREF &4 TERIER
due from customers for REEE(ME27)
contract work (note 27) (51,418) (36,864)
Allowance for trade and B 5) & WAR 30 B H b FE Ui
other receivables (note 28) ARIE# 5 (M 3E28) (75,112) (53,883)
Change in fair value of PMESRIANATE
derivative financial 28 (P 5E29)
instruments (note 29) 372,755 (366,320)
295,805 (490,131)
Finance Costs 10. I EH
PLR 2009
—E-FF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FH&T
Interest on: LATIEEZHE :
Bank loans and other borrowings ZBRAFAZEEEZ
wholly repayable within BITEREREMER
five years 212,909 192,295
Bank loans and other borrowings #BEARAFAZHEEZ
not wholly repayable RITERREMEER
within five years 278,393 292,683
Convertible bonds (note 38) AT AR &S (MI5E38) 39 645
491,341 485,623
Net interest expense on MEHBHELN 2
interest rate swaps FA B 111,032 23,649
Interest capitalised to BAEEEIRKAZFE
construction in progress (79,696) (99,472)
522,677 409,800
FREIR RIZR AR A A 55
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

56

Discount on acquisition of g3 LN P

an associate (note 20) (Mf7£20)

Discount on acquisition of a WE KRR G BB 2 g
jointly controlled entity (FtzE41)
(note 41)

Discount on acquisition of g3 i

businesses (note 42(A)(vii)) (MIsE42(A)(vii))

REDEREH
EERTE (M5E39)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Deferred taxation (note 39)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profit derived in Hong Kong for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions in the PRC is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from
1 January 2008 onwards.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are exempted from
PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the first two years commencing
from their first profit-making year of operation and thereafter,
these PRC entities will be entitled to a 50% relief from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for the following three years (“Tax
preference”). The reduced tax rate for the relief period is
ranging from 7.5% to 16.5%. The charge of PRC Enterprise
Income Tax for the years has been provided for after taking
these tax incentives into account.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2009
—EENF
HK$'000
FHETT

- 227,402

302 8,860

176,085 =

176,387 236,262

2009
—TTNF
HK$’000
FHET
98,696
(27,224)

192,985
(34,866)

158,119 71,472

MR ANEERZMEFEEREBELRRY
A WA RRNERS M MER BB NSHRAE
A o

PEREMEZ RIENRGELERZEAR

K E -
RIERELEFERA(CEMERE] D
$HEREERAA E-FENE— A0
1 BB A 2 B A25% -

BREFREREERIER  ARBETHEMK
BRAARERESRANFEREMFAERL
PECEAEHR ERZ=FR ZETTEE
= H 8K R IR50% 2 T B EMEH ([ R
BED BRBEAZERRB XN F7.5%E
16.5% - REBHBEBR  ZFFE2TED
ERSTHRBEE EL R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. Taxation (Continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss)
before taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income as follows:

REMBWMERME
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

12. BHE(E)
FEHRBELZES Z2EBARE TR ZERRANS

R (1B 2 8EMT

Hong Kong PRC Total

£ e &zt
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
S2-2F EmESRa "2-3F MRk —2-3F Mkl
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR THART TEL TR TAL

Profit (loss) before taxation BB AR (B518) 95,670  (587,991) 1,077,950 793,422 1,173,620 205431
Tax at the domestic income tax rate  EAMAEHREHEZHE 15,786 (97,019) 269,487 198,356 285,273 101,337
Tax effect of share of results of EiEBenaEE MEYE

associates - - 28,601 (8,221) 28,601 (8,221)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  ZFHBM = AR 2R

for tax purpose ZhEzE 25,694 65,884 17,859 25,858 43,553 91,742
Tax effect of income not taxable for RHEMEBARRZ

fax purpose WAZBEYE (61,548) (147)  (57,603)  (69,837) (119,151)  (69,984)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not ~ ¥ EER 2 HEFE

recognised ZhEyE 20,068 31,282 176,966 34,094 197,034 65,376
Tax effect of income tax at REEHEAEMEH

concessionary rate ZhEzE - - (2717,191)  (113,778)  (277,191)  (113,778)
Taxation HE - - 158,119 71,472 158,119 71,472
Note: The applicable tax rate for Hong Kong and PRC are 16.5% e BEBRFPBEZ2EARED B A16.5% (=

(2009: 16.5%) and 25% (2009: 25%) respectively.

TTNF:16.5%) R2B5% (ZFTNF :
25%) °

PRI AR AR 57
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

Profit for the year has been
arrived at after charging
(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Release of prepaid lease
payments

Amortisation of intangible
assets included in cost
of sales

Minimum lease payments for
operating leases in respect of:
— rented premises
— equipments

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Share of tax of associates
(included in share of
results of associates)
Staff costs:
Directors’ emoluments
(note 14)
Salaries and allowances
of other staffs
Contributions to retirement
benefit scheme contributions
of other staffs
Less: amount capitalised in
construction in progress

58 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AN A 2 FNRR
(&t A) THERA :

T BED B
WE - BELRBZTE
FEANEERR

BRENHEERANZ
B AERE

@EBH 2 RIERS -
~EENE
~ &

HEME ~ BFE &

R ER
EhEERRNIE (B
G S NRIEER)

BTRA :
EEWE (MizE14)

H g 8z %o & =8

REAES MR K
(R KA

B BRAERTIZRA
2R

5,500
474,668

27,987

20,019

61,611
24,279
85,890

4,253

4,175

27,719

362,686

68,072
(24,889)

433,588

2009
ZEThE
HK$'000
THBT

5,500
333,914

20,614

12,685

19,037
55,087
74,124

27,564

2,286

26,722

300,697

58,449
(17,546)

368,322



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

13. Profit for the Year (Continued) 13. BEEHR(E)

2010 2009
—B-EF =TT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER THET

Cost of inventories recognised MATIHE EBRAME

as expenses in respect of; ZIFERA
Sales of piped gas HEBERA 2,771,000 1,768,878
Sales of LPG SHELPG 4,042,734 1,966,301
Contract costs recognised RRRER LIRS O
as expense in respect REBASZ Z A KRR
of gas connection
construction contracts 439,402 269,215
Sales of coke and gas SHE R R RS E
appliances 219,496 196,654
7,472,632 4,201,048
Rental income from investment REMEEE2HESHA
properties less outgoings 881,671,000 T
of HK$1,671,000 (ZZ2ZNF:
(2009: HK$1,496,000) 1,496,000 7T) (10,319) (9,005)

PRI AR AR 59
2010F B s



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-T—ZF=A=+—BHLEE

14. Emoluments of Directors and Employees 14. ESREEME
Directors =
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (2009: 14) ENSHENSIBE(ZETNGF : 148)EF
directors were as follow: ZMenT :
2010
—E-FF

Performance Contributions
Salaries related to retirement
Directors’  and other incentive Share-based benefits Total
fees benefits ~ payments  payments scheme emoluments
HER 5 DR BARER

£ 2k AR HuRs EAAR EER HedsE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000
TR THR TiEn TiEn THER THER

(Note)
(WD)
Executive directors HES
Mr. Li Xiao Yun FNERAE 3,000 - - 138 - 3,138
Mr. Xu Ying BERE - 7,188 2,679 - 12 9,879
Mr. Liu Ming Hui ki)t - 7,188 5,358 - 12 12,558
Mr. Ma Jin Long Sewts - 300 - - - 300
Mr. Zhu Wei Wei KEERE - 468 160 - 12 640
Non-executive directors FHES
Mr. Feng Zhuo Zhi BEELE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. R.K. Goel R.K. Goel & - - - - - -
Mr. Kim Joong Ho SEERE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Rackets William Hugh Rackets William Hugh’t & 124 - - - - 124
Mr. Jo Yamagata WIER % 120 - - - - 120
Independent non-executive BUFHES
directors
Mr. Zhao Yu Hua BEERE 240 - - - - 240
Dr. Mao Er Wan EoEfRL 240 - - - - 240
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia BEmat 240 - - - - 240

4,204 15,144 8,197 138 36 21,7119
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B I RAR A

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

14. Emoluments of Directors and Employees (Continued) 14. EEREEM S (£E)

Directors (Continued) BESE(E)
2009
—EEBhEF
Performance Contributions
Salaries related to retirement
Directors’  and other incentive Share-based benefits Total
fees benefits ~ payments  payments scheme emoluments
HeR EL | SRR RIKER
E28% AR Hi%e FARR BEA Hekd
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL THL TR TAL TEL
(Note)
ik
Executive directors H1ER
Mr. Li Xiao Yun ZNERE 3,000 - - 138 - 3,138
Mr. Xu Ying BERE - 7,188 2,395 - 12 9,595
Mr. Liu Ming Hui YpELA - 7,188 4,791 - 12 11,991
Mr. Ma Jin Long i g - 165 - - - 165
Mr. Zhu Wei Wei RERRE - 628 - - 12 640
Non-executive directors FATES
Mr. Feng Zhuo Zhi BEHRE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Mark Gelinas*® Mark GelinasfE £~ 120 - - - - 120
Mr. RK. Goel R.K. Goel%t & 30 - - - - 30
Mr. Kim Joong Ho SEERE 83 - - - - 83
Mr. Rackets William Hugh Rackets William Hugh% & = = = = = =
Mr. Jo Yamagata WERS A 120 - - - - 120
Independent non-executive BUFHITES
directors
Mr. Zhao Yu Hua BEERE 240 - - - - 240
Dr. Mao Er Wan IoEAT 240 - - - - 240
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia BENRL 240 - - - - 240
4,193 15,169 7,186 138 36 26,722
* The director resigned on 20 March 2009. * EEER_TTNF=A=-+HEE -
Note: The performance related incentive payments of Mr. Xu Ying M : RESERZIPBEEZEEHBESHT

and Mr. Liu Ming Hui are determined by reference to the Group MEEGLEXREBMz RERIBBRAIZZ
performance and according to pre-determined percentage FAEABDLEEBRE  MABEREEZEER
approved by the Remuneration Committee, while that of Mr. Zhu HRSABFTHEES2EHBAREE
Wei Wei is determined by reference to the individual performance H e

and approved by Remuneration Committee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RAR

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT—ZHF=A=1+—HLEFE

14. Emoluments of Directors and Employees (Continued) 14. EEREEME(£E)

Employees ==

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the rEEGERHF ABMENALHR  =2(ZF
Group, three (2009: three) were directors of the Company ThE: ZR)RARRES  BEEMERN L
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The NEE - HBME(ZTETNF : MB)A LT
emoluments of the remaining two (2009: two) individuals were ZHEMT :

as follows:

2010 2009
—E-FF —EThEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Salaries and other benefits e REMBR 10,195 10,845
Retirement benefit scheme R RAE Rt B R

contributions 24 24
10,219 10,869

Their emoluments were within the following bands: HEZHEHEEWDOT -
2010 2009
—E—=F —TTNF
No. of No. of
employee employee
EE A BB AE
HK3,000,001 to HK3,500,000 3,000,001 723,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 724,000,000 7T - 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK7,000,000 6,500,001 27,000,000 7T 1 -

HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001/ 7L £7,500,000/% 7T -

15. Dividends 15. &2
2010 2009
—E-FF ZZTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Final dividend paid in respect ENEBEZZTNF
of financial year ended =A=+—BLEREE
31 March 2009 of HK$0.014 FhR0.0148 T
(2009: HK$0.012 in respect —TZNEFE  BNEE
of financial year ended —ETENF=A=+—H
31 March 2008) per share IEB B E B R%0.012 46,676 39,997

BIL) Z RS

A final dividend of HK$0.017 in respect of the year ended 31 EECESEREEHE T ZTF=_A=1—
March 2010 (2009: final dividend of HK$0.014 in respect of the AItEEEFEFR0.017BT(ZEZTNE:
year ended 31 March 2009) per share has been proposed by E-TTAF=RA=+—HIEFEEKR0.014
the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders B2 RERE) 2 KRBARE - BHRALRKRRE
in the forthcoming annual general meeting. RERERRBAFAS BB IEER -
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16. Earnings per Share

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

REMBWMERME
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

16. BRAEF

ARARAAEESRERRBERFTE
TR H -

PLR 2009
—E—EF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ExT FHET
Earnings for the purposes FTEEREARREERF
of basic and diluted ZBH (BARAFHEE A
earnings per share, being FEME AR F E 5w A)
profit for the year
attributable to owners
of the Company 875,636 103,679
2009
—EZNEF
‘000
F A&
Weighted average number FTEEBRERNEFNZ
of ordinary shares for the I 3E AR N T 15 &
purpose of basic earnings
per share 3,343,913 3,333,233
Adjustment for effect of dilutive TmARETEHE 2
potential ordinary shares: HERE
Share options (note a) MERE (MisEa) 1,074,507 204,537
Weighted average number FTEEREERT 2
of ordinary shares for the I 3E AR N T 15 &
purpose of diluted
earnings per share 4,418,420 3,537,770

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2009, the computation of diluted

earnings per share does not take into account the effects of the
options with anti-dilutive effect.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the computation of diluted
earnings per share does not assume the conversion of convertible
bonds as the assumed conversion would result in an increase in
earnings per share.

All outstanding convertible bonds were converted during the
year ended 31 March 2010. The impact on diluted earnings per
share on assumed conversion is not considered significant and
therefore has not been accounted for in the calculation.

B eE

(b)

BE-PEAF=A=T—ALEE HE
08 3 AR M AT R AR I E R 2 18

™
TE -

RE-TTAF=A=+—ALEE  TRE
FENOH S LRBRWATARES  RE
RBRWAREBGREBT N -

AAEMABRZ IBREFEREZE_FT—F
FZA=T+-HIEFERER - ANRREHR
HEREERAMNZZETA  RUERSFEE
i
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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64

—E-BE=A=t-ALEE

At 1 April 2008 R-ZZEN\&EWMA—A

Acquired on acquisition of U T R 1S
business (note 42(B)(i)) (Mt7E42(B)(i))
Change in fair value N EE

At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF=A=+—H

Acquired on acquisition of U RS R I & B R S
additional interest of a S Eﬂ% (KtE41(A))
jointly controlled
entity (note 41(A))

Change in fair value

5
-+

B2 5
At 31 March 2010 == F

5,9

F=RA=+—H

The Group’s investment properties are analysed as follows:

Properties held under RHEENRE 2!
medium term leases:
- in Hong Kong — LR EB
- in the PRC — LA R B

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in Hong
Kong at 31 March 2010 has been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out as at that date by LCH (Asia-Pacific)
Surveyors Limited. The resulting surplus of HK$22,020,000
(2009: deficit of HK$1,700,000) was included in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. The valuation was arrived
at by reference to comparable market transactions for similar
properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in the
PRC has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out at these dates by CB Richard Ellis Limited. The resulting
surplus of HK$22,625,000 (2009: surplus of HK$7,426,000) was
credited to consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
The valuation was arrived at by reference to standard land
prices set by the PRC government and comparable market
transactions as available in the locality.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2010

HK$’000
THETT
219,100
70,301
5,726

295,127

3,386
44,645

343,158

AEBZREMESTWT ¢

2009
—EENF
HK$’'000
FHETT

78,420
264,738

56,400
238,727

343,158 295,127

REBUREBZEZEMER —TF=
A=+—Bz~2 Wﬁm&ﬁ%ﬁﬁxﬁuiaﬂiﬁ
RARRZAETZHEEER - AEAL
222,020,000 TR#HB(ZZTZNGF - BAL
1,700,000 L) EFIAGZAE 2 ERARE -
HEE2ZEHUMEZALTERS -

AEBURFBRZEEYMEZ ATFETIRE
HHRBETER AR ZERPETZMEE
EH o BHILEA 222,625,000 (-2 F
NE + BFR7,426,000/8 70 ) 2 BE#H B HI A LR
EEEBARRK - HEEL2ZEFBRBRFTRE
ZIZEMEREMAI B ZAILLTEHERS °

AEBERIARBELCEELHFTAARNE K
f’E%éZKi'fEZ%¥f“EBLA FEKEAA
RBEBRARTIEREDE



For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEFE

Leasehold Machinery Furniture
land and Construction and and Motor
buildings Pipelines in progress  equipment fixtures vehicles Vessels Total
HELH BER BHR
RkEF EE ERIR #E BERE RE fief Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THL T FHL THL T FHL
COST BA&
At 1 April 2008 R=ZZ\§MA—-H 450,129 3,403,090 1,399,851 515,298 31,127 126,058 - 5,925,553
Additions NE 13,691 137,488 1,247,394 90,602 30,157 38,094 - 1,657,426
Acquired on acquisition of - NGlite:
subsidiaries 550 - 28,802 - 78 411 - 29,841
Acquired on acquisition of WEAREHERAS
a jointly controlled entity 1,637 33,485 - 757 25 33 - 35,837
Acquired on acquisition of WEXBME
businesses 697,476 231,851 201,104 848,902 35,893 20,551 - 2,035,777
Disposals e (45,850) - - (8,592) (1,467) (6,731) - (62,640)
Reclassification EXipz] 24,959 927,741 (997,509) 44,809 - - - -
Exchange realignment ERHE 27,201 124,839 70,995 52,093 2,623 5,633 - 283,384
At 31 March 2009 as restated R=ZZAF=A=+-H 1,169,693 4,858,494 1,950,637 1,543,869 98,436 184,049 - 9,805,178
(E31)
Additions NE 63,019 19,173 1,077,523 29,115 32,039 42,162 - 1,263,031
Acquired on acquisition of U i
businesses 82,309 609,460 307,782 46,491 5,001 7,703 127,775 1,186,521
Acquired on acquisition of W R B BN
additional interest in a EnfE
jointly controlled entity 968 3,961 11,198 4 3il 95 - 16,294
Disposal for the year FRLE (2,499) (7,814) - (1,263) (1,281) (6,845) - (19,702)
Disposal of jointly LEARBHER
controlled entities - (2,436) (25,906) (21,839) (350) - - (50,531)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBAF - - - - (27) - = (27)
Reclassification R DL 147,767 662,854 (955,996) 145,375 - - - -
At 31 March 2010 WZE-Z4=A=1-H 1,461,257 6,143,692 2,365,238 1,741,789 133,849 227,164 127,775 12,200,764
DEPRECIATION AND FERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2008 RZEZ\FHA-A 29,542 175,740 - 103,622 11,400 38,973 - 359,277
Provided for the year FRBE 43,999 162,685 - 96,023 10,505 20,702 - 333,914
Eliminated on disposals HERMER (24,489) - - (4,288) (1,295) (3,468) - (33,540)
Exchange realignment ERHE 1,701 6,216 - 3,629 439 1,265 - 13,250
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZNE=A=+-H 50,753 344,641 = 198,986 21,049 57,472 - 672,901
Provided for the year FREE 44,440 231,979 - 79,339 25,918 72,644 20,348 474,668
Eliminated on disposals HEBHE (2,064) (1,249) - (167) (618) (5,182) - (9,280)
Eliminated on disposal of LELRZHER
jointly controlled entities 3 - (148) - (1,511) (202) - - (1,861)
Eliminated on disposal HER B AR AR
of a subsidiary - - - - (1) - - (1)
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-%%=A=+-H 93,129 575,223 - 276,647 46,146 124,934 20,348 1,136,427
CARRYING VALUES RHE
At 31 March 2010 W=E-Z%=A=1-H 1,368,128 5,568,469 2,365,238 1,465,142 87,703 102,230 107,427 11,064,337
At 31 March 2009 as restated RZ=ZZNEF=A=1-H
(&51) 1,118,940 4,513,853 1,950,637 1,344,883 77,387 126,577 - 9,132,277
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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—E-BE=A=t-ALEE

The carrying value of land and buildings of the Group shown
above is situated on land with the following lease terms:

In Hong Kong REB
Long lease REIFRA

In PRC A
Long lease RHEAFAA
Medium term lease FRERFR A

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land Over the shorter of

and buildings the remaining terms of the
leases or 50 years
Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years

or the operation period of
the relevant company

Machinery and equipment 5% - 10%

Furniture and fixtures 15% - 50%

Motor vehicles 25%

Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired from
suppliers) or 34% (acquired
from second hand market)

At 31 March 2010, interest capitalised in construction in progress
amounted to HK$79,696,000 (2009: HK$99,472,000).

As at 31 March 2010, the Group is in the process of obtaining
title deeds from relevant government authorities for its land
and buildings in the PRC amounting to HK$105,497,000 (2009:
HK$64,411,000). In the opinion of the directors, the Group
is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title
deeds for its land and buildings in the PRC.

At 31 March 2010, the directors of the Company considered that
the leasehold land element of the buildings with the carrying
value of HK$51,906,000 (2009: HK$49,324,000) cannot be
separately identified.
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AEEMRERE I BE L MRET R
HEREBRANT

2009

ZEThE

HK$’000

FHT

7,795 6,080
340,083 278,215
1,020,250 834,645
1,368,128 1,118,940

REBE 2 BREBUNFE -

it BERREBRB(TEBEERT
B)DREBEIMR TS FLLRINE :

e RET FTAXER T F Bk 504F
MERREE

EiE %Z30F K ABAR
DA E AR
REE A

We2s K 22 5% — 10%

EREEEREE 15% — 50%

RE 25%

A 7% (R EREA
ZETRAAA) X
34% (K =—F W5
A

R-BE—ZTF=ZA=Z+—8 BxEZEIE
&AL 2 F B A79,696,0008 L ( —EEF N,
£ 199,472,000/ 7T) °

R-EBE-—FTE=A=+—H ' X&EEER
H {E 15105,497,0008 t( = T — T F :
64,411,000 L)AL Bz L RIEF
REBRTHBEERAERZN - BEER
B AEETSRERPE L RIEF 2
BREZAOMEEFEINKA -

R-B-—TF=A=+—8 ARAES
7 45 BR E E51,906,0008 T( ZEF N F -
49,324,000 L) ZEEF2HE LI H
A DA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19.

20.

Prepaid Lease Payments

REMBWMERME
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

19. ANHEERE

2010 2009
—E—EF —TTNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
The Group’s prepaid lease AEBEZEMNEE
payments comprise: MHIEBIE
Leasehold land in REBZHEELTH
Hong Kong
Long lease K HEIFEA 20,468 21,994
Leasehold land in the PRC RAAEZHEE L
Long lease REIMEY 519,726 532,700
Medium term lease FRHAFR 4 444,920 330,554
985,114 885,248
Analysed for reporting TLEIRE 2D
purposes as:
Non-current portion JEBNER &L > 957,655 869,075
Current portion BN EA 28 2 27,459 16,173
985,114 885,248

The leasehold land and land use rights are charged to
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the leases.

During the year, the Group is in the process of obtaining title
deeds from relevant government authorities for its prepaid
lease payments in the PRC amounting to HK$86,275,000 (2009:
HK$73,425,000). In the opinion of the directors, the Group
is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title
deeds for its prepaid lease payments in the PRC.

HELHME T ERELNEREZBEFH
SFAZEWRARE

FRN - AEEIE S EEE86,275,000% 7T
(ZZBZ R4 : 73,425,000 T )R R E 2
TENTEERE - A BB #EZEIRAE #E
R - BERE AEETTHAER+TRHE
NHERIE 2 FTE R M EEEINLA -

20. REBE QT 2R

Interests in Associates
2010 2009
—E-ZfF —ETNF
HK$°’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FH&T
(restated)
(E751)
Cost of investments RERE & R B2 KA
in associates — unlisted — 3k 684,208 612,791
Share of pre-acquisition AU B AT AR B
dividend (1,296) (1,296)
Share of post-acquisition 2k U g 1% ) A
profit and other REAMZERA
comprehensive income (H0BR AR B
(net of dividend received) 41,827 156,501
Discount on acquisition g3 NS Do
of associates 232,970 232,970
957,709 1,000,966
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R E B I RAR A

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT—ZHF=A=1+—HLEFE

20. Interests in Associates (Continued) . ARBE AR 2R (E)

68

The Group had interests in the following associates:

REBPNATE S A RER R

Proportion of
nominal value of

B

Form of Place of Principal registered/issued
business registration/  place of Class of capital held
Name of entity structure incorporation  operation capital by the Group Principal activities
REBfER/
EaLYAATE TEE% BEARA
ERAR EBREA ik bk RS AL TEXH
2010 2009
ZZ-TF ZZTNf
% %
FREERERARRREAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 22.10 22.10 Trading of natural gas
joint venture
POEERE HE e il ARRHE
FREZEREREALA Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered - 19.60 Trading of natural gas
joint venture (note d) (note a)
POEERE hE ik i (Mizkd) (Mizta) RARHE
mIERREIRERERAR  Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 44.00 44.00 Trading of natural gas, gas
CJIERR") joint venture pipeline construction
P ELE HE HE B} AARHE MABERZ
EESEEERNERARA Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 38.69 38.69 Exploration, collection
("ZESE") joint venture transportation, purification
and sales of natural gas
POEERE e Gk i B WK BH - FR
LEXRAR
EEMALEEARAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 47.83 47,83 Trading of natural gas
BRAR joint venture
POEERE e HE B} AARHE
RRETERRARELAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 48.00 48.00 Trading of nature gas and
(‘BEERE") joint venture gas pipeline construction
P ELE HE HE il ARRHERMAEBRE
BRI=ARICRERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 33.20 33.20 Trading of LPG
company
BREERT ik Gk i $HELPG
RRAZIEZERILARAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 29.05 29.05 Refining process,
company storage or LPG
AREAAR R R B} RRBE - BEALPG
LETREERRERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 41.50 41.50 Sales of fuel oil (except
company hazardous products),
instruments, mechanical
and electrical facilities,
construction materials
AREAAR HE R B} ma(Feftka) IE
HERIE - BENMRHEE
FEERBEERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered = 16.60 Shipping delivery services,
(“EBER) company (notec)  (note b) technical development,
(GED) (HizED) providing consultancy
services and agent of
delivery
AREFAR HE HE il fER - RITRE - REEH
R RER KR
CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEFE

Proportion of
nominal value of

Form of Place of Principal registered/fissued
business registration/  place of Class of capital held
Name of entity structure incorporation  operation capital by the Group Principal activities
) REEfEER/
) i/ FEEE BEIRA
ERAE EBREVA 2 bk AR AL TEEH
2010 2009
—E-TF C-ITHE
% %

WL REEIRAARARAA  Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 25.00 - Trading of natural gas,

company gas pipeline construction
BREEAR HE HE il ARRHERMAEBRR

BHZAREEBREARAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 24.00 - Trading of natural gas,

company gas pipeline construction
BREEAR e HE il ARRHERMAEBRR

BlERRARERAHA Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 24.00 - Trading of natural gas

company
BREEAR e HE il ARRHE

EFEZRREARAA Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 24.00 - Trading of natural gas

company
BREEAR e HE il ARRHE

Notes: Bt 5

(a) The Group is able to exercise significant influence over this (a) AEBUHEZARITEEATE N RAARK
company because it has the power to appoint two out of the EBEEBEZARZARMAFTIIEXE T
six directors of that company under the provisions stated in the ZATNBEREZHAME °
Articles of Association of that Company.

(b) At 31 March 2010, 20% equity interest of E/&% K was held by a (b) R=ZZT—ZF=ZA=+—H8 ' EHER20%
non-wholly owned subsidiary of which the Group held 83% equity BER—FRIEEEMRBARIEE @ B AER
interest on it. The Group is able to exercise significant influence FEEP83%KRE - AEEAHZARITE
over this company because it has the power to appoint one out of BEAXEN  RAAAESEREREZATZ
the three directors of that company under the provisions stated AR A TGN ZEZ AR =R ESTZH —
in the Articles of Association of that Company. 2 o

(c) During the year, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group (c) FA:AEBZIFEZEMBAREIMNELS
has acquired 80% additional equity interest in E/&¥RK and was ERE0OWBIE - WRKEEKK D ERNE
classified as a subsidiary upon completion of acquisition. The AR o BAFBERKTE42(A) ) ©
details were set out in Note 42(A)(ii).

(d) On 23 December 2009, the Group has entered into an agreement (d) REZZTZNGF+—RA=+=0 ~EEHEB

with an independent third party to dispose of Group’s 19.60% interest
in EREZEBBREELE at a consideration of HK$330,000,
leading to a loss on disposal of HK$1,190,000 recongised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

RIS - #RK{B330,000/% 7T HE A
SEFRFILRESEAERAMAF19.60%
Bt - BHRNRE 2EKARKER L BB
1,190,000 7T °

FEABRRRARAT g
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REMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT—ZHF=A=1+—HLEFE

20.

70

Interests in Associates (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, a discount on acquisition
of HK$227,402,000 arose on the acquisition of M EEHRE and
had been included in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. The interest in BMEEHE as acquired by the Group
was previously owned by BBREMARBINEEEEEBEREE
B&. The acquisition of WE/E® B was acquired as a result of
a tender in August 2007 to BMEEEER 5 F 1. The Directors
consider that the sale of the 48% equity interests in M &P
B by RRETMARBNEBEEEEEEIEZE S was made with
an intention of bringing in foreign capital and expertise in the
operation and management of natural gas projects in the PRC
which is in line with the national policy in the PRC.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below:

20.

REE QT 2@ (&)

HE-_ZTZHNF=A=+—BILFE - K&
JII 8 BB b BB i EE A 2 227,402,000 7T Uk
BIFZCFARAZERAREK - RERFT
KE BB ETRESENBHRBETAR
BFNEEEEEEERZESHE - AN =
TELFENARNBRAEAEER ST LER —
MIZEE MEBBRERTELETRE E=R
B BRETMARRFEEEEEBREER
BEeHERBETEISLR AR E £ 3
ANEURRLREERFRRARELZE
R’ EBRBEBERBERAR -

AEEZIERRZHBEERBEEINMT

2010 2009
—E-=fF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHEx T
(restated)
(&%)
Total assets BEMBE 4,060,486 4,273,480
Total liabilities BEEE (1,864,661) (2,023,824)
Net assets BEFE 2,195,825 2,249,656
The Group’s share of NEE D HEEE QR
associates’ net assets ZEEFE 957,709 1,000,966
Revenue & 1,245,587 674,251
Change in fair value of KEMEZ A TFEES
investment properties - (11,306)
Loss on disposal HEHBARZEE(HE)
of a subsidiary (note) (281,195) -
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE )= (256,842) 6,517
The Group’s share of REE S (HEEE QA
results of associates REFZHEE
for the year (114,402) 12,884

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2010, a loss on disposal of
HK$281,195,000 was arisen on the disposal of a subsidiary of
JIEBRE, namely ML L6 B AR /A F]. The amount has been
included as loss in the determination of the Group's share of

results of associates.
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21. Investments in Jointly Controlled Entities 21. AAREEHERZRE
As at 31 March 2010 and 2009, the Group had interests in RZTE—ZTFR-_FTNF=A=+—8 -
the following significant jointly controlled entities: AEBRUATERERIEGIE LIS
Proportion of
nominal value
Place of Principal of registered/
Form of registration/  place of Class of issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation  operation capital held by the Group Principal activity
&/ Bk TEE% REBAER,/
EREE EBRERA ik 2 R BETRAEELL DI FEEH
2010 2009
—Z-F%& -—ZTEfE
% %
FRRBREERAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 49.0 49.0 Trading of natural gas
Beijing Jinggang Gas joint venture and gas pipeline
Development construction
Company Limited*
PHEELE HE HE il ARRHERMAEBRE
WA RERAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 50.0 50.0 Trading of natural gas
joint venture and gas pipeline
construction
PEELE HE e Bais AARHERMAEERE
B TREERBRAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 50.0 50.0 Trading of natural gas
joint venture and gas pipeline
construction
PHEELE HE HE il ARRHERMAEBRE
BRESERRATREZEERAF  Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 51.0 50.0 Trading of natural gas
(“BREE) joint venture (note a) and gas pipeline
(GERY construction
PIEELE FE e Bais AARHERMAEERE
EhrR TR ERERAR Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 49.0 49.0 Trading of natural gas
(MR joint venture and gas pipeline
construction
PHEELE HE HE il ARRHERMAEBRR
ERRRARNAERRERLE  Sino-foreign equity PRC PRC Registered 50.0 50.0 Nature gas refill service
joint venture and gas station
administration
PIEELE FE HE Bl RARMARS RER MR
ERSEICIARAR Equity joint venture PRC PRC Registered = 49.0 Purifying technology
(‘EESRE’) (note b) service of natural gas
RERE FE e Bl (GiE) ARAH R RS
China Gas - SK Energy Holdings  Incorporated Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 50.0 50.0 Trading of natural gas
Company Limited and gas pipeline
(“China Gas -SK Energy”) construction
Bl B & i@ ARRHERMAEBRE

PEREIERER AR 71
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—ZT-ZF=A=+-HLEFE
Place of Principal
Form of registration/  place of Class of
Name of entity business structure incorporation  operation capital
it/ TEEE
ERLR FBREYA bk bk R
China Oman Energy Company Incorporated Bermuda Hong Kong Ordinary
Limited (“China Oman”)
Bl BRE &k R
RERARBR Equity joint venture PRC PRC Registered
RELE Gk e B
Fujian Anran Gas Investment Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
Company Limited company
(“Fujian Anran”) BREERR HE HE Rl
BEARAIRREBRAR
(“BRZIR")
SERBAAREEAREMTAA  Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
company
EREAAR e HE i}
WRPRRARERAA Limited liability PRC PRC Registered
(“RireR”) company
BREEAA HE R i}
* English name is for identification purposes only.
Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group has acquired
1% additional equity interest in FEFIE%RF at a consideration of
RMB10,207,000 (approximately HK$11,732,000). The composition
of the board of directors as stipulated in the Articles of Association
of MEFIYE4F has not been unchanged after the acquisition. The
details were set out in note 41(A).

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2010, EZE S8t was disposed
of to EE S, an associate of the Group, at a consideration of
HK$16,000,000. The details were set out in note 44(ii).

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2010, a subsidiary of the Group
and the minority shareholder of fi#k# A have contributed additional
capital to HI#AF A which resulted in a change of shareholding of
both shareholders and the composition of the board of directors of
B KR (note 43). According to the new Articles of Association,
all the major financial and operating decisions require unanimous
consent from all venturers. Accordingly, the Group’s interest in fi
M BR was reclassified from a subsidiary to in a joint controlled
entity of the Group.

As all the major financial and operating decisions of the above
entities require unanimous consent from all venturers, they
are accounted for as jointly controlled entities.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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B 7

Proportion of
nominal value
of registered/
issued capital

held by the Group Principal activity
AEBfH R/
BEARAEELH TEXH
2010 2009
—E-TF —EETNAE
% %
50.0 50.0 Development of energy
import projects from
Middle East to PRC
RREMEZERGAERRE
51.0 51.0 Trading of natural gas
AARHE
49.0 - Investment holding
RERR
49.0 - Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction
AARHERMAEEER
40.0 - Trading of natural
(note ¢) gas and gas pipeline
construction
(Hizc) AARHERMREBER
* BN EBEEZ -
B 3
(a) BE-T—TF=A=+—HLFE  F£E

?ﬂtﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬁo,zozooo (#911,732,00058
TT ) BB SN O A0 451 % B A o UK 12 o IEAN
ERERE ZEAKERTE - BEFBEEHRK
E41(A) °

HE-_Z—ZF=-A=+—HLFE &%
I}ﬂﬂ“mooooooﬁémﬁ%i?ﬂ#ﬁi%ﬁ
SEZHEAREESE - BEFBEHNKZE
44(ii) °

BE_Z-ZHF=-A=1tHLFE F5H
PN T&ﬁ%qﬂﬁ" CBBRER AR AR AR R
BHONEAER  SZRAPRBERZBERE
=G ZHARE TR E(HI5E43) - REH QA
WA FFAEEAMBREEBREDREREE
BE—BREFAURES - Bit - AERERBM
TRz EEERERRZEEHER D EE
NEARZEGIER s -

CERERZABEEAMBREEREY

BEMBEZ2E —BRABNANEB  BAL
RERR R ERIEHERE -
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21.

22,

Investments in Jointly Controlled Entities
(Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
jointly controlled entities which are accounted for using
proportionate consolidation with the line-by-line reporting
format is set out below:

REMBWMRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

21. REARZHBERZREE)

AEEZ KREHERZHBERBTEIZ
EOERADIRR » WA TS Z DIREEZ R

2010 2009

—E-2fF —EThF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Current assets REEE 811,744 625,259

Non-current assets IERBEE 4,351,061 2,217,330

Current liabilities mEE & 1,052,969 723,995

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 1,056,260 543,753
Income recognised RIERRERZ KA

in profit or loss 1,339,183 990,112
Expenses recognised NEERER 2R

in profit or loss 1,204,889 915,780

Available-for-sale Investments

22. THEHERE

2010 2009
—E-ZfF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FH&ET
Equity securities listed REB LT 2 RAFES
in Hong Kong, BRAFE
at fair value 13,230 5,272
Unlisted equity securities, IEETRAES
at cost less impairment A ANE R E 66,114 33,008
Club debenture, BFES KHATE
at fair value 3,494 3,715
82,838 41,995

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong are stated at fair value.
The fair values of listed equity securities are based on quoted
market bid price. Change in fair value of the listed equity
securities classified as available-for-sale investments for the
year ended 31 March 2010 with a increase of HK$7,958,000
(2009: decrease of HK$6,495,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. For the
year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recognised impairment
loss of HK$14,947,000 to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

REBETZRAESIRAFEIE - £
MRAEFEHFZ AFEDNRBEMBZTHEA
BET REBEE-_ZT-—ZTF=-A=1+—H1t
FE - HEEAUHREEREY EFTRAE
A2 AFEEEE N7 058,000 (=T
NE 526,495,000 70 ) Rér & 2| WA
HERER RBE_ZETAF=A=+—H
IEFE  AEERGAEEZERARKFER
SREE 1B 14,947,000/ 7T ©
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Unlisted equity securities issued by private entities incorporated
in the PRC. Those private entities are engaged in the sales
and distribution of LPG in the PRC. They are measured at cost
less impairment at the end of the reporting period because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that their
fair values cannot be measured reliably.

Club debentures are stated at fair value. Fair value of the club
debenture has been determined by reference to the bid prices
quoted in the second hand market. No fair value change was
recognised in both years.

COST MAE
At 1 April 2008 R-TEENFmMA—A
Arising on acquisition EEaWEER(ME42)

of businesses (note 42)

At 31 March 2009,

R-EEAF=A=+-8

as restated (Z7)
Arising on acquisition B A8 W B A ml s
of additional interest in = (M FE40(A))
a subsidiary (note 40(A))
Arising on acquisition EEBWEEE(MzE42)
of businesses (note 42)
At 31 March 2010 RZT—ZTF=A=+—H
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2010 R-_ZT—ZFTF=A=+—H
At 31 March 2009, RZZTZNF=ZA=+—H
as restated (&%)

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in
the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired. Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill
are disclosed in note 25.
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HAMARAETZI EHRARZFN G EE
MY ZELABERBERBEEELPGHE
RDHEER - HRRE S RBKABRER
B REAAGEAVEZMEFZEEAK
ARREEZRR - HRFED A FEHG
2

o

EMEFLEAFEIE - @REFZAF
BENR2E_EHSMBRZREERERE -
%M EFED YL EER A FEZE -

HK$'000
TAIT

429,422

255,045

684,467

15,504
200,606
900,577
900,577

684,467

AEERSFRRNKRBEL ZHRFEES S
R HEELARE EANRRABEAL
WMER > @FETIRS - AREEERERNR
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Exclusive
rights of
natural gas Customer Technical
operations Relationship expertise Total
AAREKZ
BREERE EFBERF HEIEF M st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T FHET FHET FHET
COST RAE
At 1 April 2008 R=ZZEZENFMA—H 300,780 15,000 13,637 329,417
Acquired on acquisition of WEKIBRRME
a subsidiary (KMtEE40(B)(ii))
(note 40(B)(ii)) 7,037 - - 7,037
Acquired on acquisition of B XS
businesses (note 42) (Mi5E42) 7,124 = = 7,124
At 31 March 2009 RZBTAF
fﬂf'f' H 314,941 15,000 13,637 343,578
Acquired on acquisition of UEEEKFTE
businesses (note 42) (Mi5E42) 954,397 - - 954,397
At 31 March 2010 RZE—TF
=Z=A=+—H 1,269,338 15,000 13,637 1,297,975
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 April 2008 R=ZZFZENFNA—H 8,234 1,794 568 10,596
Charge for the year F B 10,504 1,500 681 12,685
At 31 March 2009 RZZTTNEF
_)E]_Jr H 18,738 3,294 1,249 23,281
Charge for the year F B 17,838 1,500 681 20,019
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZF
=A=+—8H 36,576 4,794 1,930 43,300
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2010 RIT—ZF
=A=+—8H 1,232,762 10,206 11,707 1,254,675
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZENF
=A=+—H 296,203 11,706 12,388 320,297
Note: The exclusive rights of natural gas operation, customer relationship e RAREBBERLEHE  FPEELKZEER

MIYBEEREDRIR="TF +ER=TF
ZHR#E -  ERECELEEZRERR
Z BN R 25 -

and technical expertise are amortised on a straight-line method
over the period of 30 years, 10 years and 20 years respectively.
Particulars regarding impairment testing on other intangible
assets are disclosed in note 25.

REREERARAR
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25. Impairment Testing on Goodwill and Other Intangible 25 BEREMEFEERENHR

Assets

EEERA - HEE RS AR
HME SHEATNLXREHERREE
TREELBN BB AAREBZER
@R EPHERSERNZEEESE
M

Management considered each subsidiary or jointly controlled
entity represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill
and other intangible assets impairment testing. The carrying
amounts of goodwill, exclusive rights of natural gas operations,
customer relationship and technical expertise are allocated
as follows:

Exclusive rights

76

Goodwill of natural gas operations Customer relationship Technical expertise
HE B3AER EFER BERH
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Xl 22 IR P EBREE P il CREnE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(restated)
(E71)

Subsidiaries or jointly
controlled entities
engaged in natural
gas business

Clever Decision Enterprise

HEXRRERL
HEAAIRE
2HER

Clever Decision

Limited Enterprise Limited 141,716 141,716 - - - - - -
EMRRETRAERARAR EMRRETRARR
(IEM=]) ARAF(ENSHR]) 44,802 44,802 - - - - - -
FRABANHRERA FREBANBMRERRA 15,540 15,540 - - - - - -
iR iR 65,981 65,981 - - - - - -
Positive Rise Energy Limited Positive Rise Energy
(“Positive Rise") Limited
([Positive Rise]) 100,086 100,086 86,693 89,821 - - - -
BETRFARAR ([BERR]) AETRRERAR
(IBERE]) - - 22,967 23,804 - - - -
China City Natural Gas China City Natural Gas
Investment Limited (“CGNGIL") Investment Limited
(TCGNGIL)) - - 61,291 63,629 - - - -
BAER BAER - - 10,385 10,784 - - - =
BIER BIED A - - 3,464 3,597 - - - -
MNREEERARRAR MNREEERT
(Mzse ) ARAF(TMRR]) - - 58,536 60,885 - - - -
Ehpi B - - 28,780 29,811 - - - -
China Gas Investment China Gas Investment
Development Limited (‘CGIDL") ~ Development Limited
(rcaioL)) - - - - 10,206 11,706 - -
China Oman China Oman - - - - - - 11,707 12,388
NEREEARRARAR HERRESLR
(TmmAel) ARA(THERE]) 53,688 53,688 3,369 3,558 - = - =
Brilliant China Investments Brilliant China
Limited (“Brilliant China") Investments Limited
(IBrilliant Chinal) 99,866 - 291,939 - - - - -
BEEENRARRELT HEEENRAR
(m=ggl) AEAR(AEEE]) - - 625,040 - - - - -
BERRBTRRERARAR HERMAMIRER
(L) BRAF(HERM]) 14,931 - 8,087 - - - - -
BRI TRAERERAA ERAATIRRER
(FEBRR) BRAF(EEHR]) 27,136 - 10,354 - - - - -
HPIABMAAERAT HIABMAAERAT
(MBIABMA]) (M BIABMRR]) 30,396 - 11,990 - - - - -
AmR R RERAR AP R ERAR
(FRYIRIEL) (CRYIR1E ) 6,018 - - - - - - -
Other CGUs EREELEN 64,498 61,297 9,867 10,314 - - - -
Subsidiaries engaged HELPGEHZHEAT
in LPG business
Zhongyou Hua Dian HREE 210,843 201,357 - - - - - -
LEZER LEZER 25,076 - - - - - - -
900,577 684,467 1,282,762 296,203 10,206 11,706 11,707 12,388
CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based
on value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the
value in use calculations are those regarding the discount
rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices
and direct costs during the period. Management estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth
forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are
based on past practices and expectations of future changes
in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by management for
the next five years. The CGUs cashflows beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated using a steady 3% (2009: 3%) growth
rate for natural gas business and 5% (2009: 5%) for LPG
business. The financial budgets and growth rates are estimated
according to the stage of each operation with reference to
the development curve of the natural gas industry in the
PRC region. The rates used to discount the forecast cash
flows for CGUs are from 15% to 17% (2009: 15% to 17%). In
the opinion of the directors, no material impairment loss is
identified for both years.

Construction materials fEv)

Consumables, spare parts SEREM - EH RRE R
and coke materials

Natural gas KRR

LPG LPG

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

B 2 A A 2 A (5 UM (B T A O P R
EET - HEEAREEIERIRANNEE
ZHNE ERERBMEHRE LA
- ERERRREAFELEBHER
B B A B2 5 T LR 2 BEAT b A B 4T
NE - MEERENEREEEE - SEE
B % B 4 AN £ 1B ) % 7B A 4 R
EHTET -

REBERBEEIEBAERKAF 2 R HE
KEERRUESREEE - EEARAARER
NIPCGEBKAFHBZESELAEMNRES R
2SR FEARBTEEREI% (ZETNF
3%)K5% (ZETNF : 5%)ETHE - Bf
BREREEERDRESEB ZEREER
KRERBAMEBEZ KARTEZERBRE
HEte BRBARESCELEN s REREN
Mt RB15%E17% (ZEBNE - 15% %
17%) 17 F - EERAE  REMBEFERES
AA] SRR EEE ©

2009

—EENF

HK$’000

FAET

133,134 113,329
135,315 59,364
11,228 25,992
284,486 342,213
564,163 540,898
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RBERRZERTIE

Contracts in progress at end
of the reporting period:

BESEZAKKRAINE R
i AR B TR UE 1B

Contract costs incurred plus
recognised profits less
recognised losses

Less: Progress billings o EERR

Analysed for reporting E2MABE DT :
purposes as:

Amounts due from customers EBREFZAHNTIEREA
for contract work

Amounts due to customers
for contract work

ENEP 26 #HTRRIE

At 831 March 2010 and 2009, there was no retention monies
held by customers for contract work performed. At 31 March
2010, advances received from customers for contract work
not yet commenced amounted to HK$430,269,000 (2009:
HK$258,592,000) which were included in trade and other
payables in note 33.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recognised
losses of HK$51,418,000 (2009: HK$36,864,000) in respect
of contract costs incurred. The directors of the Company
reviewed the recoverable amounts of contract costs incurred
and identified certain projects are unlikely to be completed
in foreseeable future due to the delay of construction work
of relevant property development projects in the PRC. In
the opinion of directors of the Company, the amounts are
unlikely to be recovered from its customers and accordingly,
losses are recognised in full in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2009

—TTNEF

HK$'000

FHET

727,364 527,111
(863,415) (428,861)
(136,051) 98,250
103,265 219,993
(239,316) (121,743)
(136,051) 98,250

R_E—ZTER_ZTZTNEF=ZA=+—
B TERBERXNEHBEFREETZA
HNIRMEE R-_E—ZTF=F=+—
A EREABRAZANIRERKEZ
# 3 A430,269,0008 t( = T T S F
258,592,000/ 7c) * WE I AKFEIZZE S
FERBRA R EMEMRE -

RBEE-_ZT—ZTE=ZA=+—"HILFE &
SERESHEZ AR AERS1,418,000%
T( = ZZ AL 4 : 36,864,000/ 7T ) & 18 °
KRR EZBRFTEGE KA Z 7] U @
- ARFPEEEMEZRBE 2 ITREE
MMRBRAEETEEEAURBERERZES
ER - ARAEERE REFERREZ
AT AUERGEEEKAFTEREZR
TEREA -



Trade receivables
Less: Accumulated allowances

Trade receivables

Deposits paid for construction
and other materials

Deposits paid for purchase
of natural gas and LPG

Advance payments to
sub-contractors

Tender deposits

Rental and utilities deposits

Other tax recoverable

Other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Amounts due from minority
shareholders of subsidiaries

Amounts due from
shareholders of jointly
controlled entities

Total trade and
other receivables

Other than certain major customers with good repayment history
which the Group allows a longer credit period or settlement
by instalment basis, the Group generally allows an average

B 5 R R
o REHE R

B 5 B ARR
TRREEGMHENZES

BERARNMLPG
BENRE
BN T AR ZHIA

RiZRE

HeM AAEXZS

H iy m] Y (3] 75 78

Hip e - Za Rk
FAf IR

JFE Ui Bt B8 X R D B
PR RIR

& W K ) 4 ) B
BRI

B 5 IR R A
FE Y FR IR 48 7R

credit period of 30 to 180 days to its trade customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of
impairment losses presented based on invoice date at the

end of the reporting period:

0 - 180 days
181 — 365 days
Over 365 days

0-180H
181-365H
3658 A

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

2009

—TTNF

HK$’000

FHEIT

820,144 655,774
(221,497) (146,079)
598,647 509,695
100,278 75,134
306,555 130,983
150,151 105,806
66,107 17,644
24,541 22,752
43,260 36,522
345,742 251,610
212,050 70,155
23,730 65,397
1,871,061 1,285,698

BRETHNRCHRRTIZEIERFERNEB K
FERREEHSK S BARIN  AER—
MEESEFIRMFH30-180B 22 EH -

i

N
e
A

E
(

REMR REZEAH2IZ2EZEEER
R EEE) 2RI

2009

—ZETNF

HK$’000

FHETT

480,797 344,066
74,793 92,333
43,057 73,296
598,647 509,695
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The trade receivables with carrying amount of HK$480,797,000
(2009: HK$344,066,000) are neither past due nor impaired
at the reporting date for which the Group believes that the
amounts are considered recoverable.

The Group has policies for allowance of bad and doubtful
debts which are based on the evaluation of collectability and
age analysis of accounts and on the management’s judgment
including the credit creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group made
an allowance of HK$75,112,000 (2009: HK$53,883,000) in
respect of the trade receivables related to the gas pipeline
construction business, which was past due at the reporting
date with long age and slow repayments were received from
respective customers since the due date. The directors of the
Company considered the related receivables may be impaired
and specific allowance is made.

Movement in the allowance for bad and doubtful debts:

Balance at the beginning FAREAR
of the year

Exchange differences EHZR

Charge for the year NG R

Balance at the end FRER

of the year

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to
the reporting date. The trade receivables past due but not
provided for impairment were either subsequently settled as
at the date of these consolidated financial statements were
authorised for issuance or no historical default of payments by
the respective customers. The concentration of credit risk is
limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe that there is
no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance
for bad and doubtful debts.
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AEEZ RIZRBEREKIIRIEE D RIAH
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REBERE 2 E
2009
—EENEF
HK$'000
FAET
146,079 79,187
306 13,009
75,112 53,883
221,497 146,079
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are debtors, with a
carrying amount of HK$117,850,000 (2009: HK$165,629,000)
which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group
has not provided as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the amount are still considered recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
The average age of these trade receivable is 270 days (2009:
320 days) as at 31 March 2010.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

28.

REMBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

ESRURRAREMERIRIER(E)

AEEBESRERUERTPRBERABE
117,850,000 L2 B SR KRER(ZZZ 1
4 : 165,629,000 7T ) + Z E X ERN B &
AfiE A BEASEEREEEEZRAFE

B AEBVERZSEHTEETMIEA -
R-ZTE—ZTFE=ZA=+—H ZETE5EK
B2 FHERA27T0B(ZEZT N F : 320
H) -

WARAE B BN A RS R B2 5
WERZ ER AT

2010 2009

—E—-EF —EThEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHBT

180 — 365 days 180 - 365H 74,793 92,333
Over 365 days 365H A 43,057 73,296
117,850 165,629

Amounts due from minority shareholders of subsidiaries and
shareholders of jointly controlled entities are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

FEURF A R D B R R AR 6 B B AR
FIEG BEER RS RARERER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-ZT—ZTF=A=1+—HLEFE

29. Derivative Financial Instruments

82

29.

7=

i)

Y@ T A

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Derivative financial assets: MESREE :
Non-current IERE
Interest rate range accrual TREERERY e
swap transactions not FRIE 2 A R & B 25
qualified for hedge HHR 5
accounting 9,759 -
Current TE
Interest rate range accrual TREBERERY P&
swap transactions not BRI 2 F R & E R 5t
qualified for hedge FHIRZ 5
accounting 2,909 -
Early redemption option Al R B 5 M A5 2 4R AT
embedded in convertible FE [B] 4 (P 3E38(c))
bonds (note 38(c)) - 1,261
2,909 1,261
Derivative financial liabilities: PTESREE:
Non-current IR ED
Interest rate range accrual TREBERERE P&
swap transactions not BRI 2 F R & E R 5t
qualified for hedge FHIRZ 5
accounting - 360,087
Current TE
Embedded conversion Pt 745 2 P A
option (note 38(b)) (Kt5£38(b)) - 782

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010



Major terms of the outstanding interest rate swap transactions
as at 31 March 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Notional amount Maturity dates Pay leg

EREH EpGRE] EN: P

RMB2,000,000,000 From 4 September 2011
in aggregate to 12 December 2011

AHARE M-ZE——FNLANBZE
2,000,000,0007C —=2——%+—-HA+=H

US$200,000,000
in aggregate

From 12 October 2010
to 13 June 2011

A B

=
200,000,000 7T —FT——FXA+=H

6.60% — 6.65%

6.60E%6.65E

From USD LIBOR +
0.60% to USD LIBOR
+2.35%

—ZEETATAE BETHRBEBTRE

HEE+0.60EEXTT R

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

R=F-—ZFFR_"ZFFAF=A=+—8
REEARN R IR 52 T RIGHWAT ¢

Receive leg

W R BB 2

Relative movement of 2-year,
10-year and 30-year
USD swap rates

2F - 10FE RI0OFETIHEHFEZ
I

Relative movement of 2-year,
10-year and 30-year
USD swap rates

2F - 10FE RI0OFETHEHFEZ

MBERITEEHRE R+

2.352

The net fair values of the outstanding interest rate transactions
are measured at the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived
from quoted interest rates, and quoted spot and forward
foreign exchange rate.

Embedded conversion option represented the fair value of
the bondholders’ option to convert the convertible bonds
issued on 29 June 2005 (as detailed in note 38) into equity
of the Company.

Early redemption option represented the fair value of the
Company’s option to early redeem in respect of convertible
bond issued on 29 June 2005 (as detailed in note 38) into
equity of the Company.

With the full conversion of the convertible bonds during the
year end 31 March 2010, there is no derivatives embedded
in convertible bonds at 31 March 2010.

REBRN KX Z 2 AP FETIRBEERR
BAMKRFEZ R AR 2 A RRER 2
MZBE ARBRERERAEERGTE -

MralhkEEEsREAR_STRFNA
“thBRBETZABERES (#ﬁWEﬁ&E
BAERRBRAZEREEZA

RABOEEARRABR _ZETAFAAAZ
THHE(FRHEI8) BT AR ES 22
BREZAFERENBELDSA QAL -

HREBE_—F —Eifﬂ + HIEFE
BREBRUBRES RTE-—FTF=A=
+— ET%%L%H,WﬁmEIE°

T B RIER AR A A) 83
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For the year ended 31 March 2010

"nE—

84

E-TF=A=t+-ALEE

The fair value of the embedded conversion and early redemption
option at 31 March 2009 were calculated using the Black-
Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model. The inputs into the
model were as follows:

Conversion price/ HIRE EEETEE
redemption price/
exercise price

Expected volatility (note a) TEER R (i sEa)
Expected life (note b) TEHASF HA (Bt 5Eb)
Risk free rate (note c) mRR A E (M sEc)
Notes:

(a) Expected volatility for early redemption option was determined
by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share
price over 250 trading days; for embedded conversion option
was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the
Company’s share price over 250 trading days.

(b) Expected life was the expected remaining life of the respective
options.

(c) The risk free rate is determined by reference to the Hong Kong
Government Bond Yield.

During the year, a gain of HK$372,755,000 (2009: a loss of
HK$366,320,000) was recognised in respect of the changes
in fair values of derivative financial instruments.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RZZTZNF=A=+—"HBNETRBKBERLE
RIERE 2 A FEIIZRANR - &R - B
i3

HREEEEAGFE - EX 2@ ABFNOT:
2009
—EENF
Embedded Early
conversion redemption
option option
P 45 468 B 12 A B = A
HK$1.731 HK$1.210
1.73187T 1.2108 7T
70.72% 70.72%
1.25 years 1.25 years
1.25% 1.25%
0.51% 0.51%

e

(a) RAIEEEZEMKEDLAEART ZEE
R2501E% 5 B 2 LR EMETE ¢ st i &
BMRERN S - RAREREFTERARR 2 R(E
R 2501822 5 B 2 [ SL R 18 M €

(b) TRHARFHESPEZRARTFS -
(c) EBRRANXRDELEZBERMEFESXE

-
E °

FR o YE372,755,0008 T( —ET H4F ¢
E518366,320,000/8 70 ) EER ATAES BT
BZ NFEES -
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30. Amounts Due from/to Associates

31.

REMB|RME
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

30. W FENEE DR RE

PLR 2009
—E-=fF —TTNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&T

Amounts due from associates JE Wit & A B RIE

Non-current portion (note a) FEneEs (Hita) - 68,966

Current portion (note b) mEE D (Fdakb) 138,236 243,250

138,236 312,216

Notes: B 5

(a) The balance at 31 March 2009 was unsecured, interest bearing (a) MR-ZBETAE=ZA=+—HAzEHTHEKR .
at 5.31% per annum and repayable on 1 June 2010. REMNES1EFEREAR-_T—ZFXA

—HAEE-

(b) Included in the balance is an amount of HK$77,361,000 (2009: (b) EA# & 2 & 577,361,000 T( 2%
HK$76,264,000) which is unsecured, interest bearing at 5.31% JUEF 76,264,000 T ) D EE A K F
to 6.93% per annum and repayable within a year. The remaining MES531EZ6.QBEFEEER—FANE
balance of HK$60,875,000 (2008: HK$166,986,000) are of trade & o £ 5860,875,0008 T( — T T N\ & :
nature with aging within 180 days based on invoice date. A credit 166,986,000 L) BE S E - RECAER
period of 30 to 180 days is granted to these trade customers. All HEEET180B A - AEBEMZEE S ELE
balances are neither past due nor impaired at the reporting date FI0HE180AZEEH - AN EEERIE
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the BANE  BASEREEEHESEN THRE -
Group believes that the amounts are considered recoverable. RBEHR - FTAABRYESHAREE -

The amounts due to associates are unsecured, non-interest ENEE AR RBELAEER 22 WARE

bearing and repayable on demand.

Held-for-trading Investments

RESEER -

31. FEEHERE

2010 2009
—E-ZfF —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHERT FH&xT
Listed securities at fair value BEATEFE 2 LTES
- Equity securities listed —REB LT 2 RAE
in Hong Kong 15,468 11,460
- Equity securities listed — AP E LT 2 RAE
in the PRC - 84
15,468 11,544
FREIRBIEIRAR A 85
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

86

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less and carry interest at market rates which
range from 0.03% to 1.71% per annum (2009: 0.03% to 1.21%
per annum).

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits
amounting to HK$489,103,000 (2009: HK$847,759,000) have
been pledged to secure short-term bank loans and undrawn
short-term facilities and are therefore classified as current
assets. The pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate
of 1.00% to 3.47% (2009: 0.81% to 3.42%) per annum.

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash which are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the respective group entities
are set out below:

At 31 March 2010 R-EB—ZFTFE=H=+—H
At 31 March 2009 R=ZZFZNF=A=+—H

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BORKEFEERRSCEEALEARAEZHERE
ARAZEARNE Bz EHRTER  BEF
0.03EE1.71E(ZZZTNE : #F0.08EE
1.21E) ZFIEETE °

EEBRITEREARGRE TAEE Z BT
A& MK TR 1T 277 3 ° 489,103,000/8
T(=ZBZ A4 : 847,759,000/ T ) Z 17 &K
BEEEMBURESEHETERERRERZE
HmE Ao BEARBDEE - BHEBIRT
GHIREF100EE3ATE( ST NE ¢
£0.81EZE3.42E) 2 FI =X & -

AEERESEEEEERZDREEENIIZ
INEETEZEBMBTEFARRTERTR
REZFBEHIMT :

usbD HK$

£t BT

HK$’'000 HK$’'000

FET FET
equivalent
HE R

796,306 43,758

378,531 11,895



Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for
trade purchases and ongoing costs. The following is an aged
analysis of trade and other payables presented base on the
invoice date at the reporting date:

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEFE

BHRNEFIRECENERARREESESR
RFEFEREAZREBFHE - RBREEA - &K
BRAHENN 2B 5 RN R HE MR
BZEBREDTWMT

0 - 90 days 0 - 90H

91 - 180 days 91 - 180H

Over 180 days 180H M E

Trade and bill payables B SRR RER

Other payables and E b fETBRIE R B AT 2
accrued charges

Construction fee payables FERTEER

Other tax payables FET B A B IR

Accrued staff costs 2B IR

Loan interest payables JE T E TS

Deposits received from BWEFZZSE
customers

Advance payments from REEP 2 EBKRIE
customers

Advances received from EREAREZEL
customers for contract TRREPUE 2 25K

works that have not

yet been started
Amounts due to minority

shareholders of subsidiaries
Amounts due to

shareholders of jointly

controlled entities
Obligation on capital

injection to Fujian Anran

by Zhongmin Zhongran

(as defined in note 42(A)(iii))
Deferred cash consideration

for the acquisition of

businesses (note 42)

ARG S E ]
JE A5 3 [R] 422 1) B B A% 3R FRIE
FRAMABERZA
EFEZEME
(FEZE RMIFE42(A)(iii))

FEREE TS 2T
RERE(KIFE42)

2009

—EENGF

HK$’000

FHBTT

1,058,186 1,142,836
245,035 119,262
382,258 249,131
1,685,479 1,511,229
128,572 164,996
154,119 99,303
57,392 102,071
85,512 71,159
47,481 49,245
55,191 12,709
361,227 186,196
430,269 258,592
50,501 65,454
24,668 34,291
23,448 -
78,161 48,068
3,182,020 2,603,313

T B RIER R A A) 87
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT—ZHF=A=1+—HLEFE

33. Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 33. BESENERRREMENERIE(AZ)
Included in the amounts due to minority shareholders of AT AR HE A R D AR R & RIEHE 88
subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are BREZ2ESRNAEES FEWIRF4,469,000
trade payable amounting to HK$4,469,000 (2009: HK$22,292,000) Br(ZZF T F:22,292,0008 T ) Kk
and HK$9,136,000 (2009: HK$6,031,000) respectively. All of 9,136,000 ;L ( =T = 1L % : 6,081,000
the balances were aged within 90 days based on invoice date JL) o PTA#ER 2 AR R 3 M B E H AR 5190
and the average credit period is 90 days. ARk FHEEH AR -

The non-trade balances of amounts due to minority shareholders FE S B A 7] > Bk BR R HE R 42 i) B RS AR R
of subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are ZRIBRERR R ERAREKRKEE -

unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

34. Bank and Other Borrowings 34. RITRHMEE

2010 2009
—s-%% —EThSF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT

Bank and other borrowings RITREAM

comprise the following: BEEHE

Bank loans RITERK 10,640,014 7,741,596
Trust receipt loans B E R 1,686,715 1,586,521
Mortgage loan RIBE R 7,566 11,904
Other bank loans HAiiR1TER 763,635 669,138
Other loans HaER 218,176 288,763
13,316,106 10,297,922
Secured Fog i 8,250,069 7,563,605
Unsecured K R 5,066,037 2,734,317
13,316,106 10,297,922

88 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

34. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued) 34. MITRHMEE(E)
Other bank loans represent the loans from discounting of HMBTEREREAZAEPREZHER A
intercompany receivables with full recourse. 7 FE YR I ©

2010 2009
—2-FF —TThEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TAET

The maturity profile of the FERZBBHEROT -
above loans is as follows:

Within one year R—FR 5,294,761 3,103,855
More than one year, but ZR—FETEBERE
not exceeding two years 662,620 353,763
More than two years, but ZIAMEETBARF
not exceeding five years 3,063,156 2,430,918
More than five years ZRAFE 4,295,569 4,407,396
13,316,106 10,297,922
Less: Amount due within B —FEAREEIARE
one year shown BEZHIE
under current liabilities (5,294,761) (3,103,855)
Amount due after one year —F BB B2 A 8,021,345 7,194,067
Borrowings comprise: BEBE
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 5,016,495 7,392,080
Floating-rate borrowings EEEE
— LIBOR plus 1.5% —LIBORZ% I11.5% 2,706,958 2,072,957
- Base rate of People’s — B ARBITEMRFR X
Bank of China 5,592,653 832,885
13,316,106 10,297,922
The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal REBBEZERMNE 2@ E(BEEFTLF
to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are )W ¢
as follows:
2010 2009
—E—EF —ETNF
Effective interest rate B EFIE
per annum:
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEBE 2.10% to 7.83% 2.10% to 7.83%
2.10%%£7.83% 2.10%%7.83%
Floating-rate borrowings FEMEE 3.84% to 8.00% 3.56% to 8.00%
3.84%%8.00% 3.56%%8.00%

PRI AR AR 89
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

The details of the Group’s borrowings which are denominated in AEBRESHEEEER 2 NEERE A2
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective SNESHEZ BB ZFBEINET ¢
group entities are set out below:

EUR usbD JPY
BT EH HE
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHT
equivalent equivalent equivalent
HER HER HER
At 31 March 2010 R=ZB-ZF=A=+—H - 4,232,459 95,031
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF=A=1+—H 22,907 3,434,058 47,479
Convertible
Ordinary shares preference shares Total
EBER MRRELER &5t
No. of No. of
shares shares
‘000  HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR AR 2K T  TREH FHET THET
at HK$0.01 at HK$1.00
each each
FREE BiREE
0.018 7T 1.00%8 T
Authorised ETE 9,000,000 90,000 124,902 124,902 214,902
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
At 1 April 2008 RZZZEN\FMA—H 3,331,444 33,314 - - 33,314
Exercise of share options i AR (FTE49)

(note 49) 2,170 22 - - 22
At 31 March 2009 RZZTNF=A=+—H 3,333,614 33,336 - - 33,336
Exercise of share options 71 B AR (P 5E49)

(note 49) 18,410 184 = = 184
Issue of new ordinary BT AR ()

shares (Note) 9,012 90 - - 90
At 31 March 2010 R-ZZT—TF=A=+—H 3,361,036 33,610 - - 33,610
Note:During the year ended 31 March 2010, the bondholders of the Bt : E’ééﬁ?:?*;ﬁiiﬂ =+—BLEE &EF

Bond (as defined in note 38) have fully converted the remaining (ERAMEIB)WESKAEANBRESR
of the Bond into 9,012,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in 1.731 B TEEMM AR T &% /9,012,000
the Company at a conversion price of HK$1.731 per share. BAR DR G REE0.01B L2 BEA
The shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the RERBETZRORAETEHEARERNE
then existing shares in all respects. BRSHEMN -

90 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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36.

37.

REMB|RME
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

Reserves 36. f#E
Translation reserve 5
2010 2009
—E—EF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
At the beginning of the e e )
reporting period 285,553 283,690
Exchange difference arising EMEmMEEZEL %
on translation 1,240 1,863
Release upon disposal of i LRI I B BB R
jointly controlled entities (9,066) -
Release upon disposal of o BT BB A ) B $8 [a]
a subsidiary (62) -
At the end of the RN EER
reporting period 277,665 285,553
Investment revaluation reserve REEMHE
PLR 2009
—E-FF —EZNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At the beginning of the R E
reporting period - (8,452)
Increase in fair value on A ERE A TFEEMN
available-for-sale
investments 7,958 8,452
At the end of the reporting period R¥R&EHEK 7,958 —
Amount Due to a Minority Shareholder of a Subsidiary 37. XMBARLEBRR ZHNIE
The amount is unsecured, bearing fixed-rate interest at 2% ZHAREER RFMNKR2EFE C AR
per annum, repayable in year 2013 and denominated in JPY. T—=FEERNBEE: Bt ZHKE

Accordingly, the amount is classified as a non-current liability

as at the end of the reporting period.

NHERRWIN BRI ERBAE -

BT AR AR 91
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

92

On 23 June 2005, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreement with CQS Convertible and Quantitative
Strategies Master Fund Limited (“CQS”) and Courtenay
Enterprises Limited (“Courtenay”), independent third parties
of the Group, whereby CQS and Courtenay subscribed the
USD denominated Bonds (“the Bond”) issued at par by the
Company in an aggregate principal amount of US$40,000,000.
The Bond was issued on 29 June 2005 (“the Issue Date”) and
carries interest at 1% per annum and is matured on 29 June
2010. The conversion price of the Bond is HK$1.731 and can
be converted at any time on or after Issue Date up to 19 June
2010. Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased
and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at 127.070 per
cent of their principal amount on 29 June 2010. All or some
of the Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the relevant
holder on 29 June 2009 at 115.314 per cent of their principal
amount. The Bond are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2562) on 1 June 2006.

The net proceeds received from the issue of convertible
bonds contain the following components that are required
to be separately accounted for in accordance with HKAS 32
“Financial instruments: Presentation” and HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and Measurement”:

(a) Liability component of the Bond represents the present
value of the contractually determined stream of future
cash flows discounted at the rate of interest at that time
by the market to instruments of comparable credit status
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the
same terms, but without the conversion and redemption
option. The effective interest rate of the liability component
determined on initial recognition is 4.5% per annum.

(b) Embedded conversion option of the Bond to be accounted
for as a separate financial liability represents the fair
value of the option to convert the liability into equity of
the Company.

(c) Embedded early redemption option of the Bond represents
the Company’s option to early redeem all or part of the
Bond by bond holder on or before 19 June 2010 at the
conversion price of HK$1.731.

(d) Mandatory redemption option of the Bond represents
redemption at the option of the bond holders on 29 June
2009 at 115.314 per cent of the principal amount of the
Bond.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RZZEZERFAAA=Z+=H AARH
CQS Convertible and Quantitative
Strategies Master Fund Limited ([CQS])
K Courtenay Enterprises Limited
([Courtenay]) (MEVAXEBE 2B E
EF)AILEBREREmZ  BILCASK
CourtenayREAARIREEETEARNLHE
#340,000,000% T 2 AE Tt B E H([ &
1) BEFER_TTRFESNA-+TNBET
(IETR]D  BEMNFIEFRAR_ZT—F
FRAZTNBEE - BHF2ERER.731
B JRECTHRBRE_ZT—ZFATN
AHARERERER - RIFLENEERD &
BMLBEEWEE  SAUEHFER T —TF
NAZTNRIEAEFE127.070%EE - FFH
BEABAEER_ZSTNAF A=+ NH
BREHFASE115.314%E B H 2 RS ©
BER_ZENFAA— AR Em(E
HN5E  2562) °

BT RE 5 2 PRSI F R BB A TR
D FERBEE G ERE2RI 2T
H: 27| RBEGAEAFEI9R SR TR
R L2 BT AR :

(a) BEFZBEBEBRNDEEOMEZIRKRES
MEBEERTHS ERAAAXBARNE
5 A Bl 18 4 3 A % B o) 42 3 4R 4 K B
RNRESRENMBRIE 2 THHNEE
THBRRHNIRE ROTEIRSAAE
RIDEE 2 BRF X Z4.58 -

(b) 465 A1 50 & B B (B 5 B 2 6 25 2 Y
BB BB AR A 2 R B
AT -

(c) BEFZHTRABRERRAATHE
FREAR_ZE-—ZFRA+TNLBZHZ
AIAEBE1 731 B TRREBRE 2 Ak
BRI E R 2R FE

(d) EHFzRHERNERREESFEEAZ
ERR_ZTEENFAAAZ-ZTNLBUES
AL HE115.314%#E T 2@ -



The movement of different components of the convertible
bonds during the year is set out below:

At 1 April 2008

Change in fair value
Interest charged (note 10)
Interest paid

At 31 March 2009

Converted during the year
(note)

Interest charged (note 10)

Interest paid

At 31 March 2010

R=ZTN\EWA—A
ATEED

FI2 3 H (FHEE10)
B F 8

R=FEAF=A=+—8
& Pysmia (M i)

FIB X H (HEE10)
EfF2
R=F-—FF=A=+—~

Liability

a8
HK$'000
THETT
14,334

645
(156)

14,823
(14,823)

39
(39)

Note: In the opinion of directors, the financial impact on the change
in fair values of conversion option and early redemption options
up to the date of conversion of convertible bonds are not

significant.

For the year ended 31 March

2010

HE-2-BF=A=+-ALEE

FARBBRESZ TRKO 2 ZEBEINMT

Embedded
conversion
option

B %5
B
HK$’000
FHET
4,264
(3,482)

782
(782)

Early
redemption
option Total
RAEE
BERE Bzt
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
THET T
(2,614) 15,984
1,858 (2,129)
- 645
- (156)
(1,261) 14,344
1,261 (14,344)
- 39
- (39)

fhit: EERA - EEUHRRESFEBRAHL &
BERRIBECEEAFELY 2 HBTE

K -

T B RIER R A A)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010

S

94

—E-BE=A=t-ALEE

The following is the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting

years.

At 1 April 2008, as restated
Acquisition of businesses (note 42)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss

for the year

At 31 March 2009, as restated
Acquisition of additional interest of a
jointly controlled entity (note 41(A))
Acquisition of businesses (note 42)
Charge (credit) to profit or loss
for the year

At 31 March 2010

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred

R=ZZN\ERA-B(E])
WS (Mzka2)
FRMERE

(E%)nk

RZEENE=A=1—H(E])
RELREHEREMES
(HzE41(A))
WS (Mzka2)
FRMERE
nh(E4)

e

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

B THE E
EIETIA A A

BT 78 34 A BB 95 4 T AT R R E S 2 B AR
EREBERE(EE)ARENED -

Impairment

Revaluation on trade

on receivables

property, and

plant and amounts

equipment due from

Revaluation and customers

Accelerated on  prepaid for

tax investment lease Tax Intangible contract
depreciation properties payments losses assets work Total

LES EUEF

BERESE ANIE

MEBRE RE RENEE ZEREN
WE MEER  HRER HEER EFEE  BINE &3t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr A TEx  TExr  TExr TEx TEL
472 22,659 29,095 (3,925 56,643  (34,203) 70,741
- - 133,440 - 1,780 - 135220
(1) 1,575 (4,421) 283 (1,973)  (22,687)  (27,224)
471 24,234 158,114 (3,642) 56,450  (56,890) 178,737
- 426 - - - - 426
- - 88,152 - 182,691 - 270,843
- 9,289 (7,067) (3,633) (2,190)  (31,265)  (34,866)
471 33,949 239,199 (7,275) 236,951  (88,155) 415,140

RENGEAMBRARME - & T BLHE
EEREBECTEY U TARMBBEN
=2 BIEBARES AT

2009
ZEThE
HK$’'000
FHET
(restated)
(E3))

88,155 56,890
(503,295) (235,627)

(415,140) (178,737)



Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profit earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2009 onward. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$940,618,000 (2009: HK$469,250,000) as the Group is able
to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

All jointly controlled entities and associates are held directly
by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group established
in the PRC which are therefore not subject to the above-
mentioned withholding tax.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of HK$1,675,899,000 (2009: HK$846,411,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of HK$44,093,000 (2009:
HK$22,073,000) of the tax losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised for the remaining estimated tax losses of
HK$1,631,806,000 (2009: HK$824,338,000) due to the uncertainty
of future profits streams. Included in unrecognised estimated tax
losses are losses of HK$985,949,000 (2009: HK$278,085,000)
that will expire in 5 years from the year of origination. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

(i) On 7 October 2009, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a share transfer agreement
with a minority shareholder of Zhongyou Hua Dian in
relation to the acquisition of 4.5% equity interest at a
total consideration of RMB10,850,000 (approximately
HK$12,471,000). The consideration was satisfied by
way of transfer of an available-for-sale investment
of the Group with carrying value of RMB10,850,000
(approximately HK$12,471,000). Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of additional interest in Zhongyou
Huadian is HK$9,486,000.

(ii) On 16 December 2009, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company entered into a share transfer agreement
with a minority shareholder of FJIF KX in relation
to the acquisition of 4% equity interest at a total
consideration of RMB7,235,700 (approximately
HK$8,317,000). Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of additional interest in &IJIF LA is HK$6,018,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEFE

BEFECEMEHE BT NLF— A
—HBE RABEHNBARMERZEFNmME
EKZBREABKREINR - RAMBHRRILE
Bt A B BT B A A 2 &% F1940,618,000% 7T
— T TR ¢ 469,250,000/ 7T ) fE IR IE
TR A - R AR AN B AL 4L i) B 5 =
FoRHE BEERERE TR EEAED
FEk -

PERAEHNEREBEARIBAKREE
PEKY2ETEEMNBAREEIA
I RGN B TR -

RBEHR AEBATAREE R EF 2
fEET A8 A A 1B E5 18 A1,675,899,000/8 7T
(ZZF T 5L 4 : 846,411,000/ 7T ) ° & &
44,093,000 T( —ZZT N4 : 22,073,000
BLIZHEBERRELHBEE - A
RAA B E &R mFRIFE - EGarHE
&5 $81,631,806,000/% ;o( — & T 7 F :
824,338,000/8 7 ) WEERIELCHIBEE -
RERGHIBEET BIE KRG FERT
hFE RN Em2985,949,0008 T( —EF h
£ : 278,085,000/ 70 ) 518 - H b EE ] &
[RHEA&ES -

(hy R=ZZEZAF+ALRH  A2a
—RE2ENBRABEPHES —
ELHEBREABREBRAREARE
10,850,0007C (412,471,000 7T )
W BB 4.5% 0% AN 7 25 T 5] 3 — 19 %
NEEHZ ZREEEBEBELN
SEEKEEEAARE10,850,000
TT(#712,471,000 7T ) = Al 4 H
EXRESIH - BB MESEIN
eI M E A 2 2 59,486,000
=

(i) RZZETAFE+_A+,B AR
Al —RE2EME R F HEFY AR
—RLEBRRREERBARK
7,235,7007T( 498,317,0007% 7T )
T BB 4 9% % 7S 4 25 T 2] S — 19 AR 19
R o B UREE R I P R EE AN
=5 1 E A 2 72 56,018,000
=:

T B RIER R A A) 95
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B I RAR A

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT—ZHF=A=1+—HLEFE

40. Acquisition of Subsidiaries and Additional Interest 40. WIBMBARAREEBWE 2 8 2 E 5

in Subsidiaries (Continued) (4&)
(B) Acquisition of assets through purchase of subsidiaries (B) R=ZEZNFEBREHBATWEZ
in 2009 BE
(i) On 7 August 2008, the Group acquired 90% equity () RZZTEZENFENARLH ~&E
interestin SEEAARARRREAR AR (“SEHEBA") AR #19,267,0007c( 8 & R
for RMB19,267,000 (equivalent to HK$22,145,000). 22,145,000 7T ) W & S &= HE#A A
S8 A has not commenced business at the date AARHAEBRAA( SEEH
of acquisition. A1)90% iR Az - RIKEEE R -
SEEBAAENRRARER
HK$’000
T
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED Bz FEE
Property, plant and equipment L E & 20,735
Prepaid lease payments TR &R 5,430
Inventories rE 55
Bank balances and cash RITRERES® 4
Other payables E b fEFRRIE (1,618)
24,606
Minority interests DR (2,461)
22,145
SATISFIED BY AR
Cash consideration ReRE 22,145
NET CASH OUTFLOW HEBEmELZ
ARISING ON ACQUISITION REeRHBHE
Cash paid EffEE (22,145)
Bank balances and cash acquired i 2 RITHEF R RS 4
(22,141)
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(if)

On 4 August 2008 and 22 August 2008, the Group
entered into agreements with two independent third
parties pursuant to which the Group subscribed for
50% interest in BEERPRXARERERER AR (“BEER
# ") for RMB11,000,000 (equivalent to HK$12,222,000)

N

and acquired further 25% interest in ZEE & from
the two independent third parties for a consideration
of RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to HK$8,889,000)
respectively. 2B X# has not commenced business

at the date of acquisition.

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payment

Intangible assets — exclusive
rights of natural gas operations

Inventories

Other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Other payables

Cash injection by the Group

Minority interests

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration
Cash injection to ZEE R

NET CASH OUTFLOW

ARISING ON ACQUISITION
Cash paid
Bank balances and cash acquired

Bz EEE
ME - BER&E
B E R

BIVEE - RARBREE

A

H U AR IR
RITEERES
H A 8 5 AR IR

AEBZREEE

DE R R

XNHFR
RBERE
MEZRPZHEETE

HKEmEEZ
RERHFE

ENRE

i 2 RiTAET MR E

1

(ii)

e

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEFE

RZEZENFEFNANBR-ZZT
NENABZ+ZH "EBEBRBK
BB EBE=FEI M B A
£ EH L AR®11,000,0007T (4%
#®12,222,000/% 7T ) REE E X
HFAARBEEERARA(EER
) 50% MR WIAREBARE
8,000,0007T ( 18 & 78,889,000%
T)AZMEBLFE = —F W
BEE RP25%ES - RIE &
B ZEEFRHAERERS -

HK$'000

TET

9,106
836

7,037
1,855
4,486
2,672

(10,066)

15,926
12,222

28,148
(7,037)

21,111

8,889
12,222

21,111

(8,889)
2,672

(6,217)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

98

On 16 June 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the RZZEZENFASA+TAA ARE—FR
Company entered into a share transfer agreement with WEARE -—ZBIE=F5Z MK
an independent third party pursuant to which the Group MEERZ Bt XE8EBR=_ZTh
acquired 1% additional equity interest in MEAIER a G Ui B (R 42 I 2 B P A A RE M % AR
jointly controlled entity in 2009, at a total consideration gz - B#REA/ARMK10,207,0007T
of RMB10,207,000 (approximately HK$11,732,000). The (#911,732,000/7T) - ZBWEER =

acquisition was completed on 1 April 2009.

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED
ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1%
EQUITY INTEREST IN M A& 4%

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Trade and other payables

Bank and other borrowings

Deferred taxation

Discount on acquisition

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration

NET CASH OUTFLOW

ARISING ON ACQUISITION
Cash consideration paid
Bank balances and cash acquired

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

TTAFMA—BRK -

HK$’000
FHETT
TR 10 34 5 1 % PR 25 4 25 P 4G
B R EE
wEYE 3,386
M - BB R 16,294
A RERE 2,909
EE8 335
Z 5 e W BR 3 K EL A e WK BR TR 1,927
EHEMRITER 1,047
RITEERRS 3,247
B 55 & 1 BR 30 I EL A FE A BR IR (8,958)
RITRHEMEER (7,727)
EEF B (426)
12,034
g i (302)
11,732
AR
ReRE 11,732
AWEMELEZRESRE BE
EfEESNRE (11,732)
BRIt FE RIE S 4,294
(7,438)



On 31 August 2008, a jointly controlled entity, China Gas — SK
Energy, which the Group owns 50% issued share capital,
established a jointly controlled entity in the PRC, namely
TEPREBHERBTRRERBRLAE (“SFEH"), which
China Gas — SK Energy owns 50% issued share capital.
China Gas — SK Energy contributed the capital in cash
of RMB70,000,000 (equivalent to HK$80,269,000) and the
other shareholder contributed the capital in the form of
assets and liabilities. The assets and liabilities contributed
by the other shareholder enables & H FX to continue the
operation of the existing natural gas business which the
other shareholder previously engaged. This transaction
has been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting.

Carrying

amount of net

assets

injected

by other

shareholder of

SEPR

TETRE-F
BREFTEA

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED Bz FEE

Property, plant and equipment 0% - BEkEE

Trade and other receivables B 5 I WUR 30 K E A FE W BRI
Inventories FE

Bank balances and cash BOEGTRAS

Trade and other payables B BR AR R Bt FE A BRIE

Cash injection by China China Gas - SK Energy

Gas - SK Energy ZHEEE

Discount on acquisition Wik 2 g

Total consideration BRE

SATISFIED BY XfFER

Cash injection to &E Mk AEEREERMR2
by the Group BexA

NET CASH OUTFLOW RKEmMEE 2
ARISING ON ACQUISITION ReREFE

Cash paid ENBRE

Bank balances and cash acquired

B RTEERRE

LREE
ZREE
HK$'000

T

143,382

68

76

100
(27,817)

115,809

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEFE

R=ZZFEZE/\FANA=+—8"China
Gas-SK Energy (REB#EHF50%E %
TIRAS 2 R 6 & 28 ) M AR Bk iz £
[ 12 6 B 88 © A E B FEE a2 i M
REBRBRAF(([EEFRM]) - China
Gas-SK EnergyR & H#H50%2 %17
f& 7N o China Gas-SK EnergyA R &
7R EE AREET0,000,0007T (& R
80,269,000/ L) MBE—RERUEE
RBEBEZARNEE  S—BREFMEAZ
BEERBBERSERPREBIKLERER
RRER  ZEBBEDEZS KRR
BT - ZRZEABESHEARK ©

Fair value of
net assets Fair value
injected of net

assets under
proportionate

by the other
Fair value shareholder of

adjustments £EHM  consolidation
SEQR

5—% REAEHE

BRRFEA HEZ

ZREE FEEXZ

ATERE ZAFTE IREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT THT

(33) 143,349 35,837

(68) = =

- 76 19

- 100 25

- (27,817) (6,954)

(101) 115,708 28,927

80,269 20,067

- (8,860)

195,977 40,134

40,134

(40,134)

20,092

(20,042)

FEIMR TR AR AR Q9
2010F B3R E



For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE

100

On 24 April 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a share transfer agreement with independent third
parties pursuant to which the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in R HEORBTMRERBRA A
(“BE¥FEA’) at a consideration of RMB7,465,700
(approximately HK$8,581,000). The transaction was
completed on 22 May 2009, on which date the control
of MR #T/HH was passed to the Group.

(i) RZZTTNFNHNA=-+WA ' K&
B—RMBAREBYLE =R
— RN ERERZE - B AEE
WEERTAEOIRRTRREES
RAR(EREIBO]) Z100%
AigEm - REAARMT 465,700
JL(#98,581,000/ 7T ) ° ZER 5
ER-_ZETZANFREA-_+t_HER
RO RERAEB 2 HRE

B e

Acquiree’s
carrying amount
and fair value
before
combination
WA RE B
AMZEEEERATEE
HK$’000
FHT

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED Bz REE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 5,625
Prepaid lease payment SCENEEN-ENE-N 1,021
Inventories EA=Y 538
Other receivables H fib fE W BR IE 485
Bank balances and cash WITHEFRRS 815
Trade and other payables B 55 & 1 BR 30 I EL A FE < BR 1R (3,104)
5,380
Goodwill P E 3,201
8,581

SATISFIED BY AR

Cash consideration ReERE 8,581

NET CASH OUTFLOW BAlEmELEZ

ARISING ON ACQUISITION BEREEE
Cash consideration paid BENRENKE (8,581)
Bank balances and cash acquired Friis 2 RITEFRRE 815
(7,766)

R HTE O is principally engaged in the installation
of natural gas pipeline network and sale of natural
gas in FRFAO region of Nanjing, the PRC. The
goodwill arising on the acquisition of ERFHE A is
attributable to the anticipated synergy effect of the
gas connection and sales of piped gas business of
the Company.

M AR FHH O contributed to the Group’s revenue of
HK$8,958,000 and loss of HK$491,000 between
the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting
period.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

EARAIBEOZEREZB AR T EERM AR
MBEARZERAREBHBRBEERA
e AKBERMIBAMELE 2HERE R
ARAMRER M HEERER 2 A HRR

><
fm °

REBEBHRE=HRSHRAE  BRFHBEOS
A& B R 2 Wi R E1E D 5 738,958,000/
7C}491,000 7T



(if)

On 30 April 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a share transfer agreement with independent
third parties pursuant to which is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group acquired 80% additional
equity interest in E/@%/X at a consideration of
RMB54,500,000 (approximately HK$62,644,000)
of which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group originally held 20% equity interest as at 31
March 2009 and was classified as an associate of
the Group. The transaction was completed on 30
May 2009, on which date the control of LE/&ZER
was passed to the Group.

(i)

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

B & /\ R @%4 500,0007C
(%%2 644,000 L) - B ER
BAESER=—_ZTNAF=RA=1+—
EF?%%%QO%HXZJS%HZ#EQ
MEBAG  EXEALAEE IS
NGO aZIEX%EEA_77ﬂ¢£
A=tHLEERZZEHEEE AR

EEZHATK °

Acquiree’s
carrying amount
and fair value
before combination

WU EE S RS B
AIZEREERAFEE
HK$’000
FHT
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED Bz REE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE R 128,259
Available-for-sale investments —H HERE 1,034
Trade and other receivables B 5 e YR 30 % L FE U BR 1R 46,400
Bank balances and cash ﬁE‘dT EFE kRS 199
Trade and other payables B RENERS &Ef@fﬁﬁﬁlﬁ (36,753)
Amount due to a vendor JEHL\J?Eﬁ (83,943)
55,196
Less: Interest held prior to acquisition & : AR A 2
— Interest in an associate i N N o (17,628)
Goodwill kS 25,076
62,644
SATISFIED BY XRFR
Cash consideration ReRE 62,644
NET CASH OUTFLOW HhEmELEZRSRE FE
ARISING ON ACQUISITION
Cash consideration paid BEREERE (62,644)
Bank balances and cash acquired PR 2 RITHEFERIRE 199
(62,445)

EBZR principally engages in the provision of
shipping delivery services, technical development,
providing consultancy services and agent of delivery.
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of /%R is
attributable to the anticipated synergy effect of the
shipping delivery business of the Company.

E/BZER contributed to the Group's loss of
HK$5,443,000 between the date of acquisition
and the end of the reporting period. No revenue is
contributed by /%R to the Group as the principal
activity is different from that of the Group, and the
revenue of /8% /K was classified as other income
of the Group.

EBERZEEXBAREMER
% - Ffrk - REBERSERE
HRE - ARBEEERMELEZ
PEERE AR AMEER 2 B
B e o

RUE R SEREHRIHE - £F
ERSASEE R X E 185,443,000
BT AR EEERZEEELKH
BIAARER » W EBFERLE LN
EEBRWATE  MESERZ
WABDEAREE 2 HAUWA

¢@%i@WE®®ﬁ1o1
2010F B iR




For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE-Z-—TF=

(i)

B=+—HLEEE

On 26 April, 2009, the Company entered into a
conditional agreement with Chinese People Holdings
Company Limited pursuant to which the Company
acquired 100% equity interest in Brilliant China and
its subsidiary, Beijing Zhongmin Zhongran Trading
Company Limited (“Zhongmin Zhongran”), which in
turn holds 45.45% of registered capital of Fujian Anran
which is considered as a jointly controlled entity of the
Group, at the consideration of HK$339,277,000.

At the same time, a subsidiary of the Company also
entered into a conditional agreement with Beijing
Zhongmin Company Limited pursuant to which
the subsidiary acquired 3.55% equity interest of
Fujian Anran at the consideration of RMB40,000,000
(approximately HK$45,977,000).

The acquisition was completed on 31 August 2009,
on which date the control of Brilliant China was
passed to the Group.

BB REE
UERW =N E
BNAENK

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments

Intangible assets — exclusive rights BVAE—
of natural gas operations AARBRIECEHE
Interests in associates REEE AR 2
Inventories F&
Trade and other receivables B REBRR R
Hfh el 3R 1R
Bank balances and cash BITHEEFRE S
Trade and other payables BOENERR
H fth & 8R 7R
Obligation on capital injection to RRAEMRABERA
Fujian Anran by Zhongmin Zhongran  Z¥& &
Bank borrowings BITEE
Deferred taxation BRI IE
Minority interest DY R R
Goodwill e
SATISFIED BY AR
Cash consideration RefE
NET CASH OUTFLOW HhEmEEZ
ARISING ON ACQUISITION BEmLFE
Cash paid RENEER

Bank balances and cash acquired

102 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Bz RTERERRS

(iii)

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination
BB IRE G
Rz REE
HK$'000

THAT

262,895
13,680
31,098

1,248

40,057
29,406

(99,532)

(46,897)
(158,039)

73,916

R-_ETZAFWA_-_+H K
APEIRPFRIEBRERAFYLE
BHEHE Bt ARRERAKRE
339,277,000 JT U BEBrilliant
China R HK B2 aldb = R R
BESBRRAARI([RFEFMM]) 100%
BRA#Z  PRPARFERELZA
A& ARN45.45% @ MBE LT AR
WAEREE LREHEE -

A XAGMKMEB QA I E
Beijing Zhongmin Company
Limiteda] 32 B & 14 7 a% 4 it B
B R AR E AR%40,000,000
To(4945,977,0007% 7t ) U5 & 18 2
ZR3.55% R A ©

ZHEKEER _ZZAENA=T
— HBrilliant Chinaz#E$lE&E
ANEB 7 BEK °

Fair value
adjustments Fair values
AP ERE AT
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FTAET
45,495 308,390
8,538 22,218
298,574 298,574
24,424 55,622
- 1,248
- 40,057
- 29,406
- (99,532)
- (46,897)
- (158,039)
(88,152) (88,152)
288,879 362,795
(77,407)
99,866
385,254
385,254
(385,254)
29,406
(355,848)



(i)

(Continued)

Zhongmin Zhongran is principally engaged in, among
other matters, wholesale of gas equipment and parts,
import and export business, technical consultation
and technical service provider and Fujian Anran
is principally engaged in the provision of gas fuel
and gas pipeline connection, transportation and
distribution of liquefied petroleum gas and retail of
bottled liquefied petroleum gas and supply of video
lottery operating system and bottled equipment in
the PRC. The goodwill arising on the acquisition
of Brilliant China is attributable to the anticipated
profitability of the gas connection and sales of piped
gas businesses of this group.

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out as at 31 August 2009 by CB Richard
Ellis Limited. The valuation was arrived at using the
depreciated replacement cost method. The valuation
has taken into consideration several factors including
current price of materials, labour and contractor’s
overhead which was available in the market if the
Group acquire or build the same assets as at the
valuation date after deduction of depreciation based
on the economics useful life of the assets and the
current condition of the assets.

The fair value of the intangible assets has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at
valuation dated 31 August 2009 by CB Richard Ellis
Limited. The valuation was arrived at using multiple-
period excess earning method. The valuation was
determined by discounting the value of expected
economic benefits that exceed an appropriate rate
of return on other assets being used to generate
anticipated economic benefits. The discount rate
of 14% used in the valuation comprises the cost of
equity and cost of debt of the entity.

Brilliant China contributed to the Group’s revenue
and profit of HK$98,855,000 and of HK$21,732,000
respectively between the date of acquisition and the
end of the reporting period.

(iii)

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

(&)

FRAMRZEEEKA(HEFEIE)
HEMREHERIH  ELHDOE
%~ BfirE R R REBIRE - 8
BEAZEBEF AR BIRER
ARRARER - B kDHEHRI(E
AR UARZEESRFEREAHR

MEERBENERR RIREERE -
E U BEBrilliant ChinafMES% 2 &
E2REUMEERTERREEEE
MREB 2B BRI -

ME - BERR ﬁz FE TR
HHAREGCFRARANR_FZTNF
AHE+*HﬁﬁZﬁELﬁ %
HERBANESERRNEER - 4
ERCEEZZEREZ  8FMA
SEBEERFER-EER - RIE
ZEBERHER KB EAF
HREERL  HRFTERT LA
BZMHBRE  STRAREREE
B

BILEE N FEDREEHBEE
TERABR_ZEZTAFNA=ZT
—RETZHREESR - ZEHERS
ZHBBEBNRER - HETHE
+£$/)ﬁ§%| tﬁjﬁﬁl«/{)zi]’é +£§(E/)=1
MRz EMEEZEERRE 2B
BERIRETE - MEMKRB 2R X
14%BIEER 2 BEKAREBK
7N o

RUKBERPEEREHRARE
Brilliant China& 25 B &% 2R U A
Koa ) B B9 Bl 598,855,000/
7T &% 21,732,000 7T °
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(iv) On 8 April 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered (iv)

into an acquisition agreement with an independent
third party pursuant to which the Group acquired
80% equity interest in FE[SH R at a consideration
of RMB74,122,000 (approximately HK$85,198,000).
The acquisition was completed on 30 April 2009,
on which date the control of EEFR ¥ was passed
to the Group.

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination
BRBEBAREH
AIZEREE
HK$'000
FET
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED FYEREE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKkEE 64,908
Prepaid lease payments BRBEERE 25,336
Available-for-sale investments AREERE 586
Intangible assets— exclusive right of EFEE —
natural gas operation AARBREEE -
Trade and other receivables B S EBESR K
H b FEYUIR TR 29,345
Inventories FE 12,378
Bank balances and cash BOEFERES 11,908
Trade and other payables B HRETERK
HA R (48,539)
Bank borrowings ROIEE (31,264)
Deferred taxation ERETIR -
64,658
Minority interest DR R
Goodwill S
SATISFIED BY XNER
Cash consideration ReNE
NET CASH OUTFLOW HRBEmMEEZ
ARISING ON ACQUISITION BEREFHE
Cash consideration paid BERBRERE
Bank balances and cash acquired Frk g 2 SR1T4ETE
kB e
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RZETAFWANR AEE
—XHBRARE—ZRBIFE=ZFH
IR ERE Bt A&
E U B8 3% B P BR800 % A% 7K #E 25 -
KEAEARM74122,0005C( 4
85,198,000/ L) - ZBWEE R
—ETNFMA=THEET R
EHIEES AE®E 2 HERK ©

Fair value
adjustments Fair values

AVERE AV
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fib7 Fit7

= 64,908
= 25,336
= 586

10,559 10,559

= 29,345
= 12,378
= 11,908

- (48,539)
= (31,264)
(2,640) (2,640)

7,919 72,577

(14,515)
27,136

85,198

85,198

(85,198)

11,908
(73,290)



(iv)

(Continued)

FEI5H PR principally engages in the installation of
natural gas pipeline network and sale of natural gas
in PRC. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of &
[ A is attributable to the anticipated profitability
of the gas connection and sales of piped gas
businesses of &F5 L.

#E 5 PR contributed to the Group's revenue and profit
of HK$74,152,000 and of HK$2,959,000 respectively
between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

On 11 November 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent
third party pursuant to which the Group acquired 100%
equity interest in H I ABI R at a consideration of
RMB97,000,000 (approximately HK$111,494,000). The
acquisition was completed on 16 December 2009, on
which date the control of in # T KBIAR was passed
to the Group.

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED FYEREE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BE KEE
Prepaid lease payments B ERE
Intangible assets- exclusive right of EFEE -
natural gas operation AARBRICEHE
Trade and other receivables B SRR S K
H 4 & U BRI
Inventories FE
Bank balances and cash BOEFERRES
Trade and other payables BHREAERK
H A & (BRI
Bank borrowings RITEE
Deferred taxation REEHIE
Goodwill [l
SATISFIED BY XHER
Cash consideration RefE
NET CASH OUTFLOW RbEmEEZ
ARISING ON ACQUISITION BERHFE
Cash consideration paid BERNBRERE

Bank balances and cash acquired

(iv)

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination
WU B S RA B
Al Z BREE
HK$'000

THAT

112,917
13,250

3,553

6,854
1,164
(63,514)

(13,985)

60,239

e RITEFERRES

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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(&)

BERPRZEIEZEXZBRNPEZE
ARAREEPBRHERAR -
WEEEDRMEL cHEREE
BhmmRE R REEEEMRE
B2 AT AT

RUBEEHERERRPM - &
B R R B AN & B 3 R MR A K i
B B9 Bl 574,152,000 7T &
2,959, 00078 T °

R=FZhF+—A+—8 £&
E—RMBRARE—BBILE=T
R — M IRERE Bt AKE
W B H T KB R 2 100% A% A
&  K{E A AR®97,000,000
JC(%9111,494,000/ 78 ) ° % H
BER—_ZZTAF+_A+,BH
FHT RBIRE 2 15 e A =
2 B3R °

Provisional
fair values

ERAYE
HK$’000
THTT

Fair value
adjustments

AV EBE
HK$'000
FAT

= 112,917
15,721 28,971
12,091 12,091

= 3,563

- 6,854
- 1,164
- (63,514)

(13,985)
(6,953)

81,098
30,396
111,494

111,494

(111,494)
1,164

(110,330)

R E AR A A
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(v)

(vi)

(Continued)

Note:The initial accounting for the above acquisition has
been determined provisionally, awaiting the receipt of
professional valuations in relation to certain underlying
assets and liabilities of the acquiree.

H T KEBIAE principally engages in the installation
of natural gas pipeline network and sale of natural
gas in PRC. The goodwill arising on the acquisition
of HFHT KBIR is attributable to the anticipated
profitability of the gas connection and sales of piped
gas businesses of H T AKBIRT.

H AT ABBA contributed to the Group's revenue
and profit of HK$10,114,000 and of HK$943,000
respectively between the date of acquisition and
the end of the reporting period.

On 18 December 2009, a subsidiary of the Group
entered into an acquisition agreement with an
independent third party pursuant to which the
Group acquired 80% equity interest in F &R at
a consideration of RMB28,000,000 (approximately
HK$32,184,000). The acquisition was completed on
31 January 2010, on which date the control of F &
F X was passed to the Group.

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED FlEREE

Property, plant and equipment MmE - BE KEE

Intangible assets EVAE

Trade and other receivables B SRR S &
H b FE YRR

Inventories FE

Bank balances and cash BOEFRRES

Trade and other payables B SRR K
Hb BT IRE

Deferred taxation EEFHIE

Minority interest DER R

Goodwill HE

SATISFIED BY ERER

Cash consideration BeRE

NET CASH OUTFLOW HBBEBmMEEZ

ARISING ON ACQUISITION BERELFE

Cash consideration paid BENRERE

Bank balances and cash acquired P e 2 SR1TETF
kB e

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination
BUWBHREH
AIZEREE
HK$'000

FHT

168

45

174
15,179

(100

15,466

(vi)

)

(%)
Miet . b iEERZ AL EtRETY
BB B - (DR EBUR B 7T
MABETHHEEERAFBZE
XfhiE -

HATRBRRZ ERZEBRNF
B2 RAREBEERHEERA
o EUBH ST @A R m &= £
Z FER BT KB R I R E
BRREEEEMREB 2B AT

~
Be °©

RUHE BB = RE R EAR - H T
TR BIRR A A5 B R U A Kos
7 & Bt 5 Bl &10,114,000% 7t &
943,000 7T °

R-ZBETZAE+_A+N\B K&
B—XMBARE—RBIE=F
R —MIRERE Bt A5E
U BE R S R MR 2 80%A% A #E 25
KB A& A R #28,000,0005t( 4
32,184,000/ 7T) ° Z BHWE D R
—E-ZTE-A=+—HAEEHM
G ALE Y B -

Provisional
fair values

ERAYE
HK$'000
TET

Fair value
adjustments

AVEEER
HK$'000
T8

168
8,133

8,133
- 45

= 174
= 15,179

(100)
(2,033)

21,566

(4,313)
14,931

32,184

(2,033)
6,100

32,184

(32,184)

15,179
(17,005)



(vi)

(vii

=

(Continued)

Note:The initial accounting for the above acquisition has
been determined provisionally, awaiting the receipt of
professional valuations in relation to certain underlying
assets and liabilities of the acquiree.

&R principally engages in the installation of
natural gas pipeline network and sale of natural gas
in PRC. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of g
E K is attributable to the anticipated profitability
of the gas connection and sales of piped gas
businesses of & A #4.

EEF W contributed to the Group’s revenue and
loss of HK$139,000 and of HK$284,000 respectively
between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

On April 29, 2006, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a share transfer agreement with 7R 5 R mEE
D BRAR(“‘EARM) (formerly known as &P/ 75 15
&P BBRAR]) , the ultimate holding company of f 28
& 3E(“First Vendor”) pursuant to which the subsidiary
agreed to acquire 60% equity interest in FEEEE
at an aggregate consideration of RMB111,000,000
(approximately HK$127,586,000). As at March 31,
2009, the transaction has not yet been completed
as it was pending for the completion of change in
the shareholders of FIZE & @ for B Em to get the
control of FIE%E & pursuant to the share transfer
agreement.

In January, 2010, that subsidiary entered into another
share transfer agreement with the minority shareholder
of FE & 8 (“Second Vendor) pursuant to which the
subsidiary agreed to acquire 20% equity interest
in EEE at a consideration of RMB33,000,000
(approximately HK$37,931,000). This acquisition
was completed in early March, 2010.

Because of the successful acquisition from the
Second Vendor, the Group decided to revise the share
transfer agreement with the First Vendor at March
11, 2010 and acquire only 40% equity interest in &
ZEiE. The consideration was adjusted upward to
RMB122,700,000 (approximately HK$141,035,000) to
slightly compensate the First Vendor on the increase
in the fair value of the net assets of FZ%& & since
2006. The acquisition of 40% equity interest from
First Vendor was completed on March 31, 2010, on
which date the control of EZ%E 3 was passed to
the Group.

(vi)

(vii)

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

MieE : Lt BE=RZ AL EEETY
BB B - (DA EER B T
HREMETHHEERAGBZE
EfEE -

MERRZEEXZB AR ERE
AAREEFBEHERAR -
WEBmERMRMEE 2HERE M
EFRMMRERRHEEBMRE
B2 BT BMEN °

RUBRAREHREHARAR - &
ETRMAAREETRLART R K
R X BB D 5 /139,000 T &
284,000/ T °

R-ZZBEZRNEMA-+IE K&
ENEARHAEEEEREERA
REAEARGEBRROHBERAA
(TmARM]) (ABERRELER
BHBRAR) ([FE—FH )T
BHEERE  BULEHNBRARRE
W EE B2 B Be0% AN AERS - 4
KB A AR®111,000,0007T (4
127,586,000 L) - AR B+
BEETKBEREE  WEBHR
mIBERNEERZENEEE B
2GR MRS TAFE=RA=
+—B ZXFHEHEATK °

R=ZZT—ZTF— 8 ZHBRARHE
HEETELERRIE=FL])
RN B — RO ERERE BB
A AR B W E R E T E20% R A
#= KR8 A ARM33000,0007T
(#137,931,000/8 7T ) » 118 W BB
ER_ZE—ZTF=AY%K °
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(vii) (Continued)

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Intangible assets — exclusive right of
natural gas operation

Trade and other receivables

Inventories

Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables

Bank borrowings
Deferred taxation

Minority interest

Discount on acquisition

SATISFIED BY

Cash consideration paid by the Group A&BEHRERE
Deposit paid for acquisition
Deferred cash consideration

NET CASH OUTFLOW

ARISING ON ACQUISITION
Cash consideration paid
Bank balances and cash acquired

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

RBEREE
NE - BiEERE
BNHEFE
BYAE-

AARBRE L

B 5 MERT N
Hio gl RA
BE
RITEEFERS
B 5N BRI N
HioENERR
BRITEE
EIEHIE

B
W 2 573

XHER

EftkERE
EXERER(E

RBEmELZ
BERHFER
ENRERE
B 2 RITETE
ERE

(vii) (

Acquiree’s
carrying
amount before
combination
BB HRE G
Al Z Bk &
HK$'000

TAT

507,034
11,280

16,541
7,164
7,837

(432,254)

(89,046)

78,5656

#&)

Fair value
adjustments

AVERE
HK$’'000
T

59,220

625,040

(171,085)
513,195

Fair values

ATE
HK$'000
FA

566,254
11,280

625,040
16,541

7,164
7,837
(432,254)

(39,046)
(171,065)

591,751

(236,700)
(176,085)

178,966
37,587

63,218
78,161

178,966

(37,587)

7,837
(29,750)



(vii) (Continued)

According to the share transfer agreement with the
First Vendor, the remaining cash consideration should
be settled within 5 business days after the legal title
of & 8 has been passed to the subsidiary of the
Group. The deferred cash consideration has been
settled in April 2010. F§2 &3 principally engages
in the installation of natural gas pipeline network
and sale of natural gas in PRC.

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out as at 31 March 2010, by CB Richard
Ellis Limited. The valuation was arrived at using
the cost of depreciated replacement cost method.
The valuation has taken into consideration several
factors including current price of materials, labour
and contractor’s overhead which was available in
the market if the Group acquire or build the same
assets as at the valuation date after deduction of
depreciation based on the economics useful life of
the assets and the current condition of the assets.

The fair value of the intangible assets has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
as at 31 March 2010, by CB Richard Ellis Limited.
The valuation was arrived at using multiple-period
excess earning method. The valuation was determined
by discounting the value of expected economic
benefits that exceed an appropriate rate of return
on other assets being used to generate anticipated
economic benefits. The discount rate of 14% used
in the valuation comprises the cost of equity and
cost of debt of FEEE.

The directors of the Company have reassessed
the identification and measurement of fair values
of Nanning Pipeline’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities. The net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of Nanning Pipeline attributable to the 60%
shareholding acquired by the Company exceeded the
cost of acquisition by an amount of HK$176,085,000,
which represented a discount on acquisition of
Nanning Pipeline, and has been recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 March 2010.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZF=ZA=+-HLFE

(vii) (%)

REBEE BN ZZERNE
EhE o R IRERERREEE
BOREMBEREBRAEEZKHE
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ARREBBERHERAR -

M BEEREZAFETIRE
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A=t RETZHEER - %
HERBANESERRNEER - 4
ERCEEZZEREZ  8FMA
SEBEXHARZR-BER R
ZEBERHER 2B EAF
HREERL  HRFTERT LA
BZMHBRE  STRAREHEE
FRAS

B A E 2 A TFETRE T F2RIE
ATERARIR-ZE—ZTF=A=+
—RETZHREER - ZEERS
ZHBBERBNEER - HETHE
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MRz EMEEZEERRE2E
BERIRETE - MEMKRB 2R K
14%BERAEETE 2 BN RE
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AAREBEEEEF T HHEEER
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HARBBEZRAFFEBBAWEKAR
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(vii) (Continued)

The management consider that the discount on
acquisition of HK$176,085,000 arising on the
acquisition of FI%%E & was mainly due to the below
market consideration for the acquisition of 60%
equity interest in FAZ &3 agreed in 2006 in which
the Group was willing to enter into the share transfer
agreement with the First Vendor, at which time a
lawsuit on the First Vendor’s ownership on m%%&
i was undergoing. In addition, the fair value of
the net assets of FAEE & was increased between
the date of share transfer agreement in 2006 to the
completion date of the acquisition as the economic
environment for operating natural gas business in
the PRC is getting more favourable. Although the
consideration was adjusted upward subsequently,
the adjustment is not in line with the increase in the
fair value of the net assets of FZEEE.

The Group has applied the similar basis for the
negotiation of the consideration for the acquisition
of the 20% equity interest in EME&E#E from the
Second Vendor in January, 2010 and a below market
consideration was resulted as well.

If the above acquisitions during the year ended 31
March 2010 had been completed on 1 April 2009, total
group revenue and profit for the year would have been
HK$673,682,000 and HK$100,453,000 respectively. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of the operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had above acquisitions been completed
on 1 April 2009, nor is it intended to be projection of
future results.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

(vii) (%)
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RZETZNFHLA=Z+HB A&
LA & A R ¥501,780,0007C
(#8987 557,533,000/% 7T ) W EE

(i) On 30 September 2008, the Group acquired 83% (i)
equity interests in Zhongyou Hua Dian for cash of
RMB501,780,000 (equivalent to HK$557,533,000).

T 2 83% M AR -

Prior year
adjustments
Acquiree’s Provisional upon
carrying Provisional  fair values  completion
amount before fair value as previously of initial Adjusted
combination adjustments stated accounting  fair values
BRBBAREH g RH2z TRASEH
AZREE ATERE ENATE KBZiFEE LHEEAVE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED FEZREE
Investment properties REME 70,301 - 70,301 - 70,301
Property, plant ER T E T
and equipment 1,728,955 351,250 2,080,205 (107,498) 1,972,707
Prepaid lease payments BRHEETE 143,607 290,004 433,611 - 433,611
Interests in associates REE AR R 37,574 = 37,574 (5,366) 32,208
Available-for-sale EHERE
investment 29,349 - 29,349 - 29,349
Inventories RE 288,326 = 288,326 - 288,326
Trade and other 2 WA R
receivables H th fE U BR IR 548,987 - 548,987 - 548,987
Pledged bank deposits BERRTER 716,692 - 716,692 - 716,692
Bank balances and cash ROTEERES 294,874 - 294,874 - 294,874
Trade and other BHENEAR
payables H e RIS (1,319,157) - (1,319,157) - (1,319,157)
Bank borrowings RITIEE (2,422,099) - (2,422,099) - (2,422,099)
Deferred taxation ERHR - (160,314) (160,314) 26,874 (138,440)
117,409 480,940 598,349 (85,990) 512,359
Minority interests LHRRER (156,183)
Goodwill B 201,357
557,533
SATISFIED BY AR
Cash consideration paid ASEENRERE
by the Group 519,620
Deferred cash EERERE
consideration 37,913
557,533
NET CASH OUTFLOW ERBMEELZ
ARISING ON RemERE
ACQUISITION
Cash consideration paid ENRERKE (519,620)
Bank balances and i s RITERRRE S
cash acquired 294,874
(224,746)

T B RIER AR A A)
2010 B ¥R S
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(i)

(Continued)

Zhongyou Hua Dian principally engages in the
business of trading of LPG business. The goodwill
arising on the acquisition of Zhongyou Hua Dian
is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the
trading of LPG business of this group.

Zhongyou Hua Dian contributed to the Group’s revenue
and loss of HK$2,076,887,000 and HK$153,342,000
for the year respectively.

The deferred cash consideration will be payable
within one year after completion of the acquisition.
The amount has been settled during the year ended
31 March 2010.

On 11 August 2008, the Group acquired 95% of J#
I RAF2E, which holds 57% of registered capital of 1=
ANEEEE BRI ER AR (EARE") for consideration
of RMB29,450,000 (equivalent to HK$33,851,000).

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

(ii)

(%)

PHEECETBREKR/EEBLPGE
%o ARBERHEEMELEZEE
DERZEEEELPGEB 2B
BFIBE S FTEL -

FER - BHEEANEBERZI
=M EE D R A2,076,887,000/%
T &% 153,342,000 7T ©

BIER S REARWBTKEK —F
WX > ZRBERBE-_Z—F
FZA=T—BILEFERAXNM -

RZZEZENFENA+—B  A&EE
AR B AR #29 450,000 (HHE
733,851,000 7T ) Ye B 41 &3 AR 72
5%z + M ARER A EARE
EEEEMRBREAT([EARL])
FMEARS7%IER ©



(Continued)

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payment

Intangible asset — exclusive rights
of natural gas operations

Trade and other receivables

Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables

Deferred taxation

Minority interests
Goodwill

Total consideration

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration

paid by the Group
Deferred cash consideration

NET CASH OUTFLOW ARISING
ON ACQUISITION

Cash consideration paid

Bank balances and cash acquired

(ii)

Acquirees’
carrying
amounts before
combination
BB RE G
Rz REE
HK$'000
TAT
FlEREE
mE - BEKEE 46,319
BNHAERE 2,187
ERAE-
AARRBREEHE =
B 5 RKESR K 46,356
Hofh e Uk BRI
BOEFERERE 6,713
B SR ESRK (99,988)
H e AR
R IE -
1,587
DY R
e
BRE
TRER
AEEENRESNE
BERENE
BWEmEEZ
RemtFaE
BERNRERE
P s 2 SR1T 77
kB &

S AAEE is an investment holding company and f£
/NHT is engaged in the operation of gas connection
and sales of piped gas businesses in the PRC. The
goodwill arising on the acquisition of #EHRE is
attributable to the anticipated profitability of the
gas connection and sales of piped gas businesses

of this group.

HFBATE contributed to the Group’s revenue and profit
of HK$78,579,000 and HK$32,076,000 respectively

for the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

(%)

Fair value

adjustments Fair values

AVEEE
HK$’'000
it

ATHE
HK$’000
b7t

= 46,319
= 2,187

3,558
= 46,356

- 6,713

- (99,988)
(889) (889)
2,669 4,256

(24,093)
53,688

33,851

23,696
10,155

33,851

(23,696)

6,713
(16,983)

WERARAKREZERAR - MEAKR
HZETEXBRETEEEMRE
REEEEEMRRES - AUKEH
EREMELEZRENERZEE
MRERMEEEERRERE B
HIZTBENPIEL -

FRN - PEAERSAERGREK
&= N A 9 5178,579,000 7T K&
32,076,000 7T °

¢@%i@WEEQE113
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(i)

(i)

B=+—HLEEE

(Continued)

The deferred cash consideration will be payable
within one year after completion of the acquisition.
The amount has been settled during the year ended

31 March 2010.

On 11 July 2008, the Group entered into cooperation
agreement with independent third parties pursuant
to which the Group acquired 51% equity interest in
REEWAREBRAE (“RESH") for RMB13,490,000
(equivalent to HK$15,506,000) and the other
shareholder contributed the additional capital in

form of assets and liabilities.

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible asset - exclusive rights
of natural gas operations

Prepaid lease payment

Inventories

Other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Trade and other payables

Deferred taxation

Cash injection by the Group
Minority interests

SATISFIED BY
Cash injection by the Group

NET CASH INFLOW ARISING
ON ACQUISITION
Bank balances and cash acquired

11 4CH\NA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BBz REE
L ER N E
BVAE-
AARBRIZE R
BANEERNRK
(A
Hit U ERIR
BOEFRES
BHENEHRR
HibENER
EXHRIR

AEEIAE S
DER R R

XHER
AEEIARS

BB mEEZ
BERARE
i 2 RITETE

ERE

(ii)

(iii)

Acquirees’
carrying

amounts before
combination

BB ERE 6

Al BREE
HK$'000
THEL

16,751

195
458
1,544
244

(6,742)

12,450

(%)

BEIER & KEARKBE KL —F
AXft - ZREERBE-_Z—F
FZA=+—"BLFEAXN -

R=ZZFEZN\FLtA+—H ~5%£H
BB E=HEI A S Bt
NEE A ARYA13,490,0007T (48
B 15,506,000/ 7T ) W iE KiE S
BRRBER AR ([RESH])51%
AR MB—BRRAEERE
BEZHREANEIINES -

Fair value
adjustments Fair values

AVERE AV
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fib7 b7

= 16,751

3,566 3,566
- 195
- 458
- 1,544
- 244
- (6,742)
(891) (891)
2,675 15,125

15,506
(15,125)
15,5606

15,506

244



(iii) (Continued)

KN#@E&E Y, is principally engaged in the installation
of nature gas pipeline network and related facilities
and sale of natural gas in the PRC.

KiELI contributed to the Group’s revenue and
loss of HK$548,000 and HK$567,000 respectively
for the year.

If the above acquisitions during the year ended March
31,2009 had been completed on 1 April 2008, total
group revenue and profit for the year would have been
HK$9,188,455,000 and HK$32,490,000 respectively. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had above acquisitions been completed on 1
April 2008, nor is it intended to be projection of future
results.

On 16 December 2009, the Group and the minority shareholders
contributed RMB5,600,000 (approximately HK$6,437,000) and
RMB10,400,000 (approximately HK$11,954,000) to #i#ke kX,
a subsidiary in which the Group held originally 60% equity
interest before capital contribution made on December 2009.
The capital contributed has led to a decrease in the Group's
shareholding in f#A#A from 60% to 40% as well as a change
of the composition of the board of directors. According to the
new Article of Association, all the major financial and operating
decisions must require unanimous consent from all venturers.
ik Awas reclassified to a jointly controlled entity of the
Group. The net assets of fIMH X to be disposed of at the
date of disposal were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

(i) (%)

REGWZEBRRBRETBEES
AAREEPE N EABRELER
HERANRER -

FR RESHAAEEERZ
Wz & B8 5 5l /A548,000% 7T &
567,000/ ¢ ©

i EARBE—TEAF=A=+—H
LTFEEZRBERHER _ZZNFH
H—BxE& @ FRZ &YW RN 5
9,188,455,000/% JT K&32,490,000/%
T BEERNERINTZA - ALH
ERM DR REBER[PER —_ZEZENEF
MA—BEXE  AEBERERRFZ
WaREEBXEZER  TIARERRK
REEZTER -

REZZZAF+=ZA+8 A5ERIEH
BERABEEHRPRAEER-_ZZTALF
T ZAEERIREFHC0%MKAE R 2 M B
NE)EAARBES 600,000t (#96,437,000
7)) R AR 10,400,000t (4911,954,000
BIL) T EEBRAEBREAME R ZRER
60% B P40% RESSHKER - BIFFHA
BERME - FTEETEMBEREERRMNA
KHEEEF —BEE MNP REEFTH
BARNEEZZRAESEE REERE
it E MM REFEENT ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mARM T

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT—ZHF=A=1+—HLEFE

43. Disposal of a Subsidiary (Continued) 43. HE—XMEBLAR (&)
HK$'000
FET
60% OF NET ASSETS OF EHERMKFRZ60%FEE
WM E R DISPOSED OF
Property, plant and Y - BB R&
equipment 26
Other receivables H fib fE U BRTR 26
Bank balances and cash BITHETFRRS 13,134
13,186
Minority interests DB R (1,373)
11,813
Gain on disposal i e 141
Capital contributed by H MR REE
other shareholder 11,954
NET CASH OUTFLOW FHEMEEZRSREFE
ARISING ON DISPOSAL
Capital contributed by HaR g &
the other shareholder 11,954
Bank balances BWBRTETERRS
and cash acquired (13,134)
(1,180)
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Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the board of
directors’ meeting of AAF AT MR ERBR A A (‘48 H
F#8”) held on 30 September 2009, the Group applied to
dissolve ZAE A FA. The dissolution was completed on 28
December 2009 and the loss which arose on dissolution
of jointly controlled entity was HK$3,791,000.

NET ASSETS OF JOINTLY EM#H{EZEHER

CONTROLLED ZREE
ENTITY DISSOLVED
Property, plant Y - BB R

and equipment
Bank balances and cash RITEERERS

Loss on dissolution % Bk E5 18

Refund of capital 7 B B B AN [0 50
upon the dissolution

SATISFIED BY AR
Cash received AEBBWRS
by the Group

NET CASH INFLOW HBgmEEZ
ARISING ON BERAFEHE
DISSOLUTION

Cash received AEBB KRS
by the Group

Bank balances and BEHERTETERS

cash disposed of

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

REAEPRUTRRERER A A
([REAR DR _ZEEAFAA=TH
BozEFEeesd LBBZ AL RR
BERAEECHFEREEEAMR o B
BMTHEER-_ZFTAFE+_HA_+/\H
TR YRR RESERRMELZE
% E518.53,791,0008 7T °

HK$'000
THETT

20,328
21,821

42,149
(8,791)

38,358

38,358

38,358

(21,821)
16,537
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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(i)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the annual
general meeting of F#AIEE held on 26 May 2009, the
Group entered into a share transfer agreement with &
E &% an associate of the Group. The disposal was
completed on 1 November 2009 and the consideration
received from disposal of jointly controlled entity was
HK$16,000,000. The net assets of EE A at the date

of disposal were as follows:

49% NET ASSETS OF

EE R DISPOSED OF
Property, plant

and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables

Loss on disposal

SATISFIED BY
Cash consideration
received by the Group

NET CASH INFLOW
ARISING ON DISPOSAL

Cash consideration

Bank balances and cash
disposed of

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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EHEEEREZ
49%FEE

&'

B 5 MW R R K E A B R R 1A

RITEFRRS
B 5 AR A FE (N AR IR

& B 18

XNAER
AEEDHREKE
AHEMEEZRSRAFHR

ReRE
EHERTEFRRS

(i)

BEPRRENR-_ZEZEAERA -+
ANBRTZBREAFRSHBEGBZ —H
TERZ ASBEESEERE(AEH
ZHE R — RO EERE
RBEHEER-_TETAF+—A—AB%
K HEXREHEERMKRZAES
16,000,000 - RILERH EES
REZFEENT :

HK$’000
FET

28,342
796
937

18

(12,070)

18,023
(2,023)

16,000

16,000

16,000

(18)
15,982



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. Operating Lease Arrangements

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of rented premises and equipment
which fall due as follows:

45,

REMBWMERME
For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZHF=A=1+—HLFE

REBORH
FEBEEREEA

RBERR  AKREREETIBEERZ
THE Y 5 2 AN AJ B8 AR & TR 40 T 7 G 7S 7 R
ANz HEBREMT :

2010 2009

—E-FfF —TTNEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHT FHET

Within one year —FRA 31,978 12,237
In the second to fifth EFE_FEERF

year inclusive (RIEEEME) 54,603 10,884

After five years hFi& 27,191 1,498

113,772 24,619

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group in respect of leasehold land and buildings and
equipments. Leases for rented premises and equipment are
negotiated for an average term of two to six years with fixed
rental.

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented
premises which fall due as follows:

BREBYZNFEREEHRAERZ LR
BFkFrHERERNzZES - HEWEBOEH
EFHBBMENTE  HEEE -

FAEEERHAAN

RIRE R - RIFE T 5B ER 2 A
HEEMELZHEYN  AKRECEEPL N
TARARKEHERT AL

2010 2009

—E-Zf —EZNEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHERT FET

Within one year —FR 8,025 8,154
In the second to fifth E_FEERF

year inclusive (BRIEEREMF) 13,926 7,735

21,951 15,889

Leases are negotiated for an average term of two to ten
years.

MOz FHFRERERME TF o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_ZT-ZTF=A=+—HLEE
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The Group has entered into the following transactions, which
have not been completed at the end of the reporting period
nor at the date these consolidated financial statements were
authorised for issuance.

(i)  On 24 March 2009, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
share transfer agreements with independent third parties
to acquire 90% equity interest of EFAKEFEMAER D
Al and EFHE @B EMRRER A at a total consideration
of RMB24,000,000 (approximate HK$27,586,000)
and RMB10,000,000 (approximately HK$11,494,000)
respectively. BEEREFERRBER AR and EABEEFE
MRABR A7 are principally engaged in the natural gas
business in the PRC.

(i) On 29 March 2010, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into share transfer agreements with independent third
parties to acquire 100% equity interest of R 7 = AT
BIR/A7A at an aggregate consideration of RMB31,800,000
(approximate HK$36,552,000). 3R A = R R AR A 7
is principally engaged in the natural gas business in the
PRC.

(iii) On 19 March 2010, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into cooperation agreement with the 88 IR IR B e B E %
[®EZ € to set up a wholly-owned subsidiary. According
to the cooperation agreement, the registered capital
of the subsidiary will be USD3,000,000 (approximate
HK$23,250,000) and the total amount will be contributed
by the Group in cash.

(iv) On 24 March 2010, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into cooperation agreement with the 1 E 8 T & E /3 to set
up a wholly-owned subsidiary. According to the cooperation
agreement, the registered capital of the subsidiary will
be RMB15,000,000 (approximate HK$17,241,000) and the
total amount will be contributed by the Group in cash.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the Group
has capital commitments in respect of the acquisition for
property, plant and equipment and construction materials
for property, plant and equipment contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial statements amounting to
HK$146,754,000 (2009: HK$208,150,000) and HK$140,194,000
(2009: HK$93,312,000) respectively.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AEEBETTATRS  MAEXZHN R
MR AGRE T HHRREET AR AR T
B o

T of

(i) RZZEZAFEF=ZA_-_F+IH ' AAF
—RHBAREBYLE =T MRMDE
EE o MKEEARESTERIER
AEIREREETFERRERAAZ
%A BRESHAARE
24,000,0007t ( 4927,586,000/% 7T ) &
A R #10,000,0007c( #911,494,0007%
TL) c BEARETERRER AR RERA
BETERRERARETEERERAKSE
KARER -

(i) RZB—FF=A=_F+AA ARF—
RIMBRBERBIULE =TI LR E &
Bk NEBRRAT —BRARBRA
AlZ100% B AR BRESARK
31,800,0007T( #936,552,000/% 7T ) °
RRAM-BEMRAER AR EEHETE
HEERARER -

(il RZZE—FTF=A+hB AAF—
ZHMB AT EHBNTRIEEHREELRR
EZGINAGIERE UWKIZZ2EN
BAr - BEZAEDRSE ZHMBA
A 2 & A # A3,000,0003 T (4
23,250,000/ L) - MASEE G AR €
EABBBSE -

(v) RZZ2—ZF=F=-+MA ARQAFA—
eI NI N B SEI VAR (2
Bk - U2 EMB AR - RIBEZAIE
Wk B AR ZEMEAREBARE
15,000,0007T ( #917,241,000% 7T ) + i
FEBBURSIEABHREDHE -

BALEFBEEEN R —ZF = A
=t+t—H AKERKEDE BER
SHEERVE - BERXKEBEZEM S B E
it B 2146,754,0008 t( — T T N F ¢
208,150,000/ 7T ) &% 140,194,000 7T( —
T T A F 93,312,000 7T ) 2 B 5] 4 1 4
KRR T HRR E B & AEE
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Carrying amount of the non-current and current assets pledged
to banks to secure loan facilities granted to the Group is as
follows:

Long-term loan facilities RPERME

Investment properties wEYHE

Property, plant M - BRE REE
and equipment

Prepaid lease payments T ERIE

Short-term loan facilities EHEREE
Inventories 7E

Trade receivables B 5 1 W AR 3k
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITER

With effective from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined
a MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF
Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control
of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect of the MPF Scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years at 31 March 2010 and 2009.

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are covered
by the retirement and pension schemes defined by local
practice and regulations. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specific percentage of their payroll costs to the
retirement and pension schemes. The only obligation of the
Group in respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make
the specified contribution.

The calculation of contributions for PRC eligible staff is based
on certain percentage of the applicable payroll costs. The
contribution to the MPF Scheme is calculated based on the rules
set out in the MPF Ordinance which is 5% on the basic salary
of the relevant employee subject to a specific ceiling.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

EERTRTEATEBARRZERBEER
ZIERBERBEEREMENT

2009

—EETNF

HK$’000

FAET

27,220 19,200
298,075 457,164
39,043 37,047
138,729 87,651
86,817 45,878
489,103 847,759
1,078,987 1,494,699

BE-ZZTF+_A—HR AEBERME
EREEZMABEERESFE - BB
2 TR 4 08 M A TR & 5 BB - A58 Bl 1

AT ERBEM -  BESFAIZEE
BALEZEEDAIBALABIZEAE
B REBESHIZHN BEIREES
ANRANIEE 2t R % et SR - KEE
MR BESFE 2 - BEERRZTEZER
HR-R=F-—ZTER_FTNF=H=+
— B - IR Y4 R AT 1R RUE R SR B e A
Z B -

AEEBEAMERRZEE XM ED KR
EREZERFERARSHERE - fTERQ A
ARERAKRREREFEREETERAZ R
FEH D LR R o AN B B R IR R A G 8
ZEEEREHEEMHRK -

BRAEAKRETIHADNREFEAIEKRAR
BEDLTE - HABES 8 2 ERTDIIRE
BESIEBIFTFIBEAERE  EEEER
HZ25%IEFE LR ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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The share option scheme was adopted by the Company pursuant
to a resolution passed on 6 February 2003 (the “Scheme”) for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to any directors of
the Company, any employees of the Group, or any employee,
partner or director of any business consultant, joint venture
partner, financial adviser or legal adviser of the Group.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date of
shareholders’ approval of the Scheme (“Scheme Mandate
Limit”) or, if such 10% limit is refreshed, at the date of
shareholders’ approval of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate
Limit. The maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme must not exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue
from time to time. The number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any one year is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
then in issue. Each grant of options to any director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder must be approved by
independent non-executive directors. Where any grant of
options to substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associate would
result in the shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options already granted and to be granted
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital and
with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 in the 12-month period
up to the date of grant must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days from the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$10 per each grant. Options
may be exercised at any time from the date to be determined
by the board of directors to the tenth anniversary of the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant and
(iii) the nominal value of a share.

The life of the Scheme is effective for 10 years from the date
of adoption until 5 February 20183.
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The following table discloses details of the Company’s
share options held by employees (including directors) and
movements in such holdings during the two years ended 31
March 2010:

Number
Exercise of share
price  options at
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period per share 4.1.2008
RZZENE
mA-AZ
RiHEH ] TTRAR BRARE  BREHA
HKS
AT
Directors
B2
1.9.2004 1.9.2004 to 8.30.2004 9.1.2004 to 1.8.2014 080 31,240,711
1.9.2004%8.30.2004 9.1.2004%1.8.2014
10.6.2004 (Note 1) (Note 1) 0.71 220,000,000
(RE1) (1)
10.6.2004 10.6.2004 to 3.19.2005 3.20.2005 to 10.5.2014 0.71 7,400,000
(Note 2)
10.6.200423.19.2005 3.20.2005%10.5.2014
(Hz2)
10.20.2005 10.20.2005 to 10.19.2010 10.20.2010 to 10.19.2015 1.50 5,000,000
10.20.2005%10.19.2010 10.20.2010£10.19.2015
8.3.2009 (Note 4) 8.3.2009 to 8.2.2019 2.10 -
(Hit4) 8.3.2009%8.2.2019
8.3.2009 8.3.2009 to 8.2.2011 8.3.2011 t0 8.2.2014 2.10 -
8.3.2009%8.2.2011 8.3.2011£8.2.2014
263,640,711
Other employees
AftES
1.9.2004 1.9.2004 to 8.30.2004 9.1.2004 to 1.8.2014 0.80 49,110,000
1.9.2004%8.30.2004 9.1.2004%1.8.2014
10.6.2004 10.6.2004 to 3.19.2005 3.20.2005 to 10.5.2014 0.71 88,350,000
(Note 2)
10.6.2004£3,19.2005 3.20.2005%10.5.2014
(R2)
10.20.2005 10.20.2005 to 10.19.2010 10.20.2010 to 10.19.2015 1.50 151,800,000
10.20.2005%10.19.2010 10.20.2010£10.19.2015
1.27.2006 1.27.2006 to 1.26.2011 1.27.2011 10 1.26.2016 1.52 6,500,000
1.27.2006%1.26.2011 1.27.2011%1.26.2016
8.23.2007 8.23.2007 t0 9.18.2009 9.19.2008 to 8.22.2017 2.32 3,000,000
8.23.2007%9.18.2009 9.19.2008%8.22.2017
8.7.2008 8.7.2008 to 9.2.2009 9.3.2009 to 8.6.2018 177 -
8.7.2008%9.2.2009 9.3.2009%8.6.2018
8.7.2008 8.7.2008 to 9.2.2010 9.3.2010 to 8.6.2018 177 -
8.7.2008%9.2.2010 9.3.2010%8.6.2018
8.3.2009 (Note 4) (Note 4) 2.10 -
GEL) (Hf3E4)
8.3.2009 8.3.2009 to 8.2.2011 8.3.2012 t0 8.2.2014 2.10 -
8.3.2009%8.2.2011 8.3.2012£8.2.2014
9.17.2009 9.17.2009 to 10.13.2009 10.14.2009 t0 9.16.2014 2.60 -
9.17.2009%10.13.2009 10.14.2009%9.16.2014
9.17.2009 9.17.2009 t0 9.16.2012 9.17.2012 t0 9.16.2014 2.60 -
9.17.2009%£9.16.2012 9.17.2012£9.16.2014
298,760,000
562,400,711
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.93
mEFHTRE 0.93% 7
Exercisable at the end of the year 396,100,711

ARER{TR

Granted
during
the year

FRERH

1,500,000

1,500,000

3,000,000

3,000,000
HK$1.77
1778

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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TRIMERB(BREZ)MBAARBREZ
HERBE_Z-ZF=A=+—HILMEASF

ERFEBEREZEHER

Exercised
during
the year

EREHE
(Note 3)
iE)

(1,980,000)

(190,000)

(2,170,000)

(2,170,000)
HK$0.79
0.79AT

Number

of share
options at
3.31.2009
RZBENE
ZA=1-R
ZBREHA

31,240,711
220,000,000

7,400,000

5,000,000

263,640,711

47,130,000

88,160,000

151,800,000
6,500,000
3,000,000
1,500,000

1,500,000

299,590,000

563,230,711
HK$0.97
0.97#T

396,930,711

Granted
during
the year

FRERY

200,000,000

37,000,000

237,000,000

100,000,000
53,394,000
5,000,000

5,000,000

163,394,000

400,394,000
HK$2.11
211ET

Exercised
during
the year

FREAE
(Note 3)
(KzEs)

(4,300,000

(700,000)

(5,000,000)

(10,250,000)

(3,160,000)

(18,410,000)

(18,410,000)
HK$0.78
0.78%7

Number

of share
options at
3.31.2010
RZB-BF
Zh=t-A
ZBREHA

26,940,711
220,000,000

6,700,000

5,000,000
200,000,000

37,000,000

495,640,711

36,880,000

85,000,000

151,800,000
6,500,000
3,000,000
1,500,000
1,500,000

100,000,000

53,394,000
5,000,000

5,000,000

449,574,000

945,214,711
HKS$1.42
14287

386,520,711

REMREERARAT
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Notes:

(1) The exercise of the options will be subject to the condition
that the consolidated net asset value of the Company and its
subsidiaries which shall be certified by the auditors appointed
by the Company as at the date of the exercise of the options
being not less than HK$1 billion. Exercisable period is between
22 November 2004 to 5 October 2014.

(2) The original exercisable period was 1 July 2005 to 5 October
2014. Pursuant to a resolution passed in the board of directors
meeting held on 20 March 2005, the exercisable period is changed
to the period from 20 March 2005 to 5 October 2014.

(3) The weighted average share price on exercise dates and the
weighted average price immediately before exercise dates are
HK$3.48 (2009: HK$2.20) per share.

(4) The exercise of option will be subject to the condition that the
annual consolidated profit after taxation of the Company and its
subsidiaries which shall be certified by the auditors appointed
by the Company as at the date of the exercise of the options
being not less than HK$1.5 billion. Exercisable period is between
3 August 2009 to 2 August 2019.

The consideration received during the year from the directors
and employees for taking up the options granted amounted
to HK$10 (2009: HK$20).

In accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, fair
value of share options granted to employees determined at
the date of grant is expensed over the vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the Group’s employee share-based
compensation reserve. In the current year, an amount of share-
based payment expenses in respect of its share options of
approximately HK$32,870,000 (2009: HK$6,981,000) has been
recognised with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the
Group’s employee share-based compensation reserve.

The options outstanding as at 31 March 2010 have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 5 years (2009: 6 years).
During the year ended 31 March 2010, options were granted
on 3 August 2009 and 17 September 2009 respectively. The
estimated fair values of the options granted are HK$336,766,000
and HK$91,966,000. During the year ended 31 March 2010,
options were granted on 7 August 2008. The estimated fair
values of the options granted are HK$2,333,000.
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These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes-
Merton Option Pricing Model. The inputs into the model were
as follows:

Share price B

Exercise price
Expected volatility (note a)

Expected life (note b)

Risk free rate (note c)

BHRE (fita)

HERHE B (M FED)

BB (M)

Expected dividend yield (note d) AR EE(Md)
Notes:
(a) The expected volatility was determined by calculating the

historical volatility of the Company’s share price over 260 trade
days (2009:260 trade days) immediately before share option
grant date.

Expected life used has been adjusted, based on the management’s
best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The risk free rate is determined by the reference to the Exchange
Fund Notes issued by Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

The expected dividend yield was based on historical dividend
payment record of the Group and consensus from analyst
forecast.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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ZERFETERM N = — & 8 — RE A
EERAHE - st AZBEXZERNT :

Share option grant date

BRERLAH

August 3, September 17, August 7,
2009 2009 2008

bt Y13 “EERE “BENF
NR=H AATEAR NAtH
HK$2. 1 HK$2.6 HK$1.78
2157 2.6/87T 1.78% T
HK$2. 1 HK$2.6 HK$1.77
218 2.687T 1778
57.86% 58.05% 52.55% to 53.23%
57.86% 58.05% 52.55%%53.23%
2.5 years 2.5 years 5.5 years to
to 5 years to 4 years 6 years
25FEHF 255 E4F 5.5F E6F

0.626% to 1.66% 0.724% to 1.502%
0.626%%1.66%
0.667%

Mt

(a)

()

(d)

3.221% to 3.278%
0.724%%1.502% 3.221% %£3.278%
0.538% 1.9%

T8 HA % 0B o EE 5t AN A AR (D P B TR AR A IR
B EHAT260AR S A (=TT AF : 260K
SB)ZELKIBETE °

PR 2 H R IR R U2 B2 R
TAMRIEZHE - TR RITHEEE
M -

ERRANETIZ2EEESHEEREITZINE
HEEZBEE -

FHR B R IREAEE 2 F £ R EIR 48
Raotr Bz —HERAE -
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Apart from the amounts due from/to related parties as
disclosed in notes 28, 30, 33 and 37, the Group entered into
the following transactions with related parties that are not
members of the Group:

()

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
purchased gas for total amount of HK$126,359,000
(2009: HK$113,746,000) from minority shareholders of
subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group paid
rental expense to a shareholder of a jointly controlled
entity in respect of leasehold land and buildings for total
of HK$8,506,000 (2009: HK$7,844,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group received
interest income for total amount of HK$9,922,000 (2009:
HK$7,299,000) from an associate.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group paid
construction fee which are recorded as cost of property,
plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of
financial position for total amount of HK$174,262,000
(2009: HK$181,206,000) to an associate.

During the year ended 31 March 2010 the Group paid
interest expense for total amount of HK$7,132,000
(2009: HK$7,132,000) to a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary.

The remuneration of key management of the Group was as
follows:

Short-term benefits
Post employment benefits

The remuneration of key management is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of

% HE A
BB & 1E A

individuals and market trends.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

HE_ZT-ZTFE-_F=1+—HILtFE "
NEBE AL EEA126,359,000/8 T (=
TENE 113,746,000 7T ) AW B
AL HRREERE -

ﬁé:"—%i—ﬂ—+—a¢¢§'$
EEA-REREHEEZ —BREI
mfiﬁﬁﬁ$zmiﬁimﬂgwemo
BIT(ZETNE ¢ 7,844,000087T) °

BE_ZT-ZTF-A=-t—HILFE"
$%I%W%QTWWZNQWAM$%
9,922,000/ 7L(=FF N4 : 7,299,000/
7)) ©

HE-_Z—ZTF=ZA=+—HILHF
= $EIEWW%ATEHI&A
& #174,262,0007% m( —ZT T H FE:
1&2%0%%%} %e%%#&%
P EME - BRE KR ﬁZW$

BHE— T$ ﬁ T-HLEFE

$%lmWE %h%iﬁﬂgﬁ
E%@%ﬁﬁzwz,ooo&m(_ T NAF
7,132,000/ 7T) °
AEBMEZEEBZ2MEWT ¢

2009

—ETNF

HK$’000

FHET

37,890 37,429

48 60

37,938 37,489

TEEREMEhMFNEE S LT REAR
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(i) During the year ended 31 March 2010, a wholly— owned
subsidiary of the Company has further acquired additional
interest of 4.5% in Zhongyou Hua Dian from a minority
shareholder at a consideration of RMB10,850,000
(approximately HK$12,471,000). The consideration was
satisfied by way of transfer of an available-for-sale
investment with a carrying value of RMB10,850,000
(approximately HK$12,471,000) as a consideration.

(ii) During the year, the Bonds with principal amount of
US$2,000,000 had been converted into 9,012,000
Company’s shares. Details had disclosed in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

On 17 January 2010, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group
offered a voluntary conditional cash and securities exchange
offer (“Offer”) to Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited (“Zhongyu
Gas”), a listed company in the Stock Exchange, (i) to acquire
the entire issued share capital of Zhongyu Gas, (ii) for the
acquisition of all outstanding convertible bonds and (iii) for
the cancellation of all the outstanding share option of Zhongyu
Gas. Details of the proposed takeover are set out in the joint
announcement of the Company and Zhongyu Gas dated 26
January 2010. The acquisition have not been completed at the
date these consolidated financial statement were authorised
for issuance.
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBRARIFBHET :

Proportion of

Place of nominal value of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued issued share capital/
or registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital held by the Company  Principal activities
N
L #RERT B &
gitfh/ EBR BE/ZRELR R% /iR
WEARER EXBY BE EXEELS TERE
2010 2009
“B-%F ZBEAF
% %
Hai Xia Finance Limited Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary 100% 100% Securities investment
HK$2
BRIBEERAR &k AL LRaR2AT EFRE
lwai's Holdings (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary 100# 100% Investment holding,
Limited HK$1,000 property investment
Non-voting - - and provision of
deferred shares management services
HK$1,000,000 to group companies
(Note 1)
&R ML ERk1,0008T RALR MERE
ERZERT RRHEERRHET
#{71,000,000% T SERR
(MizE1)
Wellgem Asia Limited Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary 100* 100 Property development
HK$10,000
BETHERAR &R 5117708 EiBR10,0008 NEER
Zhongran Gas (Shenzhen) PRC Wholly-foreign Registered 100* 100 Investment holding
Company Limited* owned US$29,800,000 and treasury
enterprises
("WFOE")
PRRREE (R) ERAA e SEBELE AMER REZRRAME
29,800,000% 7T
FRREERAR PRC WFOE Registered 100 100¢  Investment holding
RMB898,637,000 and treasury
e NEBELE EMERARK RERRRIE
898,637,0007
Beijing Zhongran Xiangke PRC Sino-foreign Registered 60% 60* Trading of natural
Oil Gas Technology equity joint RMB20,000,000 gas and gas pipeline
Company Limited* venture construction
SRR AR e PHRELE EMERARK EERARRME
BRAR 20,000,000 EERE
Elegant Cheer Limited Hong Kong Incorporated Ordinary 100# 100% Property holding
HK$10,000
TEHARAR &k ML Ei#Mk10,000% T BENE
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/ business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
AR HRERT
gt/ EBR BA/EREER
WEARER EXBE BEA
Wuhan China Natural Gas PRC WFOE Registered
Investment Company Limited* RMB69,980,000
RERRREERARA HE SEBELR ZMERARE
69,980,000
Yiyang Central Gas & City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB44,000,000
venture
ahRRATRAERE B PIRELE ZMERARE
BRAR 44,000,000
Wuhu City Natural Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Development Company equity joint RMB100,000,000
Limited* venture
g Ahien] HE PIRELE ZMERARE
BRARAA 100,000,0007C
ERFBARBEERAR PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB2,000,000
company
HE EREARR HMHERARYE
2,000,000
EWARRRERAR PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB1,000,000
company
HE EREARR HMERARYE
1,000,00070
BHmANCRENERERAR PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB500,000
company
HE EREARR HMERARYE
500,0007T
BHmARARRITERA A PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB2,680,000
company
HE EREARR HMHERARYE
2,680,000

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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TEMBRARGFBEAT :

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company  Principal activities
NG|
FEERT
RA /R
EXEELS TERE
2010 2009
“E-3F  ZEENE
% %

100% 100 Investment holding

RERR

80% 80% Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

EERARRME
TERE

90% 90% Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

EERARRME
TERE

80% 80% Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

EERARRME
TERE

70% 707 Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

EERARRME
TERE

80% 80% Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

EERARRME
TERE

Gl 51# Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

EERARRME
TERE

R AR AR
20104 i 129
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

Yichang Zhongran City Gas
Development Limited*

HERIATRA
BERARADA

BRAMRRARAR

Clever Decision Enterprises
Limited

IRBEERRRREER
ARAR

Huainan China Gas City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

R

BEMR

Suizhou Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

B PRI R
ERARAR

Xiaogan China Gas Co., Ltd.”

ERPRRRRARAR

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

AL
gt/
EXE

PRC

BVI

EBRR
BE

PRC

i

PRC

i

PRC

i

PRC

i

PRC

i

Form of
business
structure

EHR
RBEA

Limited liability
company

ARELAA

Limited
liability
company

ARELAA

Incorporated

Rl

WFOE

SEBELR

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PIRELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PIRELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PIRELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PIRELE

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BEERT
R/ ERER

Registered
RMB70,000,000
AMERARE
70,000,000

Registered
RMB2,000,000

EMARARE
2,000,0007C

Ordinary
US$100
EiRk100%T

Registered
RMB20,000,000
EMERARK
20,000,0007T

Registered
RMB72,000,000

AR ARE
72,000,000

Registered
RMB3,000,000

AR ARE
3,000,007

Registered
RMB35,000,000

AR ARE
35,000,000

Registered
RMB48,950,000

AR ARE
48,950,000

TEMBARFRNT

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company

ARF

FEEsa

B /AR

BAEELS
2010 2009
“E-BF  ZEEANR
% %
70% 70#
95* 95+
100" 100
100" 100"
100" 100*
100" 100*
100" 100*
100" 100*

Principal activities

E:33

Trading of natural gas

and gas pipeline construction
BERRRRME

EERE

Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

BERARRME
EREE

Investment
holding
RELRKR

Investment holding

RERR

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRME
TERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERMRRMR
BEER

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERMRRMR
TERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRME
EERE



Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/ business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
L ARBERA
AEm/ EBR RE/ERER
WEARER EXHE 5%
Xiaogan Zhongya China Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB16,002,000
venture
ZRATHTRRERERAT HE PIRERE aMERAREK
16,002,0007C
Hanchuan Jchina Gas Co., Ltd.* PRC Sino-foreign Registered
equity joint RMB11,274,000
venture
b Ty HE PIRERE aMERAREK
ARAT 11,274,0007
Yunmeng China Gas Co., Ltd.* PRC Sino-foreign Registered
equity joint RMB9,708,000
venture
EERRTRRERERAR HE PIRERE aMERAREK
9,708,0007T
Yingcheng Jiaxu China Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB10,074,000
venture
EHARATRRERERAT HE PIRERE aMERAREK
10,074,0007C
Danyyang Zhongran Gas PRC WFOE Registered
Co., Ltd.* HK$20,000,000
ERTRRARARAR HE SEBELE AMER
20,000,000/ 7T
Pizhou Zhongran City Gas PRC WFOE Registered
Development Co., Ltd.* US$3,060,000
BAwam A gE i NEBERE AMER
BRAR 3,060,000%7T
Suzhou Zhongran City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint US$3,625,000
venture
BNRRATRARE e PR ERE AMER
BRAR 3,625,000% T

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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TEMBARGFBEMAT :

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company  Principal activities
NG|
FEERT
R/ 2R
EXEELA TEEH
2010 2009
“2-%F ZBRNF
% %

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRMR
BERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRME
BERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRME
BERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRRRME
BERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EEXAR
RitREBRE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
BERARRME
B

75% 75% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERARRME
EERE

¢@%i@wﬁﬁﬁﬁ131
2010F B iR



For the year ended 31 March 2010

HE-2-BF=A=+-ALEE

132

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARARE

Cangzhou Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

EMRRATRRERERAR

Nanpixian Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

BRERMATRE
BRARADA

Wuhuxian Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

EHE AT
MRERARAR

Qinzhou Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

SMP AR
ERARAR

Yangzhong Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

BRRRATRE
ERARAA

Tianmen Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.*

AHRRA TR R
ARAR

Baoji Zhongran City Gas
Development Co., Ltd.

BEEPIATRRER
ARAT

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

A
gt/
EXE

PRC

PRC

Gk

PRC

Gk

PRC

Gk

PRC

Gk

PRC

Gk

PRC

Gk

Form of
business
structure

#BR
BER

WFOE

SHBELR

WFOE

NEBELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PHRELE

WFOE

NEBELE

WFOE

NEBELE

WFOE

NEBELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PHRELE

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

AREBRA
A/ ERER

Registered
HK$2,000,000

EMAR
2,000,000 7T

Registered
HK$2,000,000
EMEA
2,000,000%7T

Registered
RMB10,000,000

AR ARE
10,000,007

Registered
RMB20,000,000

AR ARE
20,000,007

Registered
US$1,000,000

AR
1,000,000%7T

Registered
RMB10,000,000

EMEFARE
10,000,007

Registered
RMB265,725,000

EMEFARE
265,725,0007C

TEMBARFRET

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company

R0 F
FEERT
RE/HR
EXEELA

2010 2009
“2-BF  ZEEANF
% %

100 100*
100 100*
100 100#
100 100#
100 100#
100 100#

64% 4*

Principal activities

IREH

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEEXARRME
EREE

Trading of natural

gas and gas pipeline
EERARRSRR

-

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EERARRME
TERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EERARRME
TERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EERARRME
TERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EERARRME
TERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EERARRME
BERE



Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/ business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
LA VRS
R/ EBR BE/EREER
WEAR %R ERUE B
Nanjing Zhongran City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB200,000,000
venture
ARTRETRRERARAR HE PHRELE ZMERARE
200,000,000
Yulin Zhongran City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB20,000,000
venture
EMFRETRE e PHRELE ZMERARE
BRARADA 20,000,000
SEETMATRAERERAR PRC WFOE Registered
RMB50,000,000
HE NEEALR ZMERARE
50,000,000
Fushun Zhongran City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB133,330,000
venture
BIRPIRATIRA HE P ERE AMERARE
BRARADA 133,330,0007C
Wuwei Zhongran City Gas PRC Sino-foreign Registered
Development Co., Ltd.* equity joint RMB18,000,000
venture
ERTIHTHRA e PHRELE ZMERARE
BRARADA 18,000,0007T
E-3ple PRC Sino-foreign Registered
equity joint RMB5,060,000
venture
e PHRELE ZMERARE
5,060,000
BERR PRC Sino-foreign Registered
equity joint RMB183,800,000
venture
e PHRELE ZMERARE
183,800,0007C

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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TEMBRARGFBEAT :

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company  Principal activities
NG|
FEBRT
RA/
EXEELS TERH
2010 2009
“2-%F  CRENE
% %

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRME
TERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRME
TERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRME
TERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRME
TERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEERARRME
TERE

100% 100% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERARAR
MREERE

80 80% Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERARAR
MREERE

RERRER AR AT
0104 5755 133
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELRER

Er
Yo

EHR

Zhongyou Hua Dian

ST

LERREEERERAR

AP ERRARAR

ENTEERRARAR

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

AL
gitfh/
EXE

PRC

FE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

i

PRC

HE

PRC

P

Form of
business
structure

EBR
RER

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PIRELE

Sino-foreign
equity joint
venture

PIRELE

Limited
liability
company

ARELAA

Limited
liability
company

Limited
liability
company

Limited
liability
company

AREEAR

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BEERT
K&/ ERER

Registered
RMB30,000,000

EMAFARE
30,000,007

Registered
RMB10,000,000

EMAFARE
10,000,007

Registered
RMB220,000,000
EMARE
220,000,000

Registered
RMB500,000,000%#

HER
AK#500,000,0007T%#

Registered
RMB20,000,000

EMAR
AR%20,000,0007T

Registered
RMB20,000,000

AR
AR#%20,000,0007

TEMBARFRNT

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company

L]
e
B/

BAEELH
2010 2009
=
% %
80“ 80%
80“ 80%
87.5% 83*
1007 83*
87.5% 83+
87.5% 83#

Principal activities

E2:33

Natural gas refill
services and gas
station administration

AR R
ER RIS

Design, construction
and maintenance of
city pipeline projects

BHEEARZ
Rt BERRE

Trading of LPG

fu|
it
—
el
[}

Investment in
petrochemical facilities
of storage and
transportation,
fundamental facilities
of pier, sales of raw
chemical materials and
construction materials

RERILEFR
ERRM
TSR ERIE -
HELEHHR
BEMH

Sale of inflammable
gas, LPG, inflammable
liquid and inflammable
solid

HESMRR
LPG ZHAER
SiE R

Goods delivery and as
agent of steel cylinder
testing

ENERRIERTR
I EPA:



Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARAER

BMERERERAR

BMENRHRRARAR

BETBERARAR
(note 2)
(H&E2)

IERRRIALERAR

(note 3)
(Hiz3)

EFPRERARERAR

R

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

A
gt/
B

PRC

P

PRC

=)

i

PRC

P

PRC

i

PRC

i

PRC

i

Form of
business
structure

EBR
B

Limited
liability
company

AREARA

Limited
liability
company

Limited
liability
company

BREMALT

Limited
liability
company

BREARR

Limited
liability
company

Limited
liability
company

BREARR

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

HREBRA
R/ ERER

Registered
RMB3,000,000

AR
AR#3,000,0007

Registered
USD8,000,000

EMAR
8,000,000 T

Registered
USD7,000,000

AR
7,000,000 7T

Registered
US$10,000,000

EMER
10,000,000% 7

Registered
RMB21,250,000

EMER
AR#21,250,0007C

Registered
RMB100,000,000

EMAFARE
100,000,007

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HE-2-BF=A=+-BLEE

TEMBARGFBEMAT :

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share capital/

registered capital

held by the Company

£27
FEBRT
RA /i
BAEELA
2010 2009

“g-8F  —REAE

% %

87.5% 83

56.9 54%

60 60

50.86% 50.86%

70% 58t

- 60

Principal activities

TRER

Retailing and wholesaling
of LPG and accessories

LPGREHTERME

Manufacturing of highly
purified LPG, highly
purified propane and
butane

EESELLPG
BHEARRT

Storing and trading of
LPG. Sales of chemical
products, filling of
LPG and delivery of
hazardous products

LPGEEREE
HELEER
LPGIE.
kERGES

Producing and storing
LPG and chemical
product

LPGRILEER
EERERE

Operation of gas in cities,
filling of LPG, delivery
of hazardous products
and wholesaling and
retailing of chemical
products

BeRmmE
LPGIIF
ERmER
RYUEREE
LEER

Trading of natural gas and
gas pipeline construction

BEXNRRMAEERE

R AR AR
2010 B 5% 190
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

China Gas Corporate Services
Limited
PERRLERBERAA

Iwai Style Limited

Limited

LEER

BRAEA

ERR R

Brilliant China

Zhongmin Zhongran

mRAMR

HRATARRR

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operations

EfR L
gitfh/
EXHH

Hong Kong

&R

Hong Kong

&R

PRC

P

PRC

i

PRC

ik

BVI
RERAEE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

Form of
business
structure

EBR
BRR

Incorporated

FEMEK

Incorporated

MK

Limited
liability
company

Limited
liability
company

ARELAR

Limited
liability
company

BREMLAA

Incorporated
ML

Limited
liability
company

BREAAR

Limited
liability
company

BREAAR

Paid up issued
share capital/
registered capital

BEERT
R/ ERER

Ordinary
HK$2
LAk
2B

Ordinary
HK$2
2T

Registered
RMB60,000,000

HRERARE
60,000,007

Registered
RMB30,000,000

EMEARARE
30,000,0007

Ordinary
RMB68,500,000
EARARKE
68,500,0007
Ordinary

US$50,000
E1RR50,000% 7

Ordinary
HK$30,000,000

%13%30,000,000 T

Ordinary
RMB40,000,000

LRRARE
40,000,000

TEMBARFRET

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company

L]
FHERT
BE /R
EAEELH

2010 2009
=
% %
1007 100%
1007 100%
1007 -
1007 -
80“ -
1007 -
1 00“ -
1 00“ -

Principal activities

TREH

Nominee and secretarial
services

REARBERHE

Provision of management
services to the Group

AASEREERRE

Shipping delivery
services, technical
development, providing
consultancy services and
services and agent of
delivery

MERY  RIFRE  RHE
BRREREGRHRAE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEARRRMBEERE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EERARRRREERE

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
EERARRRREERE



Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation Form of Paid up issued
or registration/ business share capital/
Name of subsidiary operations structure registered capital
A ARBEA
Hitfh/ £BR RE/ERER
KWEAAER EXHE B
HETIR PRC Limited Ordinary
liability RMB15,000,000
company
HE AREERR ERRARK
15,000,0007T
AR PRC Limited Ordinary
liability RMB50,000,000
company
HE AREERR ERRARK
50,000,0007T
BEEE PRC Limited Registered
liability RMB60,000,000
company
R E BREERA aMERARE
60,000,0007T

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE-_Z-ZF=A=+—-HALEFE

TEMBRARGFBEAT :

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
ARE
FEERT
R /iR
EXEELA
2010 2009
“2-%F ZERNF

% %

80 -

95¢ -

60% -

Principal activities

TEEH

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRREMREERSE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRREMREERSE

Trading of natural
gas and gas pipeline
construction
BERRREMREERSE

##

English name is for identification purposes only.

The proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
capital/registered capital directly held by the Company.

The proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
capital/registered capital indirectly held by the Company.

The registered capital of the Company increased from
RMB100,000,000 to RMB600,000,000 during the period ended
31 October 2009. Zhongran Gas, contributed the additional
RMB500,000,000 capital to the Company. Upon the completion of
the increase in the registered capital of the Company, the Company
acquired 83% interests in the registered capital of Zhongyou
Hua Dian from Zhongran Investment at a cash consideration
of RMB500,000,000. Subsequently, the Company undergone a
capital reduction in which the registered capital is reduced by
RMB100,000,000.

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

##

R AREEHRT

AARFBHZERTRA EMELR HEFE
MEAEELH -

AARFBHZERTRA EMER HEZE
MEAEELH -

ARARZAMEAERBEE=_ZTAFE+A
=+—HIEHMEAHAREE100,000,0007T 1%
= AR #600,000,0007 ° FRRRBEAAR
AE AREINE £ AR ®500,000,0007T ° R
REI R INGEME A% - AR EE PR
BUEHHEE 283% % BEREBEAA
R#500,000,0007T ° H1& @ AR AHEITRA
SR - 45 E AR 4 = AR % 100,000,000
=5

ERBIEERREAEEXEXEERT
BYEBZARAEIENBAR - EFER

CREEMHEBARFBEERENEAR

Tk e

B R A
20106 511535 197
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Notes:

(1) The deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, practically
carry no rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to attend
or vote at any general meeting of the Company or to participate
in any distribution on winding up.

(2) The Group has 52.5% indirect interest in EF T heERAR A
through the 60% direct interest held by a 87.5% owned subsidiary,
Zhongyou Hua Dian. Therefore the Group has control over this
entity and it is considered as a subsidiary of the Company.

(8) The Group has 44.5% indirect interest in L& AR T ALERA
7] through the 50.86% direct interest held by an 87.5% owned
subsidiary, Zhongyou Hua Dian. Therefore the Group has control
over this entity and it is considered as a subsidiary of the
Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of the both years

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

T

EERAD W IEMAKERE - MER £ TH
WS HEARBEARRAGAES
HESEHINE LREXRNBFRED ZERMD
i Zil

REBFEBHIERST 5% 2 B AR H M
FEEFFH60% 2 B & 50 B 7 P m R
ERARHEHE25%REER - Ft * AEH
RUERBEEZGE  WWRBAREZHE

A -

REBFEBHIERST 5% 2 B AR H M
FEBHFH50.86% 2 B & #2500 #F M =T
AL ERRARIER44.5%H Bz - Bt - &
SERNUEEBEEEGE  YRE/ARFLZ
MEBRE -

B 8 2 B 7 P 1 F 2 A 2R B 0 A A R R

&
BEBES -



- _____________________________________________________________________________________________
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+—HItFE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
= L Lo —TTNF ZTTN\F ZZTTLHF —EEREF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FH&T FH&T FHET FH&T
(restated) (restated)
(E751) (&751)
Results E
Turnover B 10,211,959 6,323,823 2,552,075 1,236,469 630,522
Profit for the year ¥IN/NE]|
attributable to the e AEL
owners of the Company &% 7 875,636 103,679 141,059 200,789 156,736
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
= L Lo —TTNF ZTTEN\F ZTTLtF ZITITRF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET FH&T FHET FH&T
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(E3) (&E31) (E3)
Assets and liabilities BERAE
Total assets BEE 22,997,594 18,024,749 11,306,127 7,308,847 5,093,888
Total liabilities BEE (17,767,357) (14,042,621) (7,620,120) (4,616,042) (2,973,122)

5,230,237 3,982,128 3,686,007 2,692,805 2,120,766

Equity attributable to the ARQREH A
owners of the Company FE(EHE S 4,123,022 3,223,270 3,140,572 2,358,549 1,865,458
Minority interests A B IR B A % 1,107,215 758,858 545,435 334,256 255,308

5,230,237 3,982,128 3,686,007 2,692,805 2,120,766

FEIMR TR AR AR
. 2010@,&1%%%% 139



Location Type
i B 3l

Leasehold land and buildings
HELHMRET

In Hong Kong:
B ¢

16/F., AXA Centre Office premises
No. 151 Gloucester Road WAEYHE

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

BT

HLITE1515%

B &0 1612

In the People’s Republic of China:

RAZEANRARME :
RINTTE A KB50025% Commercial
Bt & 5B 131E R 1812 [EES

IERmERFIELFIEEGN Office premises
A NEL 7S

Investment properties

REY*

No. 28-30 Kai Tak Road Vacant land

Kowloon City EE T

Kowloon

Hong Kong

BB

JLBEILBEM

1= 3828-305%

Development site located Residential/

on western side of Commercial

Gongnong Bing Road =P

Huimin District

Hohhot City

Inner Mongolia
Autoriomous Region
the PRC

iz 7 R

NE=R=PE

W A0 7 5 T

[ K &
TEERAEEZERAH

140 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Group’s interest (%)
AREE 2R (%)

100

100

100

100

91

Lease term

HE

Long lease
REAFA A

Medium term lease

B TR 4

Medium term lease

AR 4

Medium term lease

AR 4

Medium term lease

R EAR A
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